# THE IMPACT OF THE DIABETES INPATIENT CARE AND EDUCATION (DICE) PROJECT ON PATIENT CARE OUTCOMES

by

## DR FUNKE AKIBOYE

A thesis submitted to the University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Institute of Applied Health Research College of Medical and Dental Sciences University of Birmingham September 2020

## UNIVERSITY<sup>OF</sup> BIRMINGHAM

### **University of Birmingham Research Archive**

### e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

### ABSTRACT

Diabetes is a common disease with an increasing prevalence, however its management in the hospital setting is often a secondary concern with poorer outcomes in this group. The aims of this research were to 1) explore the impact of a nurse delivered whole systems approach, the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on diabetes inpatient care, examining the role of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses in the current health service, (2) examine the impact of diabetes and hyperglycaemia in patients attending for orthopaedic surgery and develop guidance for optimising care for these patients on this pathway; (3) explore the barriers and facilitators for staff in the implementation of a diabetes empowerment tool in the surgical pathway.

The description, development and delivery of the DICE project are outlined in Chapter 1. In Chapter 2 the impact of the DICE project on length of stay, mortality and readmissions is examined using both before and after measurements and the quasi-experimental technique of interrupted time series analysis. A systematic review exploring the existing literature on the impact of diabetes inpatient nurses on patient care comprises Chapter 3, and Chapter 4 goes on to address some of the gaps highlighted in the systematic review by examining the impact of the DICE project on in-hospital complications and patient harms.

Chapter 5 provides a review of the evidence for diabetes and hyperglycaemia in orthopaedic surgery, examining each stage of the perioperative pathway. It goes further to describe guidance for optimising care for patients along the pathway. Chapter 6 explores the reasons for the variable uptake of a pilot for a patient held passport by two groups of preassessment nurses. Finally, Chapter 7 summaries the lessons learned during this study and suggests areas for further research. My personal journey and the impact of undertaking the PhD are also discussed.

## Dedication

To my mother, Ruby Quartey-Papafio, who sowed the seed for an interest in diabetes research in me, by example at a tender age and created the opportunities and a motivation in me to become a doctor, twice.

## Acknowledgements

I underestimated the extent and degree to which undertaking a PhD would challenge me both academically and personally. In the process of researching and writing I have learnt about myself and grown in unexpected ways. There are many people to thank for supporting me through the process, accompanying me on the journey and weathering the storms as well as sharing the joys.

I would like to begin by thanking my supervisors: Professor Gerry Rayman, Dr Krishnarajah Nirantharakumar, Dr Nicola Adderley, Dr Antje Lindenmyer, Professor Tom Marshall and Mr Gavin Rudge, who all patiently provided guidance, feedback and support throughout.

Thanking fellow researchers Anu, Munerah and Harpreet who all provided a welcoming collaborative community of research. Despite undertaking the majority of the degree at a distance I have been fortunate to connect with several other PhD students and have benefited hugely from the social aspect of this inclusion. Thank you to Anna Blennerhassett and Rachael Handley who repeatedly welcomed me back as a distance researcher and made the course an enjoyable journey and as did researchers in the "shut up and work" lockdown virtual library, in particular Alex Gough and Tolu Olufunlayo.

Thanking the DICE team at Ipswich Hospital and those individuals in Ipswich who were of support during my time there. Those from the clinical team, especially Rachael-Marie Round and Yasmin Hunt, from the research department Victoria Tobin and Louise Hunt, and those providing relief outside clinical work and research namely Hiba, Selda and Stratos. To the members of the Ipswich Hospital IT department and governance team who accommodated my frequent and numerous requests for information and data, allowed me to hijack seating in their office and became friends, particularly Sarah Preston, Tomasz Segieniewicz and Steve Wilson. This thesis was copy edited for the conventions of language spelling and grammar by Tina McLeod.

A huge debt of thanks goes to friends who have made challenging times enjoyable with their company and by providing spaces of creative relief. Thank you to the talented musicians and beautiful dancers at Tango terra, particularly Martín Espindola, Pascual Quiles, Tim Sharp, Francesca Romanin, Florencia Cordeu, Juampi Mauro, Kamilla Bydlowska and Guillermo Willis. To Gabor Farkas and Natasha Burns whose support outside tango exceeded my expectations. To Crystal Evans who generously hosted me a beautiful and compassionate space at the crucial time of thesis submission. To the members of Winchester Music and Operatic society, especially the sociable subgroup who formed "soberdraft" who have been a source of light hearted humerous support via WhatsApp and Zoom where necessary. Thanking in particular Annie Tatnall, Emma Colbourne, Kara Goodland and James Ashby for the sharing joys of music and dance. To the contemporary dance friends I made at Dance East, Carole Hood, Elizabeth Amy and Mia, who shared a space for exploration of movement and thought. To my housemates, who became my Ipswich family, Neil Robertson, Suzi Henno and Nuno Miguel. Thanking the wise ones who allowed me to maintain some balance and perspective in tough times, particularly Jan Baerselman, Amy Stewart, Beata Warren, Gill Cooper, Renée Rajkumar, Jelena Mann, Khalil, Juliet Nyamnisa, Anne Croudass and Adrian Hickford.

My deepest thanks to long standing friends Ünver Rüstem, Amy Godfrey, Leanne Gardner, Emma Akerman, Clare Matheson, Gisel Ferrón, Itohan Odiase, Aigbs Ohiwerei, Alexander Gründsteidl and Jana Bujanova who have provided motivational support, wisdom and kindness when I felt I could not bear to continue and stuck by me when I was quite unbearable. Thank you also to Rita Ibitoye and Emezie Okorocha who supported me through a variety of challenges and championed my every success braggadociously.

Finally, to my family, who instilled in me a strong work ethic, with nourishment of my natural talents, allowing me to play just as hard for balance. To my late father, the source of much of my humour and musicality which have been a joy and comfort throughout my life. To my exceptional mother Ruby Quartey-Papafio who has been an inspiration to me and been on hand to support, keeping me focused on the task at hand when I lost momentum. Last, but by no means least, thank you to my younger brother Deji Akiboye, continues to model excellence, courage and persistence.

## Table of contents

CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	2
Diabetes definition	2
The size of the problem/ epidemiology	2
Effects of diabetes	3
Diabetes emergencies: Diabetic ketoacidosis and Hyperglycaemic hyperosmolar state	5
Management of diabetes	6
The multidisciplinary team	6
The challenge of diabetes inpatient care	7
Diabetes Management guidelines	8
Inpatient guidance	8
Surgical guidance	9
Monitoring the quality of diabetes inpatient care	9
The need for service development in diabetes	. 11
Background to DICE	. 11
The Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project: an overview	. 12
The DICE programme	. 13
The DICE care pathway	. 13
Proactive patient identification and management of hypoglycaemia	. 18
Induction programme for new staff	. 19
Regular audit	. 19
DICE team meetings	. 20
Staffing with dedicated Diabetes inpatient nurses	. 20
Measuring the impact of DICE using hospital administrative data	. 21
The impact of diabetes inpatient nurses a systematic review	. 21
The impact of DICE on inpatient complications	. 22
The impact of diabetes and hyperglycaemia on orthopaedic outcomes: a guidance pathway	. 24
Improving care in the perioperative pathway	. 24
The challenges of implementing a diabetes perioperative passport in the hospital settir	וg רב
Pafarancac	. 25 77
	. 27

CHAPTER 2	30
Chapter 2: Impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project of stay and mortality	on length of 31
Impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on length o mortality	<b>f stay and</b> 32
CHAPTER 3	33
Chapter 3: Impact of diabetes specialist nurses on inpatient care: a systematic	<b>review</b> 34
Impact of diabetes specialist nurses on inpatient care: a systematic review	35
CHAPTER 4	36
Chapter 4: The impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) proje and complications	ct on harms 37
The impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on hari complications	<b>ms and</b> 38
ABSTRACT	38
Background	38
Aim	39
Method	39
Results	39
Conclusions	40
BACKGROUND	40
Institutional factors	41
Non specialists manage diabetes patients	41
Drug errors are common	42
Hypoglycaemia is associated with increased mortality	42
Hyperglycaemia is associated with more complications	43
AIMS	44
METHODS	44
Study design	44
Study setting and study period	44
Study participants	44
Description of intervention	45
Data collection	47
Analysis	48
RESULTS	49

Drug errors	50
Complications	50
DISCUSSION	55
Drug errors	55
Complications	56
Study strengths and limitations	57
CONCLUSION	58
References	58
CHAPTER 5	62
Chapter 5: Management of Hyperglycemia and Diabetes in Orthopedic Surgery	63
Management of Hyperglycemia and Diabetes in Orthopedic Surgery	64
CHAPTER 6	65
Developing the diabetes perioperative passport	66
Chapter 6: Evaluating Implementation of the Diabetes Perioperative Passport: A	
qualitative focus group study	67
Evaluating Implementation of the Diabetes Perioperative Passport: A qualitative focus group study	<b>s</b> 68
Appendix for Chapter 6	69
Perioperative passport: empowering people with diabetes along their surgical journey	70
CHAPTER 7	71
Discussion	72
Contents overview	72
Summary of key findings	72
The impact of DICE	72
Length of stay, mortality and readmission	73
Complications and harms	73
The impact of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses on patient care	74
The management of diabetes and hyperglycaemia in orthopaedic surgery	74
Implementation of the diabetes perioperative passport	75
Results in relation to current literature	75
The current clinical context	75
The clinical impact of the DICE programme and specialist nurse on care	76
Length of stay, readmissions and mortality	76

Harms and complications77
Systematic review of the impact of DISNs77
Orthopaedic pathway78
Perioperative passport
Strengths and Limitations
Applicability and potential for recommendations 80
Data accuracy
Bias
Implications
Methodologies
Clinical and research recommendations
Length of stay, mortality and readmissions
DICE Bedside
Systematic review
Perioperative care
Orthopaedic review and guideline84
Perioperative passport focus groups84
Further work
Expanding on the impact of DICE85
Further questions raised in the wider context
Personal implications for this research – researcher's journey
Conclusion
References

## List of figures

Where the tigure is within a	manuscript the manuscript	nage number is presented
where the figure is within a	manascript, the manascript	page number is presented

Chapter 1	
Supplementary figure 1. DICE chart illustration of insulin profiles.	16
Supplementary figure 2. DICE chart illustration of hyperglycaemia treatment	17
algorithm.	
Supplementary figure 3. DICE chart illustration of bedtime snack sticker.	18
Chapter 2	
FIGURE 1 Interrupted time series analysis 2008–2016	7
Chapter 3	
FIGURE 1. Flow diagram for study selection	6
Chapter 4	
Figure 1 Forest plot showing odds ratios for drug prescription errors	54
Figure 2 Forest plot showing odds ratios for complications	54
Chapter 5	
Figure 1 Orthopaedic peri-operative pathway decision tool	5
Chapter 6	
Appendix to Chapter 6	69
Figure 1 Colour-coded pages of the perioperative passport	1738

## List of tables

Where the table is within a manuscript, the manuscript page number is presented

Chapter 2		
Table 1 Baseline characteristics of individuals included in the before-and- after analysis	5	
Table 2 Results of the before-and-after analysis	6	
Table 3 Baseline characteristics of individuals included in the interrupted time series analysis		
Chapter 3		
Table 1. Baseline characteristics of included studies	7-8	
Table 2. Primary outcomes across the reported studies.	9	
Table 3. Risk of bias assessment using NIH quality assessment tool for before and after (pre-post) studies with no control group	10	
Supplementary Table 1: Medline example search	19	
Chapter 4		
Table 1. Baseline patient characteristics	52	
Table 2. Drug prescription	53	
Table 3 Patient in-hospital complications	53	
Chapter 5		
Table 1 Peri-operative glucose targets in national guidelines		
Chapter 6		
Table 1 Barriers and facilitators	11-12	
Table 2 Mapped illustrative quotes	13-15	

## List of abbreviations

AACE	American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists	
ADA	American Diabetes Association	
AR-1	First order correlation	
BMI	Body mass index	
CABG	Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	
CI	Confidence Interval	
CVA	Cerebral vascular accident	
DCSQ	Diabetes Clinic Satisfaction Questionnaire	
DICE	Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education	
DISN	Diabetes Inpatient Specialist Nurse	
DKA	Diabetic ketoacidosis	
DPAR	Diabetes Patient At Risk	
DTSQ-IP	Diabetes Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for Inpatients	
HbA1c	Glycosylated Haemoglobin A1c	
HES	Hospital Episode System	
HHS	Hyperglycaemic hyperosmolar state	
HRG	Health resource group	
ICD	International Classification of Disease	
IDF	International Diabetes Federation	
IMD	Index of Multiple Deprivation	
IT	Information Technology	
ITU	Intensive therapy unit	
IQR	Interquartile range	
JBDS	Joint British Diabetes Societies	
MeSH	Medical subject headings	
NaDIA	National Diabetes Inpatient Audit	
NCEPOD	National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death	
NICE	Nice Institute of Clinical Excellence	

ОНА	Oral hypoglycaemic agent
OR	Odds ratio
PAS	Patient Administration System
Rbc	Red blood cell
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
SD	Standard deviation
MI	Myocardial infarction
NIHR	National Institute for Health Research
PVD	Peripheral Vascular Disease

## THESIS FORMAT

This thesis is formatted in accordance with the University of Birmingham alternative format thesis guidelines; Regulation 7.4.1 (g)

(<u>https://intranet.birmingham.ac.uk/as/studentservices/graduateschool/documents/public/r sa/alternative-</u> format-thesis-guidelines.pdf)

Published manuscripts or those under submission (Chapters 1-6) have been inserted directly into the thesis. In order to limit duplication between the published research and manuscripts under submission, peer review and revision, and the remainder of the thesis, the Introduction and Conclusion chapters will aim to briefly summarise, then focus on expanding on Chapters 2-6. The Introduction will provide an overview and context for the publication chapters, while the Conclusion will discuss the themes that run throughout the thesis in the current clinical context. For numerical clarity each of these manuscripts are presented as self-contained within the chapters with respect to figures, tables and references. As per thesis guidelines, the page numbering within the publications will not be included in the pagination sequence of the submitted thesis.

## List of achievements throughout PhD Studies

Publications and manuscripts related to the thesis

### Chapter 2

<u>Akiboye F</u>, Adderley NJ, Martin J, Gokhale K, Rudge GM, Marshall TP, Rajendran R, Nirantharakumar K, Rayman G; DICE team. Impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on length of stay and mortality. Diabet Med. 2020 Feb;37(2):277-285. doi: 10.1111/dme.14062. Epub 2019 Aug 2. PMID: 31265148.

### **Chapter 3**

<u>Akiboye F</u>, Sihre HK, Al Mulhem M, Rayman G, Nirantharakumar K, Adderley NJ. Impact of diabetes specialist nurses on inpatient care: A systematic review. Diabetic Medicine. 2021 Mar 30:e14573. doi: 10.1111/dme.14573. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 33783872.

### **Chapter 4**

Akiboye F, Wensley F, Kerr M, Adderley N, Rayman G. The impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on harms and complications

### Under preparation

An economic evaluation on the impact of the outcomes seen in this chapter is being prepared for publication. This has involved additional data linkage which will show some of the effect sizes smaller than reported in this thesis, however all the outcomes under preparation retain their statistical significance.

### **Chapter 5**

<u>Akiboye F</u>, Rayman G. Management of Hyperglycemia and Diabetes in Orthopedic Surgery. Current Diabetes Reports. 2017 Feb;17(2):13. doi: 10.1007/s11892-017-0839-6. PMID: 28265893; PMCID: PMC5339317.

### **Chapter 6**

<u>Akiboye F</u>, Page E, Nirantharakumar K, Rayman G\*, Lindenmeyer A. Evaluating Implementation of the Diabetes Perioperative Passport: A Qualitative focus group Study

Under submission

Page E, <u>Akiboye F</u>, Jackson S, Kerry C, Round R, Rayman G; DICE team\*. Perioperative passport: empowering people with diabetes along their surgical journey. Diabetic Medicine. 2017 Dec;34(12):1737-1741. doi: 10.1111/dme.13513. Epub 2017 Oct 20. PMID: 28921676.

### Presentations I have given or contributed towards related to the thesis

North European Young Diabetologists Meeting: The impact of the DICE project on length of stay and mortality: Oral, Warwickshire 17-19th May 2017

Royal Society of Medicine, National diabetes inpatient conference: The evidence for diabetes inpatient specialist nurses: oral, 21<sup>st</sup> September 2017

Diabetes UK Professional Conference: What can we do to improve diabetes inpatient care: The evidence for inpatient diabetes teams: Oral, London 14<sup>th</sup> March 2018

Diabetes UK professional conference, Arnold Bloom Lecture: Back to the future: The changing landscape of diabetes care, Professor Gerry Rayman 22<sup>nd</sup> April 2021

## CHAPTER 1

### Introduction

### Diabetes definition

Diabetes mellitus, commonly referred to as diabetes, is a chronic condition of excess glucose in the blood, termed hyperglycaemia. This arises due to problems with the production or action of insulin, a hormone that controls blood glucose levels. Insulin acts as a key to allow glucose from ingested food to be taken into cells, thereby reducing glucose levels in the blood. This process may be impaired due to lack of insulin, which is typically seen in type 1 diabetes, or due to resistance to the actions of insulin in tissues giving rise to type 2 diabetes.

The World Health Organisation published diagnostic criteria for diabetes based on blood glucose measurements in 2006, stated as a fasting plasma glucose of 7.0mmol/L or random venous plasma glucose of 11.1 mmol/L in a patient with symptoms (1). In a patient without symptoms, a second, confirmatory test is required. In 2011 this definition was extended to allow diagnosis using HbA1c with a value of 48 mmol/mol (6.5%) on a laboratory venous sample indicating diabetes. HbA1c is a measurement of how much glucose has bound to red blood cells (2). This measurement reflects the average glucose in the blood stream over a three-month period, as the average lifespan of the red blood cell (rbc) is 120 days.

### The size of the problem/ epidemiology

Diabetes is common, affecting 463 million of the global population in 2019 (3). It has become a public health burden of epidemic proportions with an increasing prevalence year on year. The International Diabetes Federation estimates that this figure will rise by 51 % to 700 million people being affected worldwide by 2025(3). Diabetes prevalence across Europe varies with Turkey (11.1%), Germany (10.4%) and Portugal (9.8%) seeing the highest age-

adjusted comparative prevalence and rising (1). The United Kingdom is no exception, with the prevalence of diabetes steadily rising from 3.8 million in 2015 to 4.7 million in 2019 (3; 4).

Type 2 diabetes is the most common type of diabetes accounting for 90% of people with diabetes and affecting one in ten people over 40 years old in the UK. Around 8% of those with diabetes have type 1 diabetes with other acquired and genetic forms making up a fraction of cases (5). A form of diabetes known as gestational diabetes may develop during pregnancy. Women who are diagnosed with this are at increased risk of type 2 diabetes (6). In the United Kingdom, diabetes accounts for 10% of healthcare spending with the majority of this expenditure spent on the treatment of complications. A similar pattern is seen across Europe, with this region ranked as the third highest for diabetes expenditure by the IDF with an estimated 161.4 billion US dollars spent in 2019[3]. European countries spend between 4.2% (in Ireland) and 23.8 % (in Turkey) of their healthcare expenditure on the management of diabetes and the treatment of its complications (2).

### Effects of diabetes

While all cells require glucose as fuel, hyperglycaemia can have a number of detrimental effects in both the short and long term. Over time, the raised glucose levels can cause damage to blood vessels, narrowing them by a process known as atherosclerosis and leading to complications (3). The complications of diabetes are divided into microvascular and macrovascular according to the size of the affected blood vessels. Microvascular complications typically affect the small vessels, with damage seen in the vessels supplying the retina of the eyes, the kidneys, and those supplying nerves, giving rise to retinopathy,

nephropathy and neuropathy respectively. Macrovascular damage in the larger vessels supplying the brain, heart and legs can result in cerebral vascular accident (CVA) or stroke, myocardial infarction (MI) or heart attack, or peripheral vascular disease (PVD) (3). The poor peripheral blood supply of PVD can cause muscular pain due to a lack of blood and oxygen to the tissues when walking or at rest. In severe, sudden blockage of a vessel, critical limb ischaemia may result, which is a vascular emergency requiring urgent surgical intervention. Furthermore, the combination of a poor blood supply to legs in addition to the reduced sensation from peripheral neuropathy can also lead to diabetic foot ulcers and deeper infection of the bone termed osteomyelitis, which may require amputation if untreated (4). The short-term effects of hyperglycaemia give rise to the symptoms that often precipitate presentation and the subsequent diagnosis of diabetes, particularly in those that develop type 1 diabetes. In order to reduce the rising glucose levels, in the absence or extreme deficiency of insulin, the kidneys excrete some of the excess glucose into the urine resulting in increased urination or polyuria (seen in 92% at presentation). The resultant dehydration that can drive thirst and increased drinking, termed polydipsia (seen in 84% at presentation), and the metabolic shift in ability to use glucose leads to weight loss (seen in 84% at presentation) (5). In type 2 diabetes this process may be more insidious as glucose levels tend to rise more slowly over several years and patients may instead present with non-specific symptoms such as lethargy, recurrent infections or complications of diabetes discussed above (7).

Diabetes emergencies: Diabetic ketoacidosis and Hyperglycaemic hyperosmolar state

Hyperglycaemia can cause significant metabolic shifts at higher levels, and this can result in diabetes emergencies. In those with complete insulin deficiency, generally those with type 1 diabetes, the hyperglycaemia is due to a complete lack of insulin. In this state the body starts to break down fat as an alternative fuel and form metabolites called ketones. These ketones are dangerous at high levels as they are acidic and diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) can develop as the body loses the ability to compensate for these metabolic changes. The treatment is usually higher doses of insulin to switch the body back to glucose metabolism and this is administered in a hospital setting, sometimes in intensive care, to allow close monitoring. In those with a relative deficiency of insulin, DKA is less likely. However, severe hyperglycaemia without adequate access to fluids can cause significant dehydration, leading to highly concentrated levels of glucose and other metabolites in the blood. This results in a condition known as hyperglycaemic hyperosmolar state (HHS) (8) which also requires hospitalisation with close monitoring for treatment. Both DKA and HHS present with the osmotic symptoms of hyperglycaemia, predominantly thirst, and carry a high risk of mortality.

Hyperglycaemia also impairs the action of the white blood cells responsible for fighting infection and thereby increases propensity to infection. When combined with its other effects, such as increasing the glucose content of the urine, which provides a substrate for bacteria in addition to the poor blood supply and delivery of these important white cells to the affected area, such as foot ulcer, people with diabetes are at an increased risk of infection, particularly in association with hyperglycaemia (9).

### Management of diabetes

The strategies for diabetes management are threefold. First, to modify the risk factors that lead to the development of micro- and macrovascular complications. This involves optimising glycaemic control, reducing hyperglycaemia whilst minimising low glucose readings (hypoglycaemia), and managing hypertension and lipid levels. Second is monitoring for complications, with a minimum of annual eye screening, foot screening for neuropathy, and urinalysis to look for protein leaking from the kidneys as an early sign of nephropathy. Finally, if complications or emergencies develop, for instance an infected diabetic foot ulcer or DKA, prompt and appropriate assessment and treatment of assessment and treatment is required (10).

In order to facilitate the management of this increasingly prevalent disease there has, for many years, been an emphasis on ensuring that people with diabetes are educated about the necessary monitoring and potential complications of the disease. This is usually delivered as group educational programmes tailored to those with type 1 or type 2 diabetes. A number of regional and national programmes have been verified for delivery of patient care such as DESMOND and X-PERT for type 2 diabetes and DAFNE and BERTIE online for type 1 diabetes (11; 12). The broad educational foundation that these programmes provide allows specific and individual needs and questions to be addressed in annual reviews.

### The multidisciplinary team

With such a complex disease with a wide range of potential complications, a number of skills are required for optimal care for people with diabetes. In order to deliver the necessary education, prescribing, monitoring and management of complications a multidisciplinary team approach is required. This often consists of dieticians, podiatrists, diabetes specialist

nurses, physicians and sometimes psychologists. While the physician is typically responsible for the overall care, much of the care delivery and continuity of care is provided by the diabetes specialist nurse, both in the community and in an inpatient setting (13). This role often encompasses structured group and personal education as well as routine monitoring for complications with specialist nurses who are often the first point of contact for patients. Their central role has been increasing since it was introduced in the 1970s (14), with the scope of the role ever expanding to include prescribing and motivational interviewing.

### The challenge of diabetes inpatient care

For people with diabetes hospitalisation, whether primarily related to their diabetes or not, presents a number of challenges, with disruption to their usual routines and a loss of autonomy and control over medication on top of the medical or surgical reason for which they were admitted (15). The timing of meals in hospital can vary compared to people's home pattern, but more importantly the main cooked meal tends to be at lunchtime with lighter food such as a sandwich in the evening, in contrast to the patterns of many who have their evening meal as the main meal. The majority of patients in hospital with diabetes are admitted with other primary problems and are therefore under the care of non-diabetologists (16). These non-specialist teams often do not take diabetes care into account when managing the presenting issue. The primary medical or surgical reason for admission often affects glycaemic control, which is an additional factor on top of the structural and educational challenges faced by inpatients with diabetes.

In patients undergoing surgery these challenges are exacerbated by extended periods of fasting and the physiological stress of the operation, as well as the underlying cause in emergency cases. For planned or elective surgery there are a number of stages and people

involved in the pathway to the final operative procedure, however diabetes care is a crucial thread which is inconsistently managed or may be lost altogether during the process (17). For many of these reasons the care that inpatients with diabetes receive is suboptimal. This is reflected in longer length of stay, poorer outcomes in both medical and surgical disciplines and higher mortality (18). Having been educated to manage and live day to day with their condition, patients themselves also report lack of confidence in non-specialists managing their diabetes whilst inpatients.

### Diabetes Management guidelines

With diabetes predominantly managed in the outpatient setting guidelines there have been established at national level for the frequency of routine assessment, targets for glycaemic, blood pressure and lipid control, and medication management. This guidance is issued by national bodies such as the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), with further clarification from joint groups, particularly the Joint British Diabetes Societies (JBDS) on how to deliver this guidance in clinical practice (19; 20).

Diabetes inpatient guidelines aim to maintain glucose levels within a safe range, avoiding either hyper- or hypoglycaemia, preventing the development of complications or emergencies in hospital, and facilitating safe discharge back to community services. Despite these universal aims the approach and resultant guidance varies.

#### Inpatient guidance

The approach in the United States, recommended by guidance from the American Diabetes Association focuses on optimising glycaemic control, shortening length of stay, and discharge that prevents acute complications and readmission (21). With these aims the hospital standards are prescriptive in their recommendations, suggesting HbA1c testing on

admission, automating glucose control with computer-based insulin protocols for dose adjustment, diabetes specialist input, and tight glycaemic parameters with insulin to be prescribed for persistent hyperglycaemia.

In the United Kingdom, the JBDS for inpatient care examined care throughout the country, taking into account local variation, based on practices that worked well with a focus on patient safety and patient empowerment for supported self-management of glucose. The main principles drawn out of this nationwide project suggest that best care includes multidisciplinary teams, diabetes inpatient teams leading clinical decisions, a body of health care professionals with knowledge and understanding of diabetes, support for patients to manage their diabetes in hospital, and systems to enable hospitals to learn from their mistakes and continue to improve care (20).

### Surgical guidance

The JBDS surgical guideline aims to provide a route to seamless care for the patient, from primary care referral, through elective assessment and hospitalisation for surgery, and on to discharge. It focuses on optimising glycaemic control through organisation of these services and close monitoring of the patient (20).

The guidance for inpatient care is more recent, with plans for ongoing revision and refinement of these as research emerges in this field. Despite these guidelines, staffing, practice and outcomes vary nationally as shown by national audit.

### Monitoring the quality of diabetes inpatient care

In order to measure, benchmark and share the quality of diabetes inpatient care, the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA) was set up in 2011 (22). It invited hospitals across England and Wales to collect and submit data across a range of inpatient diabetes care

measures. This one-day snapshot gained the participation of 206 hospitals or sites in its first year. Data collected looks back over the preceding ten days and includes length of stay, drug errors, monitoring for complications such as heel ulcers, development of inpatient complications such as DKA, HHS and foot ulcers, as well as measurements of glucose control across the 10-day period. It aims to ascertain for each trust whether harm resulted from inpatient stay, whether diabetes management minimised the risks of avoidable complications, and also what the patient experience was through a patient questionnaire where possible.

In the years since its inception, NaDIA has continued to measure these aspects of patient care on an almost annual basis for participating sites across England and Wales allowing them to compare their performance nationally. In addition to benchmarking, repeated audit enables hospitals to measure changes in their service delivery and care for inpatients with diabetes over time. The audit has documented the substantial service need and allowed 90% of participating sites to receive transformational funding to use towards improvements in staffing levels of diabetes consultants, specialist nurses, dieticians and podiatry services. There has also been a slow, but steady increase in the adoption of electronic prescribing, which is associated with reduced insulin errors. The use of electronic prescribing grew in participating sites across England and Wales from 16.1% in 2013 to 34.6% in 2018 (23; 24). One area that has remained a challenge to improve has been the medical care received by surgical patients. The National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) review of 2018 looked back at 509 case notes of people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes who had undergone surgery (25). The review highlighted the deficiency in continuity of care throughout the perioperative pathway, with key assessments such as

nutritional assessments and medicine reconciliation not being carried out in a significant proportion of cases. There was also a failure to prioritise patients with diabetes on operating lists in 19.4% of cases, leading to prolonged fasting. Overall, the examination found room for improvement in clinical care in 35.8% of cases examined.

### The need for service development in diabetes

With rising demand and suboptimal care for people with diabetes, the need to improve standards is both urgent and important. The challenge is multifaceted and therefore the most effective solution is likely to be one that addresses many of the barriers to optimal care in the hospital setting. Furthermore, any systems developed must be deliverable in a sustainable and cost-effective fashion.

This thesis examines the impact of the first known highly multifaceted programme, the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project.

### Background to DICE

Prior to introduction of the DICE there was one full time Nurse working 1 whole time equivalent (WTE) involved in delivering a diabetes service with the support of a diabetes consultant. The nurse's activity involved visiting the wards to enquire about any newly admitted or transferred patients with diabetes or any concerns the nursing staff had around diabetes care.

In order to improve care for inpatients with diabetes, two additional nurses from other clinical teams, one medicine and surgery, were seconded for training as DISNs over the course of 6 months. During this time, they collected bedside data and observed how the diabetes team delivered care in the hospital. With the benefits of some clinical distance in observing these care interactions, their previous ward experience, and the perspective they

brought to the team, the training DISNs contributed to regular discussion about potential innovations within service. These contributions as well as consideration of the most frequently asked questions and challenges encountered and enabled the diabetes inpatient team to address these issues. Together with a research fellow, Rajesh, Rajendran, the diabetes team were able to implement a number of researched, evidenced, bespoke and novel strategies to proactively and more robustly enable ward staff to manage patients with diabetes and refer appropriately. These are outlined below.

### The Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project: an overview

The Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project is a whole systems approach to addressing the many challenges of diabetes care in a district general hospital in the United Kingdom. It takes a proactive approach to diabetes inpatient care, aiming to improve the standard of care and rapidly identify and respond to a changing healthcare climate and the growing demand of patients who receive this care.

There was a six-month period of monitoring and observation between January and June 2013. This was followed by six months of discussion, planning and preparation for the implementation of strategies to address the observed challenges within the hospital for patients with diabetes. These novel initiatives were then implemented as the DICE project between January and June 2014 with a second six-month period of monitoring, assessment and feedback after. The project is ongoing and ever evolving as new challenges come to light and novel ways to address them are found.

The whole systems approach implemented between January and June 2014 and its impact is explored within this thesis and is detailed below.

### The DICE programme

The initial DICE programme comprised six key elements aimed at addressing the many

challenges of diabetes inpatient care:

- diabetes care pathway
  - unified glucose and insulin chart
  - o foot check
  - Diabetes Patient At Risk (DPAR) scoring system
  - o Insulin self-management check list
  - Safe discharge checklist
- electronic tools
  - o daily identification of inpatients with diabetes
  - hypoglycaemia alert system
- Induction programme for new staff
- Regular audit
- DICE team meetings
- Staffing with dedicated Diabetes inpatient nurses

### The DICE care pathway

The DICE care pathway is an eight-page booklet designed to address the needs of patients from admission to discharge. It is a comprehensive document comprising the necessary monitoring and documentation required for many aspects of good diabetes inpatient care as well as being a resource for ward staff, providing guidance, prompts, treatment algorithms and specialist referral criteria. All patients with diabetes admitted to hospital require a DICE care pathway, and this is often initiated by the admitting nurse, but can be started by any health care professional.

On the first page the importance of identifying the type of diabetes is highlighted with a prompt to ensure that staff are aware of the patient's status from admission and of care implications related to their diabetes type (e.g. never stop insulin in type 1 patients). Staff are then prompted to assess the patient's need for specialist input via a novel scoring

system [the Diabetes Patient At Risk score (DPAR)]. This risk score stratifies patients for review by either the diabetes inpatient team and/or the diabetes foot team. The urgency of review, and the most appropriate specialist for the review is embedded in the referral, so that a consultant diabetologist alone or together with a diabetes specialist podiatrist or Diabetes Inpatient Specialist Nurse (DISN) attends appropriately for diabetic emergencies, diabetic foot syndrome or to provide patient or staff advice respectively.

In this unique system a high score prompts an online referral which can be made quickly and without the need for the approval of the admitting doctor, a factor which was previously noted to delay referral or prevent essential referral for specialist input entirely. Being online also allows accurate data collection for audit purposes as detailed further below.

Foot care with regular foot and particularly heel inspections is a vital component of good diabetes inpatient care. In order to prompt this important practice and ensure that staff are able to assess patients the pathway contains an admission foot check form which includes instructions on how to perform a simple foot examination. Ongoing daily foot examinations are prompted by a space within the booklet for daily heel checks. This is coupled with guidance for staff on when and how to refer to the multidisciplinary foot team, again with an online referral and a reminder to bleep as urgency necessitates.

Insulin use carries a significant risk, with insulin errors among the highest injectable drug "never events" leading to death in hospitalised patients. Never events are serious incidents that are deemed completely avoidable, as strong guidance or systems would prevent their occurrence. The list of never events are set by NHS improvement with national guidance and safety recommendations that form a robust safety framework, acting as a barrier, which should prevent these Serious Incidents from occurring in any NHS health care setting (26).

The pathway booklet aims to address the issus around insulin errors in a number of ways. For patients able to administer and self-manage their insulin, it is usually safe for them to continue to do so in hospital. A self-management checklist is included in the booklet which staff can complete to facilitate self-administration of insulin, which can be reviewed if the clinical situation changes.

The DICE pathway combines insulin prescription and adjustments with glucose monitoring in a user-friendly chart. A visual prompt for the target glucose range is included within the pathway, and a treatment algorithm is included to ensure that ward staff initiate treatment for hyperglycaemia. The booklet also contains specific treatment charts for the diabetic emergencies DKA and HHS, and charts for monitoring and adjustment of intravenous insulin infusions for those patients who are not eating.

Insulin prescription errors are common in the absence of electronic prescribing; NaDIA showed these errors reduced from 6.3 to 1.9% between 2010 and 2013 (24). However, in the NCEPOD review of perioperative diabetes care the rate of prescription errors was high at 48.6%. Errors in prescription of insulin doses was reported at 16.1% nationally (25). In order to minimise the risk of incorrect or inappropriate insulin being administered, an illustration of the different types of insulin, with examples and their duration of action, is included in the DICE pathway.

Finally, the pathway contains a discharge checklist of things to consider in order to facilitate safe transition for patients out of the hospital and back to their primary care physician or hospital diabetes care provider.

An illustration of the insulin time action profiles for the different types of insulins and an algorithm to direct management of hyperglycaemia are shown below in supplementary figures 1 and 2.

Onset and Duration		Rapid-acting analogue eg Novorapid, Humalog, Apidra
Preparations		Short-acting (soluble) eg Actrapid, Humulin S, Insuman Rapid
		Intermediate-acting (isophane) eg Insulatard, Humulin I, Insuman Basal
	6 4 8 12 24	Long-acting analogue eg Levemir and Lantus
		Rapid acting analogue-intermediate mixture eg Novomix 30, Humalog Mix 25 or Humalog Mix 50
		<b>Short acting-intermediate mixture</b> eg Humulin M3, Insuman Comb 15, 25, or 50

Supplementary figure 1. DICE chart illustration of insulin profiles.



Supplementary figure 2. DICE chart illustration of hyperglycaemia treatment algorithm.

For those on insulin or sulphonylureas, there is also the requirement to prescribe a bedtime snack to prevent overnight hypoglycaemia, which we previously reported to be an issue in hospitalised patients (3) (supplementary figure 3).



Supplementary figure 3. DICE chart illustration of bedtime snack sticker.

### Proactive patient identification and management of hypoglycaemia

Proactive management of hospitalised patients with diabetes is a key component of the DICE programme. There were two electronic initiatives developed in conjunction with the hospital information technology (IT) department that enabled a change to proactive working upon implementing the programme. These are outlined below.

Identification and review of all new diabetes admissions

In order to accurately identify newly admitted patients for diabetes inpatient team review, patients with a diagnosis of diabetes were triangulated from previous admission records, attendance at the Diabetes Centre and the outpatient diabetes care pathway electronic medical records system (SystmOne). From these three sources an automated daily list was generated prior to the start of the working day allowing prompt review of patients who had not been referred via the DPAR system for medication review and adjustment, initiation of patient self-management where appropriate, and other measures to prevent hypo- and hyperglycaemia.

At review, the missed or incorrect prescriptions could then be highlighted, and for those patients on the sulphonylurea group of oral hypoglycaemic agents a bedtime snack
prescribed in the drug chart to prevent hypoglycaemia, which is more common overnight. The snack prescription sticker is illustrated in supplementary figure 3.

Bespoke hypoglycaemia alert using web-linked point-of-care blood glucose meters The point of care glucose meters used to measure inpatient glucose values across the hospital were linked to a web-based system (FreeStyle Precision Pro Blood Glucose Monitoring System<sup>™</sup> - Abbott Diabetes Care, Witney, UK). The hospital information technology department then set up a bespoke system using parameters set by the diabetes team to generate a list of all patients with any episodes of hypoglycaemia measured within the trust in the previous 24 hours. This hypoglycaemia alert system provides crucial information, enabling the DISNs to prioritise these at-risk patients during ward visits and make prompt adjustments to medication, aiming to preventing further harm due to recurrent hypoglycaemia. This unique system has been shown to reduce recurrent hypoglycaemia by 35% (27).

#### Induction programme for new staff

In order to address knowledge gaps within training and the routine rotation of junior doctors, diabetes training was included in their induction. This involved introduction to the DICE pathway and explanation of how to use it, with common pitfalls highlighted. Scenariobased teaching was a key element of this induction programme and it was shown to be effective in significantly increasing the confidence of doctors in managing inpatients with diabetes.

#### Regular audit

It is known that simply taking steps to measure an outcome can improve the measured value (28). An audit was set up based on a summary of the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit

and conducted as a snapshot on a single day each month. This allowed the diabetes team to gain information on the impact of developments and changes within the DICE programme and champion wards and areas which were doing well or support struggling ward staff or areas with targeted education. The outcome of the audits and ways of improving care further were discussed within the team.

#### DICE team meetings

The innovations within the DICE programme and their impact and progress along with any challenges identified within the trust that might hinder the delivery of optimal diabetes inpatient care were discussed in a weekly team meeting. These meetings were attended by all involved in the delivery of inpatient diabetes care, including consultant, research registrar, DISNs, podiatrists and practice manager. All were given the opportunity to raise issues and solutions could be discussed as a team allowing different perspectives and ideas to be shared.

Ideas that might be implemented locally from published work were also discussed and developed into projects, smaller audits or studies.

#### Staffing with dedicated Diabetes inpatient nurses

In order to provide this service, two additional nurses were recruited to the team from other settings. During the first six months they collected data about current practice as a baseline measurement of care being provided for inpatients, and learnt about inpatient diabetes care. They were also able to observe the care being provided and offer a perspective with "fresh eyes" on how care might be improved for inpatients with diabetes.

These nurses provided the bulk of the inpatient care delivery, with consultant support, to increase the weekday diabetes care to a seven-day service.

# Measuring the impact of DICE using hospital administrative data

In order to determine the impact of DICE on the patient group with diabetes attending the hospital in comparison to those without diabetes, a routinely collected dataset was used. Patient Administration System (PAS) data is collected for every patient attending the hospital in any capacity across all departments. It comprises patient demographics, comorbidities, diagnoses, intensive care admissions and procedures carried out, which are compiled from discharge summaries, which include admission and discharge dates. This data is collected in all hospitals in the UK and feeds into the Hospital Episode System (HES) database which allows hospitals to be paid for the care delivered each quarter. As this data is routinely collected for all patients it allows comparison of patients with diabetes and those without.

In this thesis PAS data is used to explore the impact of the DICE project using the additional quasi-experimental technique of interrupted time series analysis to assess the changes in relation to seasonal or background trends.

# The impact of diabetes inpatient nurses a systematic review

Diabetes specialist nurses are not ubiquitous across the NHS with NaDIA 2017 reporting that one in five hospitals does not have a dedicated DISN or specialist nursing team. The reasons for this discrepancy are unclear and likely to be multifactorial.

In order to fund new posts for diabetes specialist nurses, the case for their cost saving benefit in addition to the clinical need often has to be made. The cost-effectiveness of DISNs has been shown, with a specialist nursing team investment of £5 million across 54 trust estimated to yield savings of £14 million, a net saving of £9 million per year (29). This cost is predominantly measured in bed day savings. While a number of position statements advocate for inpatient diabetes nursing teams in every hospital the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit has not shown these recommendations translating into consistent action. This thesis explores the many ways the employment of diabetes specialist nurses may impact patient care, through a systematic review of the literature, with the aim of giving a balanced and realistic appraisal of their impact and utility in the current pressured climate. It also displays the breadth of research that studies in this field have covered, identifying areas for further investigation.

# The impact of DICE on inpatient complications

As the role of specialist nurses evolved in a range of specialities, from multiple sclerosis to tissue viability, the question of how to best measure their impact was raised. In 2003, Doran suggested that softer outcomes that related directly to the role of the nurse, termed 'nurse related outcomes', be measured. These outcomes are more difficult to measure, however, potentially provide richer information regarding the impact of specialist nurses beyond the cost saving implications. Investigation of this area may also bridge knowledge gaps in the potential ways by which employment of DISNs reduces length of stay.

Hyperglycaemia is known to be associated with an increased propensity to infection and one of the ways diabetes specialist nurses are thought to reduce patient length of stay is by optimising glycaemic control (30). It has been presumed that the reduction in length of stay

may be related to fewer complications during the inpatient stay. This, however, is quite difficult to measure in many hospitals.

PAS data, which uses coded data from discharge summaries, does not distinguish between pre-existing comorbidities and new diagnoses during the current admission. Obtaining this information in a digital form for analysis is a considerable challenge in many hospitals. While there is currently a movement towards digitalising notes, this has largely been through the scanning of written notes rather than entry of written/typed text in most trusts. Unfortunately, the challenge remains that the only way to gather this information on inpatient harm due to infective or other macro- or microvascular complications of diabetes is by manual review of patient notes in many trusts.

While coders are trained specifically to extract information from the discharge summaries, the information that is communicated within these is often summarised for the reference of the general practitioner and patient. The accuracy of this information in providing a comprehensive representation of the events during the patient's admission is variable and has been reported as low as 86% in accuracy (22).

In order to gain a more accurate representation of the impact of DICE on complications, a manual notes audit for pre-agreed diagnoses was carried out on all patients admitted overnight with diabetes for a six-month period before and after the intervention. Staff received training for this, and the information was captured electronically.

In this thesis this bedside data is analysed before and after the implementation of the DICE programme, to enable a crucial and rare assessment of the complications associated with hospitalisation for patients with diabetes and the programme's impact on these.

The impact of diabetes and hyperglycaemia on orthopaedic outcomes: a guidance pathway

The strongest evidence for the impact of hyperglycaemia and diabetes on patient outcomes is within surgery. Hyperglycaemia in the absence of diabetes has been found to impair wound healing and is a risk factor for increased ITU and all-cause mortality post-operatively (31). Perhaps the largest infective risk in those with poor glycaemic control perioperatively is where metal work is used, as is often the case in orthopaedic surgery (23). Here a deeper infection has potentially weightier consequences as it is likely to require repeat surgery to remove the infected prosthesis rather than antibiotics.

This thesis reviews the evidence for perioperative complications in orthopaedics with diabetes and hyperglycaemia, as well as evidence for optimal treatment of diabetes in this area. Opportunities to improve glycaemic control along the patient journey to surgery are highlighted, with a guidance pathway suggested to optimise care for patients with diabetes who require surgery.

### Improving care in the perioperative pathway

The journey to surgery is a complex pathway involving a series of steps. First, primary care, where a physician or practitioner refers the patient to the hospital surgical pathway. Then once within secondary care, the patient will usually pass through surgical outpatients and preoperative assessment before hospital admission for surgery. Next post-operative care before to finally being discharged back to the community or primary care provider. There are often different professionals or teams leading key tasks to facilitate safe, efficient assessment for surgery, the operation and recovery prior to discharge.

While each of these professionals plays an important role, diabetes management is often not given the attention required given the impact it has on patient outcomes. In the outpatient setting the management of diabetes has increasingly focused on providing education and tools for those with diabetes to manage the condition themselves, and to be aware of the consequences of poor glycaemic control (32). Maternity records also empower women to hold information necessary for their perinatal care and they are encouraged to take this to each appointment or professional contact to provide some clinical continuity (33).

In this study, a diabetes passport was produced to address the challenges of continuity of care during the complex multistep perioperative pathway for people with diabetes. The booklet was developed with the aim of informing and empowering patients with diabetes from surgical assessment in secondary care to discharge. It moves chronologically through the pathway and comprises a number of sections. The passport contains information pages for patients about what to expect at each stage in reference to their diabetes care, there are pages for the health care professionals to complete, at pre-assessment, engaging them in this interaction with a predetermined structure, and finally there are pages for the patient to complete prompting their ownership of their diabetes care as they move through the pathway.

The challenges of implementing a diabetes perioperative passport in the hospital setting

Despite evidence for the efficacy of novel technologies, guidelines and tools piloted in controlled clinical areas or on a small scale, the adoption and embedding of new practices

into routine clinical practice remains challenging. Studies show that failure of implementation or end user dissatisfaction affects up to 70% of new innovations in practice.

The barriers and facilitators to implementation of various clinician- and nurse-delivered technologies have been studied in a range of areas and the hospital setting carries particular challenges (34).

The final piece of research for this thesis explores the challenges of implementing the patient-empowering perioperative passport in the inpatient setting by comparing the perception of the passport in two pre-operative nursing groups with contrasting responses to a pilot where they were invited to administer it.

This thesis aims to examine the impact of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses through systematic review,

and uses real world data in a district general hospital to explore their impact in the delivery of a multisystem approach to diabetes inpatient care. The potential for improvements in care in the perioperative process are highlighted, with a review of the evidence and a suggested guideline for pathway improvements in orthopaedic surgery. Finally, the challenges of engaging non-diabetes specialist staff in the implementation of diabetes care strategies in the hospital setting are explored.

# References

1. IDF. Global diabetes report data 2010-2045. International diabetes Federation , 2019. Available from https://www.diabetesatlas.org/data/en/world/

2. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas | 9th edition.: IDF, 2019. p. 67.

3. Katakami N. Mechanism of Development of Atherosclerosis and Cardiovascular Disease in Diabetes Mellitus. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2018 Jan 1;25(1):27-39. doi: 10.5551/jat.RV17014. Epub 2017 Sep 29. PMID: 28966336; PMCID: PMC5770221..

4. Giurato L, Meloni M, Izzo V, Uccioli L. Osteomyelitis in diabetic foot: A comprehensive overview. World J Diabetes. 2017 Apr 15;8(4):135-142. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v8.i4.135. PMID: 28465790; PMCID: PMC5394733..

5. Al Rashed AM. Pattern of presentation in type 1 diabetic patients at the diabetes center of a university hospital. Ann Saudi Med. 2011 May-Jun;31(3):243-9. doi: 10.4103/0256-4947.81529. PMID: 21623052; PMCID: PMC3119963..

6. Kim C, Newton KM, Knopp RH. Gestational diabetes and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Care. 2002 Oct;25(10):1862-8. doi: 10.2337/diacare.25.10.1862. PMID: 12351492..

7. Campbell IW. Epidemiology and clinical presentation of type 2 diabetes. Value Health 2000; 3: s3–6

8. Gosmanov AR, Gosmanova EO, Kitabchi AE. Hyperglycemic Crises: Diabetic Ketoacidosis (DKA), And Hyperglycemic Hyperosmolar State (HHS) [Updated 2018 May 17]. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al., editors. Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000-. Available from:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279052/9. Infection in patients with diabetes mellitus: A review of pathogenesis.

9. Casqueiro J, Casqueiro J, Alves C. Infections in patients with diabetes mellitus: A review of pathogenesis. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2012 Mar;16 Suppl 1(Suppl1):S27-36. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.94253. PMID: 22701840; PMCID: PMC3354930.

10. Ford W, Self WH, Slovis C, McNaughton CD. Diabetes in the Emergency Department and Hospital: Acute Care of Diabetes Patients. Curr Emerg Hosp Med Rep. 2013 Mar 1;1(1):1-9. doi: 10.1007/s40138-012-0007-x. PMID: 23997994; PMCID: PMC3756609.11. JDRF. Type 1 diabetes managment skills. [Online] 7 August 2020. www.jdrf.org.uk.

Khunti K, Gray LJ, Skinner T, Carey ME, Realf K, Dallosso H, Fisher H, Campbell M, Heller S, Davies MJ. Effectiveness of a diabetes education and self management programme (DESMOND) for people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus: three year follow-up of a cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care. BMJ. 2012 Apr 26;344:e2333. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e2333. PMID: 22539172; PMCID: PMC3339877.

13. Cumming MH, McKay GA, Bain. Multidisciplinary Approach to Management and care of patients with type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. EMJ Diabetes, 2019; 7: 73-81.

14. James J. Diabetes specialist nursing in the UK: the judgement call? A review of existing literature. EDN. 2011; https://doi.org/10.1002/edn.190.

15. Dhatariya K, Mustafa OG, Rayman G. Safe care for people with diabetes in hospital. Clin Med (Lond). 2020 Jan;20(1):21-27. doi: 10.7861/clinmed.2019-0255. PMID: 31941727; PMCID: PMC6964176.

16. Khalid JM, Raluy-Callado M, Curtis BH, Boye KS, Maguire A, Reaney M. Rates and risk of hospitalisation among patients with type 2 diabetes: retrospective cohort study using the UK General Practice Research Database linked to English Hospital Episode Statistics. Int J Clin Pract. 2014 Jan;68(1):40-8. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.12265. Epub 2013 Sep 23. PMID: 24112108; PMCID: PMC4282286.

17. Rehman HU, Mohammed K. Perioperative management of diabetic patients. Curr Surg. 2003 Nov-Dec;60(6):607-11. doi: 10.1016/j.cursur.2003.07.002. PMID: 14972202.

18. Valent F, Tonutti L, Grimaldi F. Does diabetes mellitus comorbidity affect in-hospital mortality and length of stay? Analysis of administrative data in an Italian Academic Hospital. Acta Diabetol. 2017 Dec;54(12):1081-1090. doi: 10.1007/s00592-017-1050-6. Epub 2017 Sep 15. PMID: 28916936.

19. National Institude for Health and Care Excellence. Type 2 diabetes in adults: management. NICE guideline [NG28]. Availible from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng28

20. Joint British Diabetes Societies for Inpatient Care. Manaegment of adults with diabetes undergoing surgery and elective procedures: improving standards. 2016. Availiable from https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resources-s3/2017-09/Surgical%20guideline%202015%20-%20summary%20FINAL%20amended%20Mar%202016.pdf

21. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American Diabetes Association consensus statement on inpatient glycemic control. Moghissi ES, Korytkowski MT, DiNardo M, et al. s.l. : Diabetes Care, 2009, Vol. 32, p. 1119.

22. Housley G, Lewis S, Usman A, Gordon AL, Shaw DE. Accurate identification of hospital admissions from care homes; development and validation of an automated algorithm. Age Ageing. 2018 May 1;47(3):387-391. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afx182. PMID: 29267840; PMCID: PMC5920300.

23. NHS digital. *National Diabetes Inpatient Audit - 2018: Report.* 2019. https://files.digital.nhs.uk/D9/2BEDFE/NaDIA%202018%20-%20Full%20Report%20V1.0.pdf

24. NHS digital. *National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA) - 2013: Report.* 2014. https://files.digital.nhs.uk/publicationimport/pub13xxx/pub13662/nati-diab-inp-audi-13-nat-rep.pdf

25. The National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death. *Highs and Lows.* London : s.n., 2018.

https://www.ncepod.org.uk/2018pd/Highs%20and%20Lows\_Full%20Report.pdf

26. NHS improvement. Never Events policy and framework. 2018. Available from https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/2265/Revised\_Never\_Events\_policy\_and\_framew ork\_FINAL.pdf

27. Rajendran R, Kerry C, Rayman G; MaGIC study group. Temporal patterns of hypoglycaemia and burden of sulfonylurea-related hypoglycaemia in UK hospitals: a retrospective multicentre audit of hospitalised patients with diabetes. BMJ Open. 2014 Jul 9;4(7):e005165. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005165. PMID: 25009134; PMCID: PMC4091462.

28. Farzanehfar P, Woodrow H, Braybrook M, McGregor S, Evans A, Nicklason F, Horne M. Objective measurement in routine care of people with Parkinson's disease improves outcomes. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 2018 Apr 3;4:10. doi: 10.1038/s41531-018-0046-4. PMID: 29644334; PMCID: PMC5882961.

29. Watts E, Rayman G. Making hospitals safe for people with diabetes. 2018. Availible from https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resources-s3/2018-

10/Making%20Hospitals%20safe%20for%20people%20with%20diabetes\_FINAL.pdf

30. Critchley JA, Carey IM, Harris T, DeWilde S, Hosking FJ, Cook DG. Glycemic Control and Risk of Infections Among People With Type 1 or Type 2 Diabetes in a Large Primary Care Cohort Study. Diabetes Care. 2018 Oct;41(10):2127-2135. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0287. Epub 2018 Aug 13. PMID: 30104296.

31. Falciglia M, Freyberg RW, Almenoff PL, D'Alessio DA, Render ML. Hyperglycemia-related mortality in critically ill patients varies with admission diagnosis. Crit Care Med. 2009 Dec;37(12):3001-9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181b083f7. PMID: 19661802; PMCID: PMC2905804.

32. NICE National institute for Health and Care Excellence. Quality statement 2: Structured education programmes for adults with type 2 diabetes. NICE guidance. [Online] 18 August 2016. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs6/chapter/Quality-statement-2-Structured-education-programmes-for-adults-with-type-2-diabetes.

33. Magwood O, Kpadé V, Afza R, Oraka C, McWhirter J, Oliver S, Pottie K. Understanding women's, caregivers', and providers' experiences with home-based records: A systematic review of qualitative studies. PLoS One. 2018 Oct 4;13(10):e0204966. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204966. PMID: 30286161; PMCID: PMC6171900.

34. Geerligs L, Rankin NM, Shepherd HL, Butow P. Hospital-based interventions: a systematic review of staff-reported barriers and facilitators to implementation processes. Implement Sci. 2018 Feb 23;13(1):36. doi: 10.1186/s13012-018-0726-9. PMID: 29475440; PMCID: PMC5824580.

# CHAPTER 2

# Chapter 2: Impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on length of stay and mortality

This chapter uses routinely collected patient administration system (PAS) data to measure outcomes from it. As the primary researcher I became familiar with the information coded within this data source. From this I was able to identify the most robust metrics for data extraction for outcomes and potential confounders. In designing the study using the PAS data I took into account the limitations of the dataset.

The data extraction was carried out with the assistance of the hospital information technology team who pseudonymised patient information in line with information governance.

There were further considerations I took to complete the analysis, which involved finding the best ways to interrogate the data to measure and correct outcomes. For example, the importance of re-admissions as a secondary outcome and the timeframe after which to measure the readmission, 30 days or 90 days. For this, the previous literature was examined, and a consensus made on discussion with supervisors.

I coded and then carried out the analysis with some assistance from a collaborating statistician for additional modelling in the interrupted time series analysis.

# Research: Educational and Psychological Aspects

# Impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on length of stay and mortality

F. Akiboye<sup>1,2</sup> (D, N. J. Adderley<sup>2</sup> (D, J. Martin<sup>2</sup>, K. Gokhale<sup>2</sup>, G. M. Rudge<sup>2</sup>, T. P. Marshall<sup>2</sup>, R. Rajendran<sup>1</sup>, K. Nirantharakumar<sup>2</sup> and G. Rayman<sup>1</sup> (D) on behalf of the DICE team

<sup>1</sup>Diabetes Research Unit, Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, Ipswich and <sup>2</sup>Institute of Applied Health Research, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

Accepted 1 July 2019

#### Abstract

Aim To determine whether the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) programme, a whole-systems approach to managing inpatient diabetes, reduces length of stay, in-hospital mortality and readmissions.

**Research design and methods** Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education initiatives included identification of all diabetes admissions, a novel DICE care-pathway, an online system for prioritizing referrals, use of web-linked glucose meters, an enhanced diabetes team, and novel diabetes training for doctors. Patient administration system data were extracted for people admitted to Ipswich Hospital from January 2008 to June 2016. Logistic regression was used to compare binary outcomes (mortality, 30-day readmissions) 6 months before and after the intervention; generalized estimating equations were used to compare lengths of stay. Interrupted time series analysis was performed over the full 7.5-year period to account for secular trends.

**Results** Before-and-after analysis revealed a significant reduction in lengths of stay for people with and without diabetes: relative ratios 0.89 (95% CI 0.83, 0.97) and 0.93 (95% CI 0.90, 0.96), respectively; however, in interrupted time series analysis the change in long-term trend for length of stay following the intervention was significant only for people with diabetes ( $P \ 0.017 \text{ vs } P \ 0.48$ ). Odds ratios for mortality were 0.63 (0.48, 0.82) and 0.81 (0.70, 0.93) in people with and without diabetes, respectively; however, the change in trend was not significant in people with diabetes, while there was an apparent increase in those without diabetes. There was no significant change in 30-day readmissions, but interrupted time series analysis showed a rising trend in both groups.

**Conclusion** The DICE programme was associated with a shorter length of stay in inpatients with diabetes beyond that observed in people without diabetes.

Diabet. Med. 00: 1 9 (2019)

#### Introduction

Inpatient diabetes care is a growing concern. Almost two thirds of diabetes healthcare expenses are spent on hospital ization, with a minority of people with diabetes contributing to the majority of this cost [1]. The ever increasing preva lence of diabetes in the general population has resulted in a steady rise in beds occupied by people with diabetes, from one in eight in 2011 to one in six in the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit, conducted in 2017 [2,3]. At this rate, projecting forward, it has been estimated that by 2030 more than one in four inpatients will have diabetes. Indeed, in

Correspondence to: Gerry Rayman. E mail: gerry.rayman@esneft.nhs.uk

K.N. and G.R. are joint senior authors.

some UK hospitals the prevalence is as high as 30% [3], a prevalence already exceeded in some US states [4].

In 2011, the National Health Service in England was estimated to spend between £2.3 bn and £2.5 bn per year on inpatient care for people with diabetes, which is ~11% of total inpatient care expenditure and ~25% of the total expenditure on diabetes care [5]. More sizable estimates have been made for the American (25%), French (38%) and Italian (57%) healthcare systems, confirming that inpatient care is the largest component of medical expenditure for diabetes [1,6].

People with diabetes are more frequently admitted to hospital than those without the condition, with diabetes reported to be among the five most prevalent comorbidities in hospitalized and readmitted patients [7]. Despite its documented frequency, most people with diabetes are hospitalized for another reason, with diabetes related

#### What's new?

- People hospitalized with diabetes have poorer outcomes and longer length of stay than those without diabetes.
- We report the impact of a multifaceted, whole systems approach to diabetes care.
- Interrupted time series analysis was used to supplement the commonly used before and after analysis, highlight ing the strength of this quasi experimental methodol ogy.
- Our data show that a nurse delivered care programme can produce sustained and ongoing reductions in length of stay for people with diabetes in the National Health Service today.

emergencies primarily implicated in fewer than 10% of admissions [3]. The majority of inpatients with diabetes are therefore under the care of non diabetologists within both medical and surgical specialities [2].

The care that people with diabetes receive is suboptimal. Inpatients with diabetes have poorer clinical outcomes with longer length of stay [8], higher complication rates [9], and increased mortality [10] compared to people without dia betes. The reasons for these differences are not fully understood, however, glycaemic control has been implicated, with hyperglycaemia thought to account for higher infection rates [11] and hypoglycaemia associated with greater mor tality [12].

Several measures have been used as indicators of the quality of hospital care, including length of stay, readmission rates and mortality [13,14]. In the multi morbid individual with diabetes in whom managing glycaemic control during illness within the hospital environment is challenging, a reduction in length of stay is thought to indicate improved quality of care, although not if at the expense of readmis sions.

In the current financial climate, cost effective ways to improve care and outcomes in this growing cohort are of paramount importance. A number of strategies have been adopted by some hospitals; these include protocols for glucose management, staff education programmes and alert systems such as the 'Think Glucose' programme to identify those requiring specialist team review [15]. Their success in reducing length of stay and hospital acquired diabetes complications, such as diabetic ketoacidosis or foot ulceration, is not known. Some studies suggest that the availability of diabetes specialist nurses reduces length of stay [16,17], but these studies were undertaken some years ago when length of stay for all inpatients was much longer than today. Nevertheless, based on these publications, the economic case for inpatient diabetes teams was made in a document by Marion Kerr in 2011 [5]; this showed the cost of diabetes inpatient nurses was repaid within 3 years. With the increasing emphasis on ambulatory management and early discharge, it is not clear whether similar bed day savings would be seen today.

While randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are the research 'gold standard', they can be impractical, and in some cases unethical, to conduct. Before and after studies analysing observational data are most commonly used to assess the impact of health service interventions. These studies may overestimate effect size as they do not assess the ongoing effect of an intervention, which may diminish or return to baseline soon after the post intervention analysis. Conversely, before and after studies may fail to observe a real effect if the time between the intervention, behavioural change and the subsequent follow up period is insufficient for the impact to become evident.

Recently, the application of quasi experimental analysis to observational data has allowed researchers to design method ologies to circumvent some of these issues. Interrupted time series analysis is one such technique, and has a number of advantages over RCTs and before and after studies.

An interrupted time series design uses data from multiple time periods to estimate an intervention effect whilst adjusting for any underlying secular trend [18]. It allows the comparison of pre and post intervention periods without the requirement for a comparison group [19], and enables examination of changes to the outcome post intervention with an allowance for natural variation in the outcome over time.

We introduced a whole systems approach to improving diabetes inpatient care in Ipswich Hospital using technology, education, protocols and pathways for identifying patients most in need of specialist diabetes input (outlined below). An interrupted time series analysis was used to supplement a before and after analysis to assess the impact of this whole systems approach.

#### The Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education programme

The Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) pro gramme was designed and developed as a whole systems approach to managing inpatient diabetes. It comprised a number of changes to existing diabetes practices.

#### The DICE care pathway

Every patient with diabetes is initiated on an eight page diabetes pathway, the DICE chart/booklet, which remains with them throughout their stay. It is also an education tool for all healthcare professionals directing care. Within the DICE booklet there are user friendly glucose and insulin charts designed to improve patient safety, a foot check form to be completed on admission, with instructions on how to perform a simple foot examination using the novel Ipswich Touch Test, as well as instructions on who and how to refer to the multidisciplinary foot team [20]. The pathway contains the unique Diabetic Patient At Risk (DPAR) scoring system, which empowers ward staff to refer patients to the diabetes specialist nurse and foot team, and enables prior itization according to clinical urgency. The system has been very well received by medical and nursing staff and, since implementation, >95% of referrals have been reviewed within our prespecified best practice period [21].

The booklet contains a checklist to facilitate insulin self management and finally a safe discharge checklist. The DICE booklet is described in greater detail in the Supporting Information which includes illustrations of insulin action profiles, the hypoglycaemic treatment algorithm and the bedtime snack sticker (Figures S1, S2, S3).

The programme also comprised a number of other interventions developed by the DICE team. These include an electronic system to identify all people admitted with diabetes and a hypoglycaemia alert system using web linked point of care blood glucose meters (outlined in Appendix S1).

#### Novel induction programme for junior doctors

We introduced an induction programme for junior doctors based on common case scenarios and adapted this to include training in the use of the DICE pathway. This was positively evaluated by the trainees [22].

#### Staffing

Key to delivering these changes in practice was the employ ment of additional diabetes inpatient specialist nurses, who, in addition to the existing specialist nurse, were equivalent to 2.5 full time staff members. This enabled 7 day working, providing a morning only service at the weekend. More than 90% of inpatients with diabetes were seen by a diabetes inpatient specialist nurse.

This multifaceted service was implemented across all the medical, surgical, haematology and oncology wards from 1 July 2013. Randomization was considered unethical as it would remove access to medication adjustments following a hypoglycaemic episode and restrict appropriate specialist review.

Aims of the diabetes inpatient specialist nurses were as follows:

- 1. To facilitate self care where appropriate, and to educate and support patients in their diabetes care.
- 2. To educate and support non specialist healthcare profes sionals in caring for people with diabetes.
- To avoid hypoglycaemia through proactive adjustment of hypoglycaemic oral medication and insulin on admission, prescription of a bedtime snack, and targeting first events to prevent recurrence.
- 4. To reduce hospital acquired foot complications by audit ing foot examinations and facilitating foot protection for those at risk, and prompt referral of those with foot complications to the multidisciplinary foot team.

- 5. To optimize glycaemic control, aiming for glucose read ings of between 6 and 12 mmol/l where appropriate.
- 6. To facilitate safe and early discharge and to prevent readmission.

The aim of the present study was to investigate the effect of the DICE programme on mortality, length of stay and 30 day readmissions of inpatients with diabetes at Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, using routinely collected administrative data for patients admitted to the trust between January 2008 and June 2016.

#### Methods

#### Study design

A single centre before and after study was conducted, sup plemented by an interrupted time series analysis to reveal any background trends and changes in care after implementation of the DICE programme.

#### Source of data

Data were extracted from the patient administration system at Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust. For the before and after study, an extract was taken to compare identical 6 month periods, 1 January 2013 to 30 June 2013 and 1 January 2014 to 30 June 2014, i.e. prior to and after the implementation of the DICE programme (1 July 2013 to 31 December 2013). For the interrupted time series analysis, a second extract was taken from 1 January 2008 to 30 June 2016.

#### Population

Adults with a primary or secondary diagnosis of diabetes defined by International Classification of Disease (ICD) 10 codes E10 to E14 in the patient administration system data were the population of interest. Patients without a diagnostic code of diabetes were used as a negative control group to assess the impact of temporal trends and changes in non diabetes care processes that might impact on the outcomes of people with diabetes.

Only individuals admitted under specialities that were routinely involved in the in the DICE project were included in the analysis; therefore, paediatrics, neonatology and obstetrics were excluded, accounting for 97 beds of this 587 bed hospital. Day case procedures were also excluded.

#### Covariates for before-and-after analysis

Demographic information (age and sex), ethnicity, index of multiple deprivation category, admission and discharge times (to calculate length of stay), method of discharge, type of admission (emergency or elective), intensive therapy unit stay, healthcare resource group codes, and comorbidities were obtained from the patient administration system data. A modified Charlson comorbidity score (excluding diabetes) was calculated using ICD 10 codes for comorbidities. The 2015 healthcare resource group categories were applied to the full dataset.

#### Analysis

A before and after analysis was performed, followed by an interrupted time series analysis.

#### Before and after analysis

Outcomes in the 6 month periods before and after imple mentation of the DICE project were compared. Pre DICE analysis was performed in the populations with and without diabetes from 1 January 2013 to 30 June 2013, and post DICE analysis from 1 January 2014 to 30 June 2014. This allowed assessment of whether the intervention led to a change in each of the outcomes in people with diabetes above any difference observed in people without diabetes.

Primary outcomes were length of stay and mortality. Length of stay was derived in hours as the date and time of discharge minus the date and time of admission. The secondary outcome was 30 day emergency readmission rate.

Baseline characteristics are presented as mean (SD) or median (interquartile range) for continuous variables, and as proportions for categorical/binary variables.

Crude (unadjusted) and adjusted odds ratios for mortality, comparing pre and post DICE in patients both with and without diabetes, were calculated using logistic regression.

Length of stay data were found to be skewed; crude and adjusted relative ratios were therefore calculated using generalized estimating equations with log link normal dis tribution. This modelling accounted for people readmitted multiple times to the hospital within the 6 month periods analysed.

Emergency readmission rates up to 30 days after discharge for both elective and non elective care were analysed to assess for any negative impact from possible premature discharges. Crude and adjusted odds ratios for 30 day readmissions were calculated using logistic regression.

For all outcomes, the following potential confounders were included in the adjusted models: age, sex, ethnic group, index of multiple deprivation quintile, healthcare resource group category, intensive therapy unit episode, modified Charlson comorbidity score, and emergency/elective admis sion.

#### Time series analysis

An interrupted time series analysis was performed using segmented regression to adjust for any underlying secular trend.

Data were available for 66 months prior to the interven tion and 30 months after the intervention. An aggregate dataset containing monthly averages was created for the analysis. For mortality and 30 day readmission, the number of people who had died or who were readmitted within 30 days was calculated. For length of stay, the monthly mean was calculated using the raw length of stay data.

Mortality and readmission count data were analysed using generalized estimating equation Poisson models, with an offset for the monthly admissions population. For length of stay a generalized estimating equation linear model was fitted to the data. Fixed effects were included for time, intervention initiation, and intervention termination. Two interactions were included: time and intervention initiation; and time and intervention termination (Appendix S2). To allow for auto correlation, we checked autocorrelation and partial autocor relation plots. A first order autocorrelation (AR 1) was included. The analysis was conducted independently for people with and without diabetes.

All statistical analyses were carried out using STATA 14 and 15. The interrupted time series analysis was carried out using the generalized estimating equation command in STATA, which allows the specification of a first order correlation.

#### Results

#### Before and after analysis

In the 6 months before implementation, 2337 patients with diabetes and 13 765 patients without diabetes were admitted to the hospital in the included specialities. In the 6 months after implementation, 2433 people with and 14 290 people without diabetes were admitted. Those with diabetes were older, and a higher proportion were men, had one or more comorbidities and had an emergency admission compared to people without diabetes (Table 1).

In people with diabetes, the mortality rate decreased from 6.4% in the pre intervention period to 4.4% in the post intervention period; in people without diabetes, the mortality rate decreased from 3.7% to 3.1%. The adjusted odds ratio for the change in mortality pre and post intervention was 0.63 (95% CI 0.48, 0.82) in people with diabetes and 0.81 (95% CI 0.70, 0.93) in those without.

The mean length of stay reduced from 7.5 to 6.7 days in those with diabetes and from 5.0 to 4.7 days in patients without. The median reductions in length of stay were 0.4 and 0.1 days, respectively. The adjusted relative ratio for length of stay before and after the intervention was 0.89 (95% CI 0.83, 0.97) and 0.93 (95% CI 0.90, 0.96) in people with and without diabetes, respectively.

Adjusted odds ratios for 30 day readmissions were not statistically significant: 0.96 (95% CI 0.82, 1.12) and 1.04 (95% CI 0.96, 1.12) in people with and without diabetes, respectively (Table 2).

#### Interrupted time series analysis

The number and demographic characteristics (sex and age) of people included in the interrupted time series analysis are

#### Table 1 Baseline characteristics of individuals included in the before and after analysis

	2013		2014		
	Non diabetes	Diabetes	Non diabetes	Diabetes	
Age					
Median (IQR)	65 (45 80)	75 (63 82)	65 (45 80)	75 (64 83)	
Mean	61.37	70.86	61.44	71.53	
Men. $n$ (%)	6221 (45.19)	1231 (52.67)	6309 (44.15)	1326 (54.50)	
Ethnic group, $n$ (%)	,		,		
White	11881 (86.31)	2062 (88.24)	11444 (80.08)	2038 (83.76)	
Black African and Caribbean	85 (0.62)	28 (1 2)	70 (0.49)	29 (1 19)	
Asian	132 (0.96)	$\frac{20}{38}(1.63)$	106 (0.74)	$\frac{2}{28}(1.15)$	
Not categorized	1667 (12 11)	209 (8.94)	2670 (18 68)	338 (13.89)	
Admission type $\pi$ (%)	1007 (12.11)	207 (0.71)	20/0 (10.00)	556 (15.67)	
Emergency	10608 (77.07)	1970 (84 30)	11061(77.4)	2072 (85.16)	
Elective	2157(22.02)	267(157)	2220 (22.6)	20/2 (00.10)	
ITTL during admission at (9/)	201(22.93)	$\frac{367(13.7)}{72(2.12)}$	3229(22.0)	501(14.04)	
IIO during admission, n (76)	501 (2.19)	/3 (3.12)	329 (2.30)	69 (2.84)	
HKG, $n$ (%)	010 (6 (1)	146 (6 24)	007 (6 00)	157 (6.45)	
A (Nervous system, pain management)	910 (6.61)	146 (6.24)	997 (6.98)	157 (6.45)	
B (Eyes and periorbital)	4/ (0.34)	5 (0.21)	6/(0.4/)	9 (0.37)	
C (Mouth, head, neck, ears)	58/ (4.26)	61 (2.61)	527 (3.69)	57 (2.34)	
D (Thoracic)	14/2 (10.69)	303 (12.97)	1415 (9.9)	287 (11.8)	
E (Cardiac)	1919 (13.94)	415 (17.76)	2152 (15.06)	423 (17.39)	
F (Digestive system)	2093 (15.21)	303 (12.97)	2098 (14.68)	294 (12.08)	
G (Hepatobiliary and pancreatic system)	476 (3.46)	60 (2.57)	509 (3.56)	74 (3.04)	
H (Orthopaedic)	2022 (14.69)	227 (9.71)	1934 (13.53)	269 (11.06)	
J (Skin)	346 (2.51)	52 (2.23)	357 (2.50)	80 (3.29)	
K (Endocrine system)	151 (1.1)	156 (6.68)	162 (1.13)	148 (6.08)	
L (Renal, urological, male reproductive system)	1034 (7.51)	252 (10.78)	1147 (8.03)	230 (9.45)	
M (Female reproductive system)	705 (5.12)	30 (1.28)	728 (5.09)	47 (1.93)	
N (Obstetric)	91 (0.66)	1 (0.04)	113 (0.79)	1 (0.04)	
P (Paediatric)	166 (1.21)	15 (0.64)	178 (1.25)	6 (0.25)	
O (Vascular)	183 (1.33)	82 (3.51)	125 (0.87)	56 (2.3)	
R (Diagnostic imaging)	46 (0.33)	15 (0.64)	70 (0.49)	15(0.62)	
S (Haematological chemotherany radiotherany specialist palliative	288 (2.09)	32(1.37)	305 (2.13)	34(14)	
care)	200 (210))	02 (1107)	000 (2:10)	0. (1)	
U (Undefined groups)	1 (0.01)	0	10(0.07)	0	
V (Trauma emergency medicine rehabilitation)	97 (0.7)	8 (0.34)	10(0.07) 113(0.79)	31 (1 27)	
W (Immunology infectious diseases, other healthcare contacts)	1131 (8 22)	174(745)	1283 (8.98)	215(8.83)	
$MD_{m}(%)$	1131 (0.22)	1/+ (/.+3)	1205 (0.20)	215 (0.05)	
(n(70), n(70))	2071 (20.07)	500 (25 42)	2011 (20 52)	(40, (20, 45))	
	28/1(20.9/)	478 (20 CO)	2711(20.33)	518 (21.40)	
1	28/1(20.97)	4/8 (20.60)	2840(20.03)	318 (21.40)	
2	2/66 (20.21)	433(18.73)	2/63 (19.49)	4/3 (19.63)	
	2530 (18.48)	387 (16.68)	2621 (18.49)	404 (16.69)	
4 (least deprived)	2650 (19.36)	430 (18.53)	3046 (21.46)	384 (15.83)	
Charlson Comorbidity score, $n$ (%)					
0	9390 (68.22)	1093 (46.77)	9558 (66.89)	1104 (45.38)	
1	1970 (14.31)	445 (19.04)	2126 (14.86)	461 (18.95)	
2+	2405 (17.47)	799 (34.19)	2606 (18.24)	868 (35.68)	

HRG, Health Resource Group; IMD, index of multiple deprivation; IQR, interquartile range; ITU, intensive therapy unit.

shown in Table 3. The interrupted time series analysis demonstrated a statistically significant (P=0.017) accelera tion in the trend for reducing length of stay in people with diabetes after the intervention; in people without diabetes there was no evidence of any change in trend in the post intervention period (P=0.48). Readmissions for people both with and without diabetes showed a statistically significant increase after the intervention (P<0.001 and P<0.001, respectively; Fig. 1).

The before and after analysis demonstrated a reduction in mortality rates in both those with and without diabetes; however, in the time series analysis, there was no evidence for a difference in mortality in people with diabetes (P=0.305), whereas in those without diabetes there was an apparent increase (P = 0.007; Fig. 1). Detailed time series model findings with explanatory notes are given in Table S1.

#### Discussion

When considered together, the before and after study and interrupted time series analysis show that the DICE project led to a significant reduction in length of stay for people with diabetes beyond that observed in people without diabetes. The reduction in mortality observed in the before and after

#### Table 2 Results of the before and after analysis

	People with diabetes 2013	People with diabetes 2014	People without diabetes 2013	People without diabetes 2014
Population	2337	2433	13 765	14 290
Mortality, n	152	106	503	436
Mortality rate, %	6.5	4.4	3.7	3.1
Unadjusted mortality odds ratio	0.66(0.51, 0.85)		0.82(0.72, 0.93)	
Adjusted <sup>*</sup> odds ratio (95% CI)	0.63 (0.48, 0.82)		0.81 (0.70, 0.93)	
Median length of stay, days	3.5	3.0	2.0	1.9
Mean length of stay, days	7.5	6.7	5.0	4.7
Unadjusted length of stay relative ratio (95% CI)	0.92 (0.84, 0.99)		0.93 (0.90, 0.96)	
Adjusted <sup>*</sup> length of stay relative ratio (95% CI)	0.89 (0.83, 0.97)		0.93 (0.90, 0.96)	
30 day readmissions, n	401	389	1614	1693
Readmission rate, %	17.2	16.0	11.7	11.9
Unadjusted readmission odds ratio (95% CI)	0.92 (0.79, 1.07)		1.02 (0.94, 1.09)	
Adjusted <sup>*</sup> readmission odds ratio (95% CI)	0.96 (0.82, 1.12)		1.04 (0.96, 1.12)	

\*Adjusted for age, sex, ethnic group, IMD quintile, healthcare resource group category, intensive therapy unit episode, modified Charlson comorbidity score, and emergency/elective admission.

Table 3 Baseline characteristics of individuals inc	cluded in the interrupted time series analysis
---	--

	2008		2009		2010			
	Non diabetes	Diabetes	Non diabetes	Diabetes	Non diabetes	Diabetes		
Population, <i>n</i> Men, <i>n</i> (%) Age	27 360 12 152 (44.42)	3724 2064 (55.4)	29 437 13 146 (44.7)	3982 2038 (51.2)	29 644 13 000 (43.9)	4491 2339 (52.1)		
Mean (sD) Median (IQR)	61.2 (21) 64 (25, 79)	61.2 (21)71.0 (14.6)64 (25, 79)74 (63, 81)		60.65 (21.5)70.6 (15.4)64 (44, 79)73 (63, 81)		70.7 (15.7) 74 (63, 82)		
	2011		2012		2013			
	Non diabetes	Diabetes	Non diabetes	Diabetes	Non diabetes	Diabetes		
Population, $n$ Men, $n$ (%)	27 338 12 203 (44.64)	4266 2252 (52.8)	26 551 11 764 (44.31)	4363 2370 (54.3)	27 712 12 656 (45.67)	4646 2445 (52.63)		
Mean (SD) Median (IQR)	61.5 (21.5) 65 (45, 80)	70.7 (15.4) 74 (62, 82)	61.3 (21.6) 65 (45, 80)	70.7 (15.6) 74 (63, 82)	61.6 (21.6) 65 (45, 80)	71.1 (15.6) 75 (63, 82)		
	2014		2015		2016*			
	Non diabetes	Diabetes	Non diabetes	Diabetes	Non diabetes	Diabetes		
Population, <i>n</i> Men, <i>n</i> (%) Age	28 929 12 889 (44.5)	5111 2772 (54.24)	30483 13 860 (45.5)	5665 3089 (54.53)	13159 1250 (53.35)	2343 5951 (45.2)		
Mean (SD) Median (IQR)	61.9 (21.8) 66 (45, 80)	71.9 (15.2) 75 (65, 83)	62.7 (21.6) 67 (47, 81)	72.2 (14.8) 75 (65, 83)	61.9 (21.7) 66 (46, 80)	71.4 (15.7) 74 (63, 83)		

IQR, interquartile range. \*6 months of data included (January to June).

analysis was not seen in the interrupted time series analysis. Notably, in the interrupted time series analysis, mortality increased in those without diabetes in contrast to those with diabetes. Readmissions, as expected, were significantly higher in people with diabetes than in those without diabetes, although lower than reported in other studies [23]. After the intervention, readmissions continued to increase in parallel with inpatients without diabetes.

Diabetes presents a significant burden for inpatient ser vices, and people with diabetes have higher inpatient mortal ity, morbidity and hospital acquired complication rates, longer length of stay and higher readmission rates [12,24].



FIGURE 1 Interrupted time series analysis 2008 2016.

As well as the obvious benefits to people with diabetes, improvement in these outcomes could have very significant financial benefits. A limited number of studies suggest that the presence of diabetes teams reduces length of stay, but these studies are historic and relate to a time when length of stay was considerably longer than today. The impact of diabetes inpatient teams on readmission rates has been evaluated in studies, with differing outcomes reported [23,25]. One such study found reduced 30 day readmissions in people admitted to medical services, while readmissions to surgical services increased [26]; in the present study, only a relatively small proportion of the inpatients with diabetes was included in the intervention, in contrast to the present study, which impacted the whole diabetes inpatient population and additionally factored in the changes in the length of stay and readmissions of those without diabetes into the analyses.

The present study is the first to evaluate the effect of a whole systems approach to inpatient diabetes care on length of stay, mortality and readmissions across all medical and surgical adult wards in an acute general hospital. A key element of the DICE programme was the involvement of all members of the diabetes team in the design and implemen tation of novel interventions aimed at delivering rapid, evidence based, high quality care and education of non specialist healthcare staff. Unlike other studies, it is unique in that it uses interrupted time series analysis to adjust for changes in the background population.

The results of the interrupted time series analysis highlight the limitations of the before and after study design, which is widely used to assess the impact of healthcare interventions. The before and after analysis indicated a significant reduc tion in length of stay and mortality, which was greater in people with diabetes than in those without; however, in the interrupted time series analysis, while reduction in length of stay remained significant and was shown to be attributable to implementation of the DICE project, the reduction in mortality was not. In the case of mortality, using the 6 month pre intervention group alone as a control would have produced a false positive result. Furthermore, the interrupted time series analysis revealed a wider issue of increasing 30 day readmissions in all patients, indicating the presence of systemic factors, outside of the DICE project, influencing readmissions to the hospital.

Previous studies have reported a median reduction in length of stay of 3 days when employing a diabetes inpatient specialist nurse for inpatient care [16]; however, the most recent of these was conducted in 2008 and, with changes in practice, stretched resources and pressures on hospital beds, it is not clear whether similar improvements would be seen today. The results of the present analysis showed a more modest, but significant and ongoing, reduction in length of stay. With 1 bed day estimated to cost the NHS £400 this sustained reduction in length of stay will have saved the trust over £2 m in the 3 years since the DICE project was implemented [27].

Few studies have employed the quasi experimental methodology of interrupted time series analysis to assess the impact of care interventions in the clinical setting, with before and after analysis being the more widely used method [18]. This is the first study to use interrupted time series analysis to examine length of stay, readmission and mortality after implementation of a whole systems approach to inpa tient diabetes care; however, interrupted time series analysis is gaining favour and has been used to assess the impact and successful implementation of national guidance [28].

In the present analysis two analytical methodologies were combined to address the limitations associated with using before and after analysis in isolation, and to account for unknown confounders outside the intervention which might affect the observed outcomes. The study used routinely collected data taken from inpatient medical records; this captures patients' hospital stay and the majority of informa tion and clinical codes are therefore well recorded. It is possible, however, that recording of some comorbidities might be incomplete. Furthermore, the intervention and analysis are based on data from a single hospital trust; it is therefore not clear whether the results would be generaliz able to other hospitals. Finally, being a multi systems approach it is not possible to determine which of the multiple interventions had the greatest impact on patient outcomes, nevertheless it is unlikely that any of the interventions would be detrimental to diabetes care.

In conclusion, the DICE project showed that a well staffed inpatient team, delivering care through a whole systems approach and weekend working led to a sustained reduction in length of stay for inpatients with diabetes, which has important financial implications. With multiple factors influencing patient length of stay and mortality in the inpatient setting, the methodology used in the present study shows the additional information that can be gained by using interrupted time series analysis, and highlights the benefit of using a negative control group comprising patients without a diagnosis of diabetes. The authors of the present study advocate the use of this quasi experimental method ology for assessing the impact of interventions in the clinical setting.

#### **Funding sources**

An unrestricted grant was received to carry out the DICE project from Sanofi Diabetes UK. Tom Marshall is supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care West Midlands. The views expressed are those of the author and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care.

#### **Competing interests**

None declared.

#### **Ethical approval**

The study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of [INSTITUTION], and informed consent was obtained from all participants. This research study was conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### References

- 1 Kanvos P, van den Aardweg S, Schurer W. Diabetes expenditure, burden of disease and management 5 EU countries. LSE Health, London school of Economics, 2012.
- 2 NHS Digital. National diabetes inpatient Audit 2011. Available at https://digital.nhs.uk/catalougue/PUB06279. Last accessed 6 Febru ary 2017.
- 3 NHS Digital. National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NADiA) 2017. Available at https://digital.nhs.uk/data and information/publica tions/statistical/national diabetes inpatient audit/national diabetes inpatient audit nadia 2017. Last accessed 13 September 2018.
- 4 Meng YY, Pickett M, Babey SH, Davis AC, Goldstein H. Diabetes tied to a third of California hospital stays, driving health care costs higher. Los Angeles, Los Angeles UCLA Center for Health Policy Research and California Center for Public Health Advocacy, 2014. Available at http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/publications/search/pages/ detail.aspx?PubID=1278 Last accessed 27 September 2015.
- 5 Kerr M. Inpatient Care for People with Diabetes: The Economic Case for Change. : NHS diabetes, November 2011. Available at https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resources s3/2017 10/Inpatient%20 Care%20for%20People%20with%20Diabetes%20%20The%20 Economic%20Nov%202011 1.pdf. Last accessed 27 September 2015.
- 6 American Diabetes Association. Economic Costs of Diabetes in the U.S. in 2017. *Diabetes Care* 2018; 41: 917–928.
- 7 Donze J, Lipsitz S, Bates BW, Schinipper JL. Causes and patterns of readmissions in patients with common comorbidities: retrospecitve cohort study. *BMJ* 2013; 347: f7171.
- 8 Sampson MJ, Dozio N, Ferguson B, Dhatariya K. Total and excess bed occupancy by age, speciality and insulin use for nearly one million diabetes patients discharged from all English Acute Hospi tals. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2007; 1: 92–98.
- 9 Umpierrez GE, Hellman R, Korytkowski MT, Kosiborod M, Maynard GA, Montori VM *et al.* Endocrine Society. Management of hyperglycaemia in hospitalized patients in non critical care setting: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocroniol Metab* 2013; 97: 16 38.
- 10 Holman N, Hilson R, Young RK. Excess mortality during hospital stays among patients with recorded diabetes compared with those without diabetes. *Diabet Med* 2013; 30: 1393–1402.
- 11 Pomposelli JJ, Baxter JK, Baineau TJ. Early Postoperative Glucose Control Predicts Nosocomial Infection Rate in Diabetic Patients. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr* 1998; 22: 77 81.
- 12 Nirantharakumar K, Marshall T, Kennedy A, Narendran P, Hemming K, Coleman JJ. Hypoglycaemia is associated with increased length of stay and mortality in people with diabetes who are hosptialized. *Diabet Med* 2012; **29**: e445 e448.
- 13 Thomas JW, Guire KE, Horvat GG. Is patient length of stay related to quality of care? *Hosp Health Serv Adm* 1997; 42: 489 507.
- 14 Glickman SW, Boulding W, Manary M, Staelin R. Patient Satisfaction and Its Relationship With Clinical Quality and Inpatient mortality in myocardial infarction. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2010; 3: 188–195.
- 15 NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement. Quality and Productivity case study. NICE, 2013. Available at https://www.

nice.org.uk/savingsandproductivityandlocalpracticeresource?xml: id=2627. Last accessed 3 July 2018.

- 16 Davies M, Dixon S, Currie CJ, Davis RE, Peers JR. Evaluation of a hospital diabetes specialist nursing service:a randomised controlled trial. *Diabet Med* 2001; 18: 301–307.
- 17 Flanagan D, Moore E, Baker S, Wright D. Diabetes care in hospital the impatct of a dedicated diabetes inpatient team. *Diabet Med* 2008; 25: 147–151.
- 18 Biglan A, Ary D, Wagenaar AC. The value of interrupted time series experiments for community intervention research. *Prev Sci* 2000; 1: 31 49.
- 19 Lagarde M. How to do (or not to do)..Assessing the impact of a policy change with routine longitudinal data. *Health Policy Plan* 2011; 27: 76 83.
- 20 Rayman G, Vas P, Baker N, Taylor C. A simple and novel method to identify patients with diabetes at risk of foot ulceration. *Diabetes Care* 2011; **34**: 1517 1518.
- 21 Rajendran R, Raound RM, Kerry C, Barker S, Rayman G. Diabetes patient at risk score a novel sstem for triaging approriate referrals or inpatients with diabetes to the diabetes team. *Clin Med* (*London*) 2015; **15**: 229 233.
- 22 Taylor CG, Morris C, Rayman G. An interactive 1 hour educational programme for junior doctors increases their confi dence and improves inpatient diabetes care. *Diabet Med* 2012; 1574 1578.
- 23 Ostling S, Wyckoff J, Ciarkowski SL, Pai CW, Choe HM, Bahl V *et al.* The relationship between diabetes mellitus and 30 day readmission rates. *Clin Diabetes Endocrinol* 2017; **3**: 3.
- 24 Krinsley JS, Maurer P, Holewinski S, Hayes R, McComsey D, Umpierrez GE *et al.* Glucose Control, Diabetes Status, and Mortality in Critically Ill Patients: The Continuum From Intensive Care Unit Admission to Hospital Discharge. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2017; 92: 1019 1029.
- 25 Koproski J, Pretto Z, Poretsky L. Effects of an intervention by a diabetes team in hospitalized patients with diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 1997; 20: 1553 1555.
- 26 Bansal V, Mottalib A, Pawar TK, Abbasakoor N, Chuang E, Chaudhry A *et al.* Inpatient diabetes management by specialized diabetes team versus primary service team in non critical care units: impact on 30 day readmission rate and hospital cost. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care* 2018; 6: e000460.
- 27 NHS right care. RightCare scenario:The variation between stan dard and optimal pathways. NHS England, 2016. Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp content/uploads/sites/40/ 2016/08/janet story narr.pdf. Last accessed 13 September 2018.
- 28 MacBride Stewart S, Marwick C, Houston N, Watt I, Patton A, Guthrie B. Evaluation of a complex intervention to improve primary care prescribing: a phase IV segmented regression inter rupted time series analysis. Br J Gen Pract 2017; 67: e352 e360.

#### **Supporting Information**

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Appendix S1. The DICE programme.

Appendix S2. Methods..

Figure S1. DICE chart illustration of insulin profiles.

Figure S2. DICE chart illustration of hyperglycaemia treatment algorithm.

Figure S3. DICE chart illustration of bedtime snack sticker. Table S1. Results of the ITS analysis.

# CHAPTER 3

# Chapter 3: Impact of diabetes specialist nurses on inpatient care: a systematic review

The concept for the systematic review was determined by me as the primary researcher and I carried out initial scoping on the topic of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses and subsequently defined the research question. From this I designed the review, determining the parameters and creating relevant search terms from previous similar studies, ensuring the Boelean terms being used were inclusive. The data extraction and initial selection of papers from the titles and abstracts for both the primary and secondary extraction were carried out by me as the primary researcher. Selection of papers and data extraction was carried out independently by myself and a secondary researcher on the fully obtained text. From this, I interpreted the data and wrote the review.

# Impact of diabetes specialist nurses on inpatient care: a systematic review

Dr F Akiboye<sup>1,2</sup> Dr. H K Sihre<sup>2</sup>, Miss M Al Mulhem<sup>2</sup>, Prof G Rayman<sup>3</sup>, Dr K Nirantharakumar<sup>2</sup>, Dr N J Adderley<sup>2</sup>

Affiliations:

- 1. University Hospital Southampton, Tremona Road, Southampton, SO16 6YD
- 2. University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT
- 3. Ipswich Hospital, Heath Road, Ipswich, IP4 5PD

# Contributions:

The review was conducted primarily by Dr F Akiboye with Dr H Sihre acting as a second reviewer independently selecting abstracts for inclusion against eligibility criteria, validating chosen papers and discussion of the final critical appraisal. Miss M Al Mulhem acted as a second reviewer to select papers and quality assess papers from the second data extraction and independently extract data from the selected papers. Dr N Adderley supported writing the paper. Dr K Nirantharakumar and Professor G Rayman helped inform the scope of the review with Professor Rayman providing expert opinion in the field of inpatient diabetes. All authors reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

Support: No funding was received for this review

# Abstract

Background: People with diabetes have longer hospital stays and poorer clinical outcomes. Diabetes inpatient specialist nurses have been introduced to improve care.

Aims: To assess the evidence for the benefit of diabetes specialist nurses in the inpatient setting.

Methods: A systematic search of MEDLINE (ovid), Embase (ovid), CINAHL (EBSCO) and Web of Science core collection from January 1998 to September 2019 was performed using key terms for diabetes specialist nurses and hospital setting. Studies measuring patient care using any standardised or validated outcome measures, after introduction of a dedicated diabetes specialist nurse or nursing team were eligible for inclusion and findings reported by narrative synthesis.

Results: There were 10 studies which met the inclusion criteria. One was a randomised controlled study and the remaining 9 studies were before and after studies with 3 of them using a time series analysis methodology. The majority reported length of stay (LOS) and showed a reduction in median LOS by between 0.5 and 3 days. Reductions in bed occupancy ranged from 39 to 47%. There was a paucity of evidence for outcomes related to patient care with some measures limited to single studies. These included a 52% reduction in total drug errors, improved patient knowledge, higher patient satisfaction and improved glycaemic control post discharge. There was no reduction of mortality observed.

Conclusions: These studies suggest a reduction in length of stay and improved clinical care for patients with diabetes after the introduction of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses. Future research should examine a range of benefits associated with diabetes inpatient specialist nurse delivered services, including reduction of inpatient complications such as infections and cardiovascular events.

### Trial registration

This review was registered on the PROSPERO database on 11/10/2017, registration number CRD42017076478.

# Introduction

The incidence of diabetes continues to rise with the International Diabetes Federation predicting its prevalence will reach 9.9% globally by 2030 (1). People with diabetes tend to have longer length of stay and are at greater risk of complications, often associated with hyperglycaemia (2). The National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA) in 2019 showed that patients with diabetes account for 18% of bed occupancy, an increase from 14% in 2010 (3). For the majority of patients diabetes is a secondary diagnosis rather than the primary cause for admission, therefore patients are more commonly under the care of non-diabetes specialists. The training doctors on these teams report lack of further education in diabetes after qualifying with only 28% feeling fully confident in managing diabetes (4) The delivery of care to patients with diabetes, as with a number of other specialities, has moved towards specialist nurses and nursing teams. They provide support and education for staff and patients across specialities and often provide phone or clinic contact to avoid hospital admission or facilitate discharge of patients in a timely fashion. The need for diabetes inpatient specialist nurses (DISNs) has been stated repeatedly and the economic case for their presence has been published by NHS diabetes in 2012 in a report titled "Specialist diabetes inpatient nurses cost-effectively improve care" (5; 6; 7). Despite strong endorsements, including a 2003 statement from the Department of Health (DH) highlighting the importance of effective care for inpatients with diabetes, and a 2011 National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) quality measure, advising at least one diabetes specialist nurse with an inpatient focus per 300 beds, DISNs are not ubiquitous (8; 9). NaDIA 2018 showed that 22% of hospitals still do not have a dedicated DISN (10).

There are no previous systematic reviews assessing the impact of diabetes specialist nurses in the inpatient setting. A Cochrane review in 2003 by Loveman *et al.* examined the role of diabetes specialist nurses focused predominantly on the community setting and did not find their introduction to be superior to standard care for improving care overall (11). The impact of specialist nurses for all specialities has been assessed in the context of the changing work force and nurses work patterns in a Cochrane review by Butler et al in 2011 (12). This review of randomised controlled trials looked at any objective measure of patient or staff outcome and found that the introduction of specialist nurses reduced length of stay and the development of pressure ulcers in hospital. Whilst this review selected from a range of specialist areas, there was only one study included that was specific to diabetes (13). On introducing diabetes specialist nurses, many trusts encouraged their teams to document their activity and their effectiveness. Consequently, there are a number of 'before and after studies' looking at the effectiveness of diabetes specialist nurses that have not been assessed systematically. A recent hermeneutic review conducted by Lawler et al (14) explores the scope of diabetes specialist nurses' role, both in the community and hospital. It provides a favourable appraisal of the literature for the effectiveness of diabetes specialist nurses in terms of reduced patients harms, educational value and continuity of care. This review however was not conducted systematically and did not include an appraisal of the quality of the evidence. While this phenomenological approach provides a broad and rich view of the range and impact of specialist nurses, it is subject to reviewer bias in study selection.

Therefore, we conducted a systematic review with the aim of examining the existing evidence on the impact of diabetes inpatient nurses on patient and staff outcomes and to highlight areas for further research.

# Objectives

This review aims to look at the measured impact of introducing a DISN or dedicated diabetes inpatient nursing team on hospitalised adult inpatients with diabetes. For this assessment of impact a measured comparison of the service, patient outcomes, knowledge or ability of patients with diabetes before and after the introduction of the DISN(s) could be included.

# Methods

The review was conducted in accordance with Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses Protocols (PRISMA-P) guidelines.

# Registration

A protocol for this systematic review is registered on PROSPERO 11/10/2017 (registration: CRD42017076478).

# Study design

All relevant published studies from 1<sup>st</sup> January 1998 to 1<sup>st</sup> September 2019 were sought for inclusion in this study as recent decades have seen a movement towards promoting DISNs in the literature and national guidance (13; 15). There was no restriction on the study design selected for inclusion, therefore randomised controlled trials (RCTs), quasi-experimental studies and observational studies, including before and after studies and interrupted time series analysis studies were included. There was no language restriction applied during the search.

# **Participants**

The study participants were hospital inpatients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes mellitus. The hospitals include acute and non-acute hospitals ranging from small to large in size. Both public and private and teaching and non-teaching organisations were included.

# Interventions

Studies that involved the introduction or addition of one or more dedicated diabetes inpatient specialist nurse (DISN), nurse prescriber, nurse educator or other equivalent terms used internationally, were included. In focusing on reviewing the impact of new or additional DISNs, this review does not examine the specific tasks undertaken by nurses in their role. Studies extending the scope of an existing outpatient nurse to inpatient work or an inpatient team to provide an outpatient service or outreach service of in-post DISNs to the emergency department were excluded. These were deemed more of an evaluation service delivery, which is beyond the scope of this review. In a similar manner those studies upskilling an existing inpatient specialist nurse in post, for example with prescribing training, were not included. Studies substituting physician for a specialist nurse were also excluded.

# **Outcomes measures**

This review examined any objective measures of patient outcomes including mortality, inhospital death, length of stay, and readmission. Also of interest were objectively measured "nursing sensitive patient outcomes", defined by Doran (2003) as those that are "relevant, based on nurses' scope and domain of practice, and for which there is empirical evidence linking nursing inputs and interventions to the outcomes" (16). Examples include infections, falls, pressure ulcers, cardiovascular events, hypoglycaemia rates or medication errors. Objective measures of patient satisfaction, quality of life and disease impact were only included in this review if they used a validated tool, such as the Diabetes Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for inpatients (DTSQ-IP) (17).

# Search method for identification of studies

A search was conducted in MEDLINE (ovid), Embase (ovid), CINAHL (EBSCO) and Web of Science core collection from 1<sup>st</sup> January 1998 to 30 September 2019. The search strategy used exploded MeSH terms for variants of combinations of relevant keywords, including study population: "inpatients" OR "hospital" AND "diabetes mellitus", AND intervention: "specialist nurse". The MEDLINE search strategy is shown in supplementary table 1 and was adapted to the syntax of the aforementioned databases.

In addition, reference lists of all included papers and relevant literature such as position statements were screened to identify any further publications.

# Data collection and analysis

Titles and abstracts were screened by the primary reviewer (FA) for relevance to the population and intervention. The full articles for potentially relevant papers were then obtained. Full texts of obtained articles were read independently by two reviewers, FA and HS or MAM, and included if they fulfilled all of the following 5 pre-established criteria:

- 1. an original study published in full;
- 2. participants were patients with diabetes (type 1 or 2);
- 3. it was hospital-based;
- 4. the intervention involved a new or additional diabetes inpatient specialist nurse;
- 5. the outcomes were formal extraction or collection of any objective or standardised data from or relating to participating patients.

Studies that could not be accessed in full (such as conference abstracts) were excluded, as there was insufficient detail to determine whether they met the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Where the full article was available, but insufficient information was available to

determine whether the study was eligible for inclusion, the authors were contacted to clarify whether the study fulfilled the inclusion criteria. We included studies that provided any widely accepted measures, quantitative data and standardised or validated questionnaires. Any disagreement was discussed and where necessary resolved in collaboration with a third independent reviewer (KN).

Data extraction was carried out independently by the primary reviewer (FA) and a second reviewer (MAM) using forms developed for the study (after piloting the forms in two contrasting, included studies (18; 19). The data collected included the study design, setting, study baseline and follow-up period, sample size, patient population studied and whether the changes in the background patient population (without diabetes) were also measured. For each study, any objective variable was recorded as a primary outcomes with the validated or modified assessments recorded as secondary outcomes. An example data collection sheet is shown in appendix 1.

# Quality assessment

All studies were assessed for risk of bias using the relevant tool according to study design. The Cochrane RCT risk of bias tool was used for randomised controlled trials and the NIH National Heart Lung and Blood Institute Quality Assessment Tool for Before-After (Pre-Post) Studies, including interrupted time series analysis (20; 21)

# Data analysis

The extracted data comprising measured changes and effect sizes from included studies was analysed in the broader context of the field, with exploration of the relationships between the data. A preliminary tabulated analysis is presented as well as a more detailed narrative synthesis. A meta-analysis was not conducted as the number of studies with overlapping outcomes was limited.

# Results

# Results of the search

The initial search extracted on 1st May 2017 identified 8464 unique studies and a further 1209 in the second search. The full articles for 47 potentially relevant studies were obtained and assessed independently by the two reviewers. Of the total 47 articles, 10 met the inclusion criteria for final inclusion in the study. Study selection is summarised in the flow diagram in figure 1.



FIGURE 1. FLOW DIAGRAM FOR STUDY SELECTION

# Description of included studies

Of the 10 studies included there was one prospective randomised controlled trial by Davies et al. (18) and two controlled cohort studies by Cavan et al and Gardiner et al (22; 23). The remaining seven studies were before and after cohort studies (19; 24; 25; 26; 27; 28; 29). The Pledger, Sampson and Akiboye studies (19; 29; 24) incorporated time series design in the methodology with sequential measurements over the study duration.

Sample size varied from under 30 patients in each arm, in the Carey study (26), to around 25,000 in the Cavan study (22). The follow-up period ranged from 3 months in the Carey and Courtenay (26; 25) studies to 5 years in the Flanagan study (27) and is summarised for included studies in table 1.

All of the studies looked at patients over a range of disciplines specifying either inclusion of patients from medicine and surgery or that participant inclusion was "unselected". While all 9 before and after studies were looking at patients with diabetes, six of them additionally examined the background population without diabetes to account for trends of confounders in the hospital population (29; 19; 22; 27; 28; 24).

Notably, the Courtenay (25) and Carey (26) papers were conducted in the same trust over the same time period and the Carey paper appears to be a subgroup analysis using the same data; the results of the small Carey study are therefore only considered where the authors reported additional outcomes to the Courtenay study.

The aim for all included studies was to determine the impact of one or more DISNs on a range of patient outcomes within a service. As any objectively measured or standardised outcome could be included, all are reported. The primary stated outcome for each study is indicated in table 2.

Study	Design	Hospital type	Number of additional DISNs (WTE)	Sample size	Patient population	Follow- up duration	Background population assessed
Davies 2001 (18)	Prospective RCT	University hospital	1	152 148	Medical and surgical referrals	One year post discharge	NA
Cavan 2001 (22)	Controlled cohort study	District general	1	24323 24365	Medical and surgical	1 year 1 year	yes

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of included studies

Pledger	Before and	District	0.85 WTE	Not	Unselected	7/12	yes
2005 (19)	after/ time series analysis	general		disclosed Not disclosed	referrals	6/12	
Sampson 2006 (24)	Before and after/ time series analysis	University hospital	1	14722	Medical and surgical	4 years 2 years	yes
Courtenay 2007 (25)	Before and after	District general	1	187 265	Med and surgical patients with DM on treatment	3/12 3/12	No
Carey 2008 (26)	Before and after	District general	1	27 29	Med and surgical patients with DM on treatment	3/12 3/12	N/A
Flanagan 2008 (27)	Before and after	Large teaching 1200 bed	5	3903 24031	Medical and surgical patients	1 year 5 years	yes
Gardiner 2018 (23)	Prospective cohort study	Large teaching hospital	2 (1 DISN and 1 educator)	35 32	Patients referred to DM service with poor glycaemic control	Baseline and 3/12 post discharg e 12/12 study	N/A
Mandel 2019 (28)	Before and after	Medical and surgical	2 (1 practitioner , 1 educator)	850	Medical and surgical patients	1/12 1/12	yes
Akiboye 2019 (29)	Before and after/ time series analysis	District general	2.5 (increase of 1.5 WTE)	2337 2433	Medical and surgical patients	6 /12 B&A 6 yrs 2.5 yrs	yes

WTE= whole time equivalents

Table 2. Primary outcomes across the reported studies

Study	Length of stay	Excess length of stay	Bed occupancy	Readmission	Insulin errors	Oral hypoglycaemic agent errors	Mortality	Mean blood glucose
Davies	$\checkmark$	July		$\leftrightarrow$				
2001								
Cavan	$\downarrow$		$\downarrow$					
2001								
Pledger	$\downarrow$		$\downarrow$					
2005								
Sampson		$\checkmark$						
2006								
Courtenay	$\downarrow$				$\downarrow$	$\checkmark$		
2007								
Carey	$\leftrightarrow$				$\downarrow$	$\checkmark$		
2008								
Flanagan	$\downarrow$		$\downarrow$					
2008								
Gardiner								$\checkmark$
2017								
Mandel	$\downarrow$			$\checkmark$				
2017								
Akiboye	$\downarrow$			$\leftrightarrow$			$\leftrightarrow$	
2019								

# Quality of the evidence and risk of bias in included studies

All of the studies included, other than the one randomised controlled study (18), were observational studies using either administrative data or data collected by the DISNs. The quality of the evidence in the identified studies was therefore mixed.

The single RCT (Davies 2001) was assessed using the Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomised controlled trials and was assessed to be of fair quality with unclear bias due to insufficient information in the categories of random sequence generation and allocation concealment.

Using the NIIR quality assessment tool, the Sampson 2006, Courtenay 2007, Carey 2008, Flanagan 2008, and Akiboye 2019 studies were assessed as having a low risk of bias (24; 25; 26; 27; 29). The studies by Cavan 2001, Pledger 2005, Gardiner 2018 and Mandel 2019 (22; 19; 23; 28) were assessed to be of moderate risk of bias, as detailed in table 3. The studies are arranged by year of publication and the quality is generally higher in the more recent studies. Pledger is the weakest study with the number of participants not disclosed and a lack of clarity around several other categories which were not reported particularly around the selection and eligibility of participants (19), but on further discussion it was included in the review as a visual representation of the outcome is presented, which was taken into account in this report. However, unlike all other studies the objectives are not clearly stated. Selection bias was reduced in most studies by including all patients with diabetes in certain clinical areas. The review design for reporting on objective and validated criteria was corroborated by all studies fulfilling this component of the quality assessment tool. It was difficult to tell in all except the Akiboye 2019 study (29), whether the researchers were blind to the intervention.

	Was the study question or objective clearly stated	Were eligibility/selection criteria for the study population prespecified and clearly described?	Were the participants in the study representative of those who would be eligible for intervention in the general or clinical population of interest?	Were all eligible participant that met the pre-specified entry criteria enrolled?	Was the sample size sufficiently large to provide confidence in the findings?	Was the intervention clearly described and delivered consistently across the study population?	Were the outcome measures prespecified, clearly defined, valid and reliable assessed consistently across all study participants?	Were the people assessing the outcomes blinded to the participants' interventions?	Was the loss to follow-up after baseline 20% or less? were those lost to follow-up accounted for in the analysis?	Did the statistical methods examine changes in outcome measures from before to after the intervention? Were statistical tests done that provided p values for the pre-to-post changes?	Were outcome measures of interest taken multiple times before the intervention and multiple times after the intervention (i.e. did they use an interrupted time-series design?)	If the intervention was conducted at a group level (e.g. a whole hospital) did the statistical analysis take into account the issue of individual level data to determine effects at the group level?	Overall quality of study
Cavan 2001		0							0				fair
Pledger 2005			•	•	0				0	0			fair
Sampson 2006													good
Courtenay 2007					•			•					good
Carey 2008													good
Flanagan 2008									$\bigcirc$				good
Gardiner 2017													fair
Mandel 2017		•						0					fair
Akiboye 2019													good

Table 3. Risk of bias assessment using NIH quality assessment tool for before and after (pre-post) studies with no control group.

NR = not recorded, CD = can't decide, NA = not applicable.

 $\bullet$  = yes,  $\bullet$  = can't decide,  $\bullet$  = no,  $\bullet$  = not applicable,  $\bigcirc$  = not recorded.

# Outcomes

The range of outcomes reported was narrow and generally focused on length of stay, measured as mean or median, or bed occupancy as this would translate into savings for the trust employing the DISN. A summary of the outcomes is displayed in table 2.

A measure of length of stay was reported in all studies except Gardiner 2018, with the Sampson paper reporting this as excess LOS above the population without diabetes (23; 24). The studies varied in their methods for calculating length of stay with some reporting length of stay as a mean while others reported a median LOS. Bed occupancy as a percentage of patients in hospital beds with diabetes was expressed with differing timeframes and was evaluated in the studies by Cavan, Pledger and Flanagan (22; 19; 27), while the effect on readmissions was assessed in the studies by Davies, Mandel and Akiboye (18; 28; 29).

The Courtenay and Carey papers examined oral hypoglycaemic and insulin errors, with the Courtenay study providing detailed subgroup analysis of the drug errors noted in the Carey study (25; 26). The Gardiner study (23) reported change in mean blood glucose and HbA1c three months following discharge and one study additionally reported inpatient mortality as an outcome measure (Akiboye) (29).

The majority of secondary outcomes were reported in the comprehensive Davies study (18), which used validated and modified established questionnaires to measure diabetes related QOL, diabetes knowledge and patient satisfaction. The authors also sought to determine if the improvement in hospital care impacted negatively on use of community resources.

# Length of stay and bed occupancy

The length of stay measured at baseline, prior to introduction of the DSNs varied widely across studies from 7.5 (Akiboye 2019) to 9.8 (Pledger 2005) for mean measurements (29; 19) and 3.5 (Akiboye 2019) to 17.5 days (Carey 2008) for median LOS (29; 26). There was a significant reduction seen in length of stay in all except the Carey study which reported a median 3 day reduction that was not statistically significant. The median reduction in LOS reported ranged from a 0.5 to 3 day difference before and after the intervention. Those reporting a mean LOS (Pledger 2005, Flanagan 2008, Akiboye 2019) describe a smaller difference of 0.5 -1.1 days (19; 27; 29).

The three studies reporting bed occupancy (Cavan 2001, Pledger 2005, Flanagan 2008) had a larger number of participants and reported significant and sizable reductions of 36-47% (22; 27; 19).

### Readmissions

Three studies measured readmissions by various methods (Davies, Mandel, Akiboye) (18; 28; 29). Mandel and Akiboye reported 30-day readmission rate (Mandel, Akiboye) (28; 29).

The Davies study measured mean time to readmission in days while the Akiboye study also conducted an interrupted time series analysis of 30-day readmission rates over an 8-year period. There was no statistically significant impact on hospital readmissions on introduction of a diabetes specialist nurse in any of the studies over the short term.

# Drug errors

Two published studies looked at drug errors, however they were carried out in the same trust over the same period with Carey effectively a sub-group study of the Courtenay study providing more detailed drug error information. Drug errors were significantly reduced in the Courtenay 2007 and Carey 2008 studies (26; 25). Courtenay reported an overall 52.1% reduction in drug errors, while Carey specified these a 50% reduction in insulin errors and 74.5% reduction in oral hypoglycaemic agent errors (74.5%) (26; 25).

# Mean glucose

Gardiner reported statistically significant reductions in mean glucose from 13.3 mmol/l to 11.2 mmol/L (p = <0.05) and HbA1c from 10.45% to 8.96% (p = <0.05) following inpatient nurse education (23).

# Mortality

There was one study reporting mortality (29), which measured mortality with both before and after study and interrupted time series (29). The 6-month period before and after implementation of DISN showed lower mortality following the intervention in those with diabetes OR 0.63 (0.48, 0.82). In the interrupted time series analysis this was found to be a secular trend that cannot be attributable to the intervention with the reduction being not statistically significant in those with diabetes (p=0.305) (29).

# Miscellaneous outcomes

The findings of Davies' study relating to quality of patient care are reported below.

# **Quality of life**

The Audit of Diabetes Dependent Quality of Life (ADDQoL) was used to measure diabetes related quality of life and did not demonstrate any differences in quality of life between or within groups at baseline or post-discharge.

# **Diabetes knowledge**

The diabetes knowledge questionnaire was assessed with a modified version of the Diabetes Knowledge Scale accounting for insulin users and non-users. There was a significant improvement in the knowledge score post-admission in the intervention group.

# Patient satisfaction

A modified version of the Diabetes Clinic Satisfaction Questionnaire (DCSQ) was administered one week post-discharge to assess patient satisfaction and demonstrated that
91% of patients in the intervention group were satisfied with their DISN delivered care compared with 59% in the control group (p < 0.001).

#### Post discharge outcomes

The Davies study showed a trend towards fewer post discharge referrals to the community diabetes nurse, however this was not statistically significant (18).

### Gaps in the literature data

There were no studies looking at inpatient complications or standardised measures of staff satisfaction or knowledge after addition of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses.

## Discussion

There is a body of evidence indicating that DISNs reduce length of stay by a median of up to 3 days or mean of 1.14 days. Bed occupancy may be reduced by as much as 47%. It is worth noting that the earlier studies conducted between 2001 and 2006 showed the larger effect sizes when baseline length of stay was longer. Fortunately, this bed day saving does not appear to have a negative impact on readmissions or community referrals.

There is some evidence that the introduction of DISNs reduces the number of drug errors both for insulin and oral hypoglycaemic agents (25; 26). There is also evidence from one study to suggest their input has had a positive effect on inpatient glycaemic control (23). Although these benefits are encouraging National Inpatient Diabetes Audit (NaDIA) does not clearly demonstrate that trusts with inpatient nurses consistently show lower drug errors and rates of dysglycaemia. The presence of DISNs does appear to improve patient knowledge and have a positive effect on patient satisfaction (18). However, the studies concluded that DISNs do not have an impact on quality of life following discharge or on inpatient mortality (18; 29).

### Completeness and applicability of evidence

This is a comprehensive review that systematically assesses the impact of DISNs taking into account recent publications. The specialist nurses' activities undertaken in each trust were not differentiated and the majority of studies looked at nurses' impact in both medical and surgical ward settings. As such the findings reported are widely applicable to hospital trusts which still lack a dedicated DISN or where one could expand their existing team with additional DISNs.

The majority of studies looking at bed occupancy or length of stay were published before 2008 when the baseline length of stay was higher than it is currently (18; 22; 25; 17; 19; 27). With the drive to reduce bed occupancy in today's climate, the evidence for the recent length of stay reduction is limited to one study, Akiboye et al (29). While the two methodologies used in this study demonstrate a reduction in length of stay, this reduction is smaller than previous studies. Further analysis on the cost implications at present was beyond the scope of this study and may warrant re-evaluation.

This review did not identify studies evaluating in-hospital complications aside from mortality (29). Two studies in a single trust examined drug errors with significant reductions reported with DISN input in 2007 (25; 26). Today, with an increasing prevalence of diabetes it is not clear whether such a work-load is feasible or sustainable for specialist nurses and it may be that these benefits may be achieved in other ways for example with protocol development and electronic prescribing. The role of the specialist nurse in educating inpatients with diabetes appears to carry important and sustained benefits beyond discharge, which have previously been contested in the inpatient setting (23). This suggests that although the benefits seen in earlier studies such as reduced length of stay may have a smaller effect at present, there are likely other as yet unmeasured benefits to DISN input depending on their activity and assumed roles.

#### Potential biases in the review process

This study is limited by the small number of studies fulfilling the inclusion criteria, however the search strategy was set up to find all possible studies by limiting the search strategy to the population of interest and intervention of interest.

Four databases were used to locate studies and Web of Science database in particular picked up studies submitted in abstract form to conferences which have less strict criteria than papers published in full. As there has generally been a drive to publish positive findings in peer reviewed journals, the use of this broader database helped reduce publication bias. The use of all objective outcome measures from the studies included enabled a more accurate representation of the impact by including the negative secondary outcomes from studies.

#### **Study limitations**

The search criteria were broad in order to maximise the likelihood of searching and including an relevant study. The search strategy was focused on the presence of DISN by using a range of terms, however the list was not exhaustive and may have missed some of the job titles for nurses working in diabetes care, which was measured as 117 in the TREND 2019 audit (30).

The databases searched provided a limited search of grey literature, however Web of Science Core collection searches conference proceedings which were therefore included. In addition, the significant experience, knowledge and active involvement of the authors in this field provided potential papers for evaluation of inclusion.

Due to the small number of studies and restricted range of reported measures, for the outcomes of mortality, mean glucose and drug errors a description of the outcome is taken from a single dataset, limiting its applicability.

#### Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

It is widely accepted that DISNs reduce LOS and this review adds that significant reductions in LOS can still be seen today despite shorter baseline hospital spells for patients throughout the health service. Diabetes UK has published a literature review citing many of the included studies in a case for economic change advocating the use of DISNs. For this analysis the bed occupancy cost of diabetes is a dominant part of the analysis. Length of stay/ bed occupancy was therefore a primary outcome of many of the papers that contributed to the evidence. While their findings agree with those of this systematic review; the economic case does not examine the quality of the evidence prior to drawing conclusions, and with the addition of a more recent study, the current cost implications may benefit from further evaluation, given the additional benefit in terms of savings from reduced LOS may be limited (29).

The hermeneutic review conducted by Lawler et al draws on some of the same evidence to conclude that diabetes specialist nurses are cost effective and improve patient care by reducing patient length of stay and reduced inpatient harms (drug errors) (14). It also describes the diabetes specialist nurses roles as staff and patient educators as well as providing direct patient care. The efficiency and extent to which diabetes inpatient specialist nurses engage with these various roles will undoubtedly vary between hospitals and even areas within the same trust with differing outcomes. Such differentiation is beyond the scope of this and the Lawler review, however we note that the roles undertaken and outcomes produced by the diabetes specialist nurse are linked and further examination of the most effective activities of the specialist nurse could be usefully examined as a focus in future studies to help guide their key activities. Lawler et al did note that in the outpatient setting patient satisfaction was increased with the presence of diabetes specialist nurses and suggested it was due to time spent with the nurse and continuity of care (14). With the national trend towards shorter inpatient length of stay it is not clear whether the rising trend in readmissions observed in one study along with pressures on the DISN workforce are now having a negative impact on patient satisfaction documented in the Davies study of 2001. The hermeneutic review also offers a note of caution that the stretched diabetes inpatient nursing workforce will not sustain current levels of care for the projected growth in prevalence of diabetes (14). There is a concern that their presence has deskilled and reduced the confidence of non-specialist staff.

This systematic review, whilst drawing similar conclusions to existing reviews and statements tempers the interpretation of the results that has informed these recommendations due to the small number of studies and mixed quality of evidence available when the previous reviews were written. The more common use of analytical methods such as interrupted time series analysis allows a more informed view than the shorter before and after studies most widely used to examine the introduction of DISNs.

#### Conclusion

There appears to be ongoing benefit in employing DISNs within the NHS today, however the bed saving implications in recent years are less than previously and depend on the background length of stay within the trust. Future studies looking at the impact of diabetes specialist nurses on in hospital complications, up-to-date measures of patient satisfaction

and staff outcomes are warranted. With the increase in demand for DISNs, we recommend effective education of non-specialist staff and evaluation of such initiatives to ensure inpatient diabetes care is sustainable for the future.

## References

1. Whiting DR, Guariguta L, Weil C, et al. *IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates for prevalence of diabetes for 2011 and 2030.* : Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2011, Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract., Vol. 94, pp. 311-21.

2. Comino E J, Harris M F, Haas M. *Impact of diabetes on hospital admission and length of stay among a general population ages 45 year or more: a record linkage study.* 12, January 2015, BMC Health Services Research, Vol. 15.

3. NHS digital. *National Diabetes Inpatient Audit - 2019.* 2020. https://files.digital.nhs.uk/F6/49FA05/NaDIA%202019%20-%20Full%20Report%20v1.1.pdf

4. J.T. George, D. Warriner, D.J. McGrane, K.S. Rozario, H.C. Price, E.G. Wilmot, P. Kar, I.M. Stratton, E.B. Jude, G.A. McKay, on behalf of the TOPDOC Diabetes Study Team, Lack of confidence among trainee doctors in the management of diabetes: the Trainees Own Perception of Delivery of Care (TOPDOC) Diabetes Study, *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*, Volume 104, Issue 9, September 2011, Pages 761–766, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcr046</u>

5. Diabetes UK. Position Statement: Inpatient care for people with diabetes in England. 2014.

6. M, Kerr. *Inpatient care for people with diabetes - The economic case for change; NHS diabetes.* NHS diabetes, 2011.

7. A, Morton. *Specialist diabetes teams cost effectively improve care*. 7, 2012, Journal of Diabetes Nursing, Vol. 16, pp. 260-295.

8. The Department of Health. National Service Framework for diabetes. 2003.

9. Diabetes in Adults Quality standard [QS6]. National Institute for Care and health Excellence, 2011.

10. NHS digital. *National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA) 2017*. NHS digital, 2018. https://files.digital.nhs.uk/D9/2BEDFE/NaDIA%202018%20-%20Full%20Report%20V1.0.pdf

11. Loveman E, Royale P, Waugh N. *Specialist nurses in diabetes mellitus.* 2003, Cochrane diatabase of systematic reviews. CD003286.

12. Butler M, Collins R, Drennan J et al *Hospital nursing models and staff and patient related outcomes.* 2011, Cochrane database of systematic reviews. CD007019.

13. Davies M, Davis R. *Role of the hospital diabtes specialist nurse: perception vs reality.* 4, 1998, Journal of Diabetes Nursing, Vol. 2, pp. 105-107.

14. J Lawler, Trevatt P, Leary A. *Does the Diabetes Specialist Nursing workforce impact the experiences and outcomes of poeple with diabetes? A hermenutic review of the evidence*.7 Aug 2019, Hum Resour Health, Vol. 17 (65).

15. Department of health. National Service framework for diabetes: standards. London : 2001.

16. D, Doran. Nursing sensitive-outcomes. 2003.

17. J, Sampson M and Singh H, Dhatariya KK, Jones C, Walden E, Bradley. *Psychometric Validation and Use of a Novel Diabetes In-Patient Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire.* July 2009, Diabet. Med., Vol. 26 (7) pp. 729-35.

18. Davies M, S Dixon, Currie C J, Davis R E, Peters J R. *Evaluation of a hospital diabetes specialist nursing service: a randomised controlled trial.* 20 December 2001, Diabetic medicine, Vol. 8 (4)

19. Pledger, J. Journal of diabetes nursing., 2005, Vol. 9(7) p. 252.

20. NIH National Heart, lung and blood Institute. Study Quality Assessment tools. *National Heart, lung and blood institute.* [Online] [Cited: 4 February 2018.] https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-pro/guidelines/in-develop/cardiovascular-risk-reduction/tools/before-after.

21. J P T Higgins, D Altman, P C Gotzsche, [...]J A C Sterne, Cochriane Bias Methods Group, Chochrane Stastistical Methods Group. *The Cochrance Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials*.: British Medical Journal, 2011. 343, d5928.

22. Cavan D A, Hamilton P, Everett J, Kerr D. *Reducing hospital inpatient length of stay for patients with diabetes.* 2001, Diabetic Medicine, Vol. 18 (2) pp. 162-4.

23. Gardiner F W, Nwose E U, [...], Wang L. *Does a hospital diabetes in patient service reduce blood glucose and HbA1c levels. A prospective cohort study.* February 2018, Ann Med Surg (Lond.), Vol. 26, pp. 15-18.

24. Sampson M J, Crowle T, Dhatariya K, Dozio N, Greenwood R H, Heyburn P J, Jones C, Trmple R C, Walden E. *Trends in Bed Occupanciy for Inpatients with Diabetes Before and After the Introduction of a Diabtes Inpaitent Specialist nurse Service*. 9, 2006, Diabetic Medicine, Vol. 23, pp. 1008-15.

25. Courtenay M, Carey N, James J, Hills M, Roland J M. *An evaluation of a specialist nurse prescriber on diabetes in-patient service delivery*. March 2007, Proactical Diabetes Interational, Vol. 24(2).

26. Carey N, Courtenay M, James J, Hills M, Roland J M. *An evaluation of a Diabetes Specialist Nurse prescriber on the system of delivering medicines to patients with diabetes.* 2008, Journal of Clinical nursing, Vol. 17(12) pp. 1635-44.

27. Flanagan D, Moore E, Baker S, Wright D, Lynch P. *Diabetes Care in Hospital -- The Impact fo a Dedicated Inpatient Care Team.* 2008, Diabetic Medicine, Vol. 25(2) pp. 147-51.

28. Mandel S R, Langan S, [...], Zilbermint M. *Retrospective study of inpatient diabetes management service, length of stay and 30-day readmission reate of patients with diabetes at a community hopsital.* 2019, J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect., Vol. 9 (2) pp. 64-73.

29. Akiboye F, Adderley N J, Martin J, Gokhale K, Ridge G M Marshall T P, Rajendran R, Nirantharakumar K, Rayman on behalf of the DICE team. *Impact of the Diabtes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on length of stay and mortality.* 2 July 2019, Diabetic Medicine, Vol. 37(2).

30. TREND Diabetes. Trend UK Audit Reveals 1800 plus diabetes specialist nurses in England. 2019.

Appendix 1: Example data collection sheet

Design

Hospital type

Sample size (before and after intervention)

Patient population (medical/ surgical/ unselected)

Follow-up duration

Background population assessed? (are the population without diabetes assessed as a negative control)

Primary outcomes (LOS, Excess LOS, Bed occupancy, re-admission, insulin errors, OHA errors)

- Baseline, change and P-value/ Cl

Secondary/ Other outcomes?

# Supplement

# Table 1

	Medline example search
1	exp Diabetes Mellitus/ MeSH all subheadings
2	IDDM
3	NIDDM
4	1 or 2 or 3
5	Exp nurse*
6	Nurses/ MeSH all subheadings
7	Nursing/ MeSH all subheadings
8	Nurs* adj3 specialist
9	Nurs* adj3 educator
10	Nurs* adj3 practitioner
11	DSN
12	DISN
13	6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12
14	exp Hospitals/
15	exp Hospitalization/
16	Hospital*
17	Inpatient*
18	ICU/
19	Intensive care
20	14 or 15 or 16 or 17 or 18 or 19
21	4 AND 13 AND 20

# **CHAPTER 4**

# Chapter 4: The impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on harms and complications

The concept for collection data related to patient complications and harms was the work of a previous researcher involved in DICE, who designed the study as a detailed examination of inpatient care, as a more extended bedside assessment, using a similar structure to the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit. In designing the intervention, the DICE team met regularly during the first period of data collection. The bedside information was collected by the nurses every 48 hours and was inputted into an electronic database. With assistance from the IT department, patients identified using this bedside data were assigned the corresponding pseudonym. As the primary researcher, I extracted this information and determined the reportable outcomes. The common pseudonym with the previously pseudonymised PAS data allowed these datasets to be linked. After linking I was able to carry out analysis, interpret the results and write the manuscript.

# The impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on harms and complications

Akiboye F MRCP <sup>1,2</sup>, Adderley NJ PhD<sup>2</sup>, Marshall TP PhD<sup>2</sup>, Nirantharakumar K MD<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>,

Rayman G MD1\*

- 1. Diabetes Research unit, Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, Ipswich, United Kingdom
- 2. Institute of Applied Health Research, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom
- Centre for Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom
- 4. Health Data Research UK
- \* Joint senior authors

#### ABSTRACT

#### Background

The Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) programme was implemented in July 2013 as a whole systems approach to managing inpatient diabetes in Ipswich Hospital. It comprised a number of initiatives, including a daily list of new admissions with a diagnosis of diabetes, allowing prompt review and medication adjustment; a daily electronic list of all patients with hypoglycaemia generated from ward glucose meters connected wirelessly to a central server; an online referral system with grading of clinical urgency; a junior doctor's induction training programme; and a care pathway contained in an eight page booklet which included advice on diabetes management and all relevant treatment charts. The employment of two additional full-time diabetes nurse specialists enabled this service to be delivered seven days a week.

#### Aim

To evaluate the impact of the DICE project on drug errors, in-hospital complications and severe hyper- and hypoglycaemia.

#### Method

Complication and drug error data was collected from bedside notes of patients with diabetes admitted in the six months before and after implementation of DICE. Glucose data was extracted from glucose meters for the same time period. A logistic regression model was used to calculate improvement in outcomes adjusting for important covariates.

#### Results

Insulin and oral agent prescription and management errors were significantly reduced, with the largest reduction in insulin management errors (OR 0.17, 95%CI 0.12-0.24). The frequency of hypoglycaemia was reduced, as was the need for injectable hypoglycaemia treatment (OR 0.41, 95%CI 0.23-0.77).

There was a reduction in the composite outcome of any complications occurring during admission (OR 0.71, 95% CI 0.58-0.87). For individual complications, there was a statistically significant reduction in pneumonia and foot ulcers.

#### Conclusions

The DICE project resulted in a significant reduction in drug errors and rates of hypoglycaemia requiring injectable treatment. It was associated with reductions in a composite of all complications during admission, and with significantly lower occurrences of foot ulcer and pneumonia.

#### BACKGROUND

The 2017 National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA), involving 209 hospitals across England and Wales, revealed that 17.9% of inpatient beds were occupied by patients with diabetes (1); this figure has steadily increased from 15% in 2011 (2). The audit also revealed that the quality of care received by this growing proportion of the inpatient population is inadequate.

Patients with diabetes have poorer outcomes than those without diabetes: they have longer length of stay by up to three days, over 7% higher 30-day readmission rates, higher rates of post-operative complications, and higher mortality (3; 4). In addition, inpatients with diabetes report dissatisfaction with the care they receive, particularly in relation to meal timing and quality, and lack of confidence in the staff caring for their condition (5). There are a number of factors that contribute to poor outcomes and patient experience for inpatients with diabetes.

#### Institutional factors

Treatment for diabetes is individualised and patients are often empowered to manage the condition, with this being tailored to their usual routine. On admission to hospital, patients experience disruption to their routine, most notably with respect to meals and access to their medications; this impacts those with diabetes disproportionately. Often, patients who usually have their main meal in the evening and a bedtime snack find that the main cooked meal is at lunchtime and, in most institutions, a teatime sandwich is all that is provided in the evening. This change in meal patterns and lack of bedtime snack undoubtedly contributes to the higher proportion of overnight hypoglycaemia which has been reported in several studies in inpatients with diabetes, and confirmed in the 2017 National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (6; 7). Rebound hyperglycaemia may follow, and this resulting dysglycaemia is both unpleasant and harmful for patients, and can also be challenging for staff (8).

#### Non specialists manage diabetes patients

The majority of inpatients with diabetes are admitted for other primary reasons, with diabetes present as a comorbidity. Therefore, they are most commonly under the care of non-specialists or non-diabetologists (7). A number of studies have shown both nursing and medical staff are not confident managing patients with this increasingly common condition and particularly in adjusting their medication. Several trusts have implemented teaching programmes and staff training to address this knowledge gap, however translation of this education into improved glycaemic control and patient outcomes has yet to be demonstrated.

#### Drug errors are common

The National Inpatient Diabetes Audit in 2016 revealed that 1 in 10 patients with diabetes experiences an episode of hypoglycaemia, with 1 in 50 experiencing hypoglycaemic coma (7). Medication management errors and errors in their prescriptions are frequently the cause of these events, and insulin has been highlighted the third most common cause of avoidable patient harm in hospital by the National Patient Safety Association (NPSA) with reports of significant harm including death (9;10). Despite the introduction of alerts, hypoglycaemic medication errors have been noted in 41% of patients and for 46% for those on insulin (7). Insulin prescription errors are a national concern; overdose of insulin due to use of abbreviations or the incorrect device is listed as a 'never event' by NHS Improvement (11), but still occurs not infrequently in hospitals across England and Wales (7). In addition to affecting patient experience, medication errors by both failure to prescribe, administer or adjust medication appropriately can result in dysglycaemia and impact on patient outcomes.

#### Hypoglycaemia is associated with increased mortality

A number of studies have demonstrated an association between hypoglycaemia and inhospital mortality, among both insulin-treated and non-insulin treated patients across a range of clinical groups (12) (13). Whilst a 2-3 fold higher mortality is seen in patients with hypoglycaemia a causal link has not been demonstrated and hypoglycaemia is suspected to be a marker of disease severity (13) (14). Regardless of the cause, hypoglycaemia in hospital is associated with longer length of stay (15) and measures to minimise iatrogenic hypoglycaemia may attenuate this effect.

#### Hyperglycaemia is associated with more complications

The impact of hyperglycaemia has been well documented in surgery, notably orthopaedic and cardiothoracic surgery (16). Lower limb arthroplasty carries a 3-4 fold increased risk of peri-prosthetic infection in association with perioperative hyperglycaemia (17). Additionally, hyperglycaemia is associated with delayed surgical wound healing with higher wound infection rates by three to seven-fold seen across the surgical specialities (18) (19). In patients with hyperglycaemia and undiagnosed diabetes prior to surgery the post-operative morbidity is higher with increased rates of resuscitation, need for re-intubation, prolonged ventilation and increased mortality (19) (20).

Although associations between poor glycaemic control and complications have been seen in a range of inpatient groups, the impact of glycaemic control and improved inpatient diabetes care on complication rates has yet to be demonstrated (21).

The DICE programme was set up as a multifaceted approach to managing inpatient diabetes care, innovated and implemented by diabetes specialist nurses to address the care challenges which patients with diabetes face. We have previously demonstrated that the DICE programme results in significant reductions in length of stay without any significant increase in readmission, however the impact and possible reasons for this at a patient level were not addressed (22).

#### AIMS

The aims of this study were to assess the impact of the DICE programme on: 1. patient harms, including insulin and oral hypoglycaemic agent (OHA) errors; and 2. complications, both infective and non-infective (23).

#### METHODS

#### Study design

This was a single centre prospective, non-randomised evaluation of standard inpatient care for patients with diabetes before and after a nurse-delivered service development initiative, 'the DICE programme'.

#### Study setting and study period

The study was carried out in Ipswich Hospital, a 200-bed district general hospital in the UK. The duration of the study was 1<sup>st</sup> January 2013 to 30<sup>th</sup> June 2014. Implementation of changes took place between 1<sup>st</sup> July 2013 and 31<sup>st</sup> December 2013. Data was therefore collected over two six-month periods before and after the DICE implementation period.

#### Study participants

All adult patients with type 1 or type 2 diabetes admitted to medical and surgical wards for more than 24 hours or with an overnight stay during the study period were included in the study. Inpatients admitted to the acute medical assessment unit, adult medical inpatient wards, including oncology, and adult surgical inpatient wards were included; inpatients admitted to the obstetrics and gynaecology ward or directly to the intensive care unit were

not included. Patients attending for day case surgery or ambulatory procedures and investigations were not included.

#### Description of intervention

Prior to implementation of the DICE programme, there was one diabetes specialist nurse working within the hospital trust. Medical and surgical wards were visited by the nurse from Monday to Friday to trouble-shoot, supporting nursing staff in managing patients with diabetes and patients with diabetes directly. Two diabetes specialist nurse posts were funded within the trust in 2013, with an orthopaedic nurse and medical admissions unit nurse appointed to the positions. Their role was to collect data about outcomes of patients receiving diabetes care and to support a seven-day service within the trust. They observed the usual practice in order to innovate changes to improve care. This observation was undertaken whilst undergoing training for the diabetes specialist nurse role. During the baseline data collection period, the nurses observed how the trust and different wards functioned in terms of diabetes care. They met weekly to discuss the challenges and deficiencies in staff knowledge and patient care, and to suggest these might be tackled with service redesign. The diabetes inpatient service was transformed using a whole systems approach from a reactive to a proactive service, employing the innovations detailed below. These were implemented between July and December 2013.

- 1. *Proactive patient review:* Two electronic systems were set up to enable the nurses to review patients with diabetes in collaboration with the local IT team.
  - a. The Abbott glucose monitoring system was electronically linked to patient identifiers, patient ward and location to produce a daily list of hypoglycaemic

events. This allowed nurses to review and suggest adjustments to medication to reduce recurrent hypoglycaemia.

- b. The IT department set up a system to generate a daily list of inpatients with diabetes. Patients with diabetes were identified in three ways: previous admission records documenting patients who had previously been seen in the hospital and who had a diagnostic code of diabetes; alerts from the patient electronic health record (flags added to the Evolve patient record); and patients seen in the Diabetes Centre (SystmOne). This method was found to identify patients with diabetes with approximately 98% accuracy.
- 2. *Diabetes Patients At Risk (DPAR)* is an electronic referral system which risk stratifies patients with diabetes allowing the nurses and foot team to prioritise incoming referrals (24).
- 3. *A Monthly audit*, like a mini-NaDIA, was incorporated into usual practice. This assessed foot checks, and drug prescription, management and administration errors.
- 4. The DICE chart, a comprehensive drug chart and information tool was implemented. This incorporated drug prescribing, monitoring and guidance for management of hyper- and hypoglycaemia, to improve awareness of doctors and nurses on the wards.
- 5. Staff education, at regular intervals, for both junior doctors on induction and nursing staff was set up to empower them in managing patients with diabetes using the tools at hand and to advise them when and how to contact the diabetes inpatient specialist nurses.

- 6. Weekly meetings were held to discuss the service and any problems in implementing these changes, and to identify areas for further development of the service.
- Nurse-led follow-up phone calls and clinics to facilitate safe and timely discharge of inpatients.

#### Data collection

Baseline data was collected from January 2013 to June 2013 and follow-up data collected from January 2014 to June 2014. Data was extracted from patient bedside notes; where information was missing, this was supplemented by data from discharge notes in the patient electronic health records. Data was entered into an electronic database by a trained team of nurses. All included wards were visited every 48 hours by the audit nurses, including at weekends, and data was entered into the database for each patient at each visit. Information on the following study outcomes was collected: patient harms, including drug and insulin prescription errors and management errors; and predetermined complications, including myocardial infarction (MI), falls, foot ulcer, acute renal failure, diabetic ketoacidosis/hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state (HHS), cerebrovascular accident (CVA), urinary tract infection, pneumonia, sepsis and wound infection. These were recorded when documented as a diagnosis by a qualified doctor and appropriately treated for.

The primary nurse making each data entry was recorded. To ensure consistency of data collection between nurses, a random sample of 5% of patient notes were independently audited against the data entries periodically during the data collection period. Where inconsistency was identified, data was edited and standardised by the diabetes specialist nurse responsible for leading the collection of study data. Occasional discrepancies were

noted in timing of admission with no errors in documentation of the frequency of complications for the nurses regularly involved in data collection.

Data was collected in 48-hour periods and was cleaned in an ongoing process to remove duplicate entries, which arose if two specialist nurses recorded information on the same patient during the same 48-hour period. Data for each 48-hour period collected for an individual patient was combined to form a single entry for each patient admission; any duplicate patient records at this stage were removed. The bedside data was pseudonymised and matched with demographic information for each patient with the assistance of the hospital IT department using patient administration system (PAS) data containing age, sex, ethnicity, Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) category, modified Charlson comorbidity score, Intensive Therapy Unit (ITU) admission during hospitalisation and Health Resource Group (HRG).

#### Analysis

A before and after analysis was performed. Outcomes in the 6-month periods before and after implementation of the DICE project were compared. Pre-DICE analysis was performed from 1<sup>st</sup> January 2013 to 30<sup>th</sup> June 2013; post-DICE analysis was performed from 1<sup>st</sup> January 2014 to 30<sup>th</sup> June 2014.

Baseline patient data comprised merged bedside-collected data and PAS data. Linkage with the administrative (PAS) dataset was 95.2%. Baseline characteristics are presented as mean (standard deviation) or median (interquartile range) for continuous variables, and as proportions for categorical/binary variables.

Primary outcomes were prescription and management errors for insulin and oral hypoglycaemic agents, and frequency of the predetermined in-hospital complications. The secondary outcome was the use of injectable therapy for hypoglycaemia or hyperglycaemia. Medication errors were defined using NaDIA audit criteria (25). The presence or absence of these harms and complications were determined for each patient admission and treated as a binary variable (representing one or more harm or complication during the admission). Logistic regression was used to compare the odds of prescription errors and complications pre- and post-implementation of DICE. Crude and adjusted odds ratios (OR) were calculated; adjusted ORs were adjusted for the following covariates: age, sex, ethnicity, IMD category, modified Charlson comorbidity score, ITU admission during hospitalisation, and HRG. It was not possible to merge all bedside data with the PAS records. Therefore, a sensitivity

analysis was carried out using only the bedside dataset and there was no significant difference in the baseline characteristics between the groups.

All statistical analysis was carried out using STATA 14.2.

#### RESULTS

Baseline patient characteristics are presented in Table 1. 1905 and 1777 patients were included in the before (2013) and after (2014) groups respectively. Median age on admission was 76 years in both cohorts with 52% in 2013 and 55% in 2014 being males. A large proportion of the population in both cohorts were white Caucasians (>85%). Charlson

comorbidity score, proportion of elective patients (above 80%), and distribution across HRG and IMD categories were similar between the two patient cohorts.

#### Drug errors

There was a substantial and highly statistically significant reduction in drug errors in the sixmonth period following implementation of DICE compared to the same period a year earlier. Insulin and oral hypoglycaemic agent prescription errors were reduced by 50%: adjusted OR 0.41 (95% CI 0.32-0.5) and 0.50 (95% CI 0.41-0.62) for insulin and OHAs respectively. Management errors were reduced by approximately 80%: adjusted OR 0.17 (95% CI 0.12-0.24) and 0.18 (95% CI 0.13-0.27) for insulin and OHAs respectively. There was a statistically significant reduction in the need for injectable hypoglycaemia treatment, adjusted OR 0.41 (95% CI 0.23-0.77), but there was no difference in the need for injectable treatment for hyperglycaemia: adjusted OR 1.07 (95% CI 0.84-1.38, p = 0.58) (Table 2, Figure 1).

#### Complications

Following implementation of DICE, there was a significant reduction in the number of patients with one or more complications during their hospital stay: adjusted OR 0.71 (95% CI 0.58- 0.87) (Table 3, Figure 2).

The frequency of all infective complications – pneumonia, urinary tract infection (UTI), sepsis and wound infection – was reduced following implementation of DICE, however, the difference was statistically significant only for pneumonia: adjusted OR 0.51(95% CI (0.13-0.27).

Among non-infective complications, there was a substantial and statistically significant reduction in occurrence of foot ulcers: adjusted OR 0.15 (95% CI 0.03-0.69). The frequency of acute kidney injury and acute MI was reduced, but the results were not statistically significant. The number of patients with stroke, cardiac arrest, and diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA)/ hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state (HHS) outcomes was very small; ORs were therefore not calculated. There was a non-statistically significant increase in the number of falls post-implementation of DICE: adjusted OR 1.19 (95% CI 0.78-1.81; p = 0.40).

Table 1. Baseline patient characteristics	2013	2014
Total patients	1905	1777
Sex, n (%) male	990 (52.0)	986 (55.5)
Age, median (IQR)	76 (65, 83)	76 (66 <i>,</i> 84)
Modified Charlson comorbidity score, n (%)		
0	858 (45.0)	786 (44.2)
1	373 (19.6)	331 (18.6)
2 or more	674 (35.4)	660 (37.1)
Elective, n (%)	1592 (83.6)	1515 (85.3)
HRG, n (%)		
A (Nervous system, pain management)	114 (6.0)	114 (6.4)
B (Eyes and periorbital)	3 (0.2)	5 (0.3)
C (Mouth, head, neck, ears)	47 (2.5)	39 (2.2)
D (Thoracic)	275 (14.4)	224 (12.6)
E (Cardiac)	301 (15.8)	261 (14.7)
F (Digestive system)	245 (12.9)	218 (12.3)
G (Hepatobiliary and pancreatic system)	56 (2.9)	72 (4.1)
H (Orthopaedic)	209 (11.0)	208 (11.7)
J (Skin)	41 (2.2)	59 (3.3)
K (Endocrine system)	124 (6.5)	116 (6.5)
L (Renal, urological, male reproductive system)	211 (11.1)	179 (10.1)
M (Female reproductive system)	22 (1.2)	21 (1.2)
N (Obstetric)	1 (0.1)	6 (0.3)
P (Paediatric)	10 (0.5)	41 (2.3)
Q (Vascular)	71 (3.7)	10 (0.6)
R (Diagnostic imaging)	13 (0.7)	22 (1.2)
S (Haematological, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, specialist palliative care)	25 (1.3)	25 (1.4)
V (Trauma, emergency medicine, rehabilitation)	9 (0.5)	157 (8.8)
W (Immunology, infectious diseases, other healthcare contacts)	128 (6.7)	0 (0.0)
IMD*		
0 (most deprived)	468 (24.8)	467 (26.4)
1	404 (21.4)	366 (20.7)
2	343 (18.1)	341 (19.3)
3	326 (17.2)	299 (16.9)
4 (least deprived)	349 (18.5)	296 (16.7)
Ethnic Group		
White	1696 (89.0)	1521 (85.6)
BlacK African and Caribbean	15 (0.8)	22 (1.2)
Asian	29 (1.5)	22 (1.2)
Not categorised	165 (8.7)	212 (11.9)

\* IMD was missing for 15 patients in 2013 and 8 patients in 2014.

#### Table 2. Drug prescription errors

	2013,	2014,		Adjusted OR	
Prescription error	n (%)	n (%)	Crude OR	(95% CI)	p-value
Insulin prescription error	314 (16.48)	133 (7.48)	0.41	0.41 (0.32-0.50)	<0.001
Insulin management					
error	232 (12.8)	43 (2.42)	0.18	0.17 (0.12-0.24)	<0.001
Injectable hypoglycaemia					
treatment	38 (1.99)	15 (0.84)	0.42	0.41 (0.23-0.77)	0.005
Injectable					
hyperglycaemia					
treatment	141 (7.40)	146 (8.22)	1.12	1.07 (0.84-1.38)	0.578
OHA prescription error	266 (13.96)	136 (7.65)	0.51	0.50 (0.41-0.62)	<0.001
OHA management error	188 (9.87)	37 (2.08)	0.19	0.18 (0.13-0.27)	<0.001

#### Table 3. Patient in-hospital complications

	2013,	2014,		Adjusted OR	
Complication	n (%)	n (%)	Crude OR	(95% CI)	p-value
One or more complication	258 (13.54)	182 (10.24)	0.73	0.71 (0.58- 0.87)	0.001
Acute kidney injury	61 (3.2)	40 (2.25)	0.70	0.70 (0.46-1.06)	0.095
Acute MI	12 (0.63)	5 (0.28)	0.45	0.54 (0.18-1.62)	0.27
Foot ulcer	13 (0.68)	2 (0.11)	0.16	0.15 (0.03-0.69)	0.015
DKA/HHS	1 (0.05)	1 (0.06)	-	-	-
Pneumonia	52 (2.73)	25 (1.41)	0.51	0.51 (0.13-0.27)	0.007
UTI	37 (1.94)	32 (1.8)	0.93	0.88 (0.53-1.43)	0.61
Sepsis	83 (4.36)	61 (3.43)	0.78	0.79 (0.55-1.12)	0.19
Wound infection	7 (0.37)	5 (0.28)	0.77	0.76 (0.23-2.57)	0.66
Cardiac arrest	1 (0.05)	3 (0.17)	-	-	-
Fall	43 (2.26)	53 (2.98)	1.33	1.19 (0.78-1.81)	0.398
Stroke	2 (0.1)	1 (0.06)	-	-	-

MI: myocardial infarction; DKA: diabetic ketoacidosis; HHS: hyperosmolar hyperglycaemic state; UTI: urinary tract infection.





Figure 1. Forest plot showing odds ratios (with 95% CI) for drug prescription errors.



Figure 2. Forest plot showing odds ratios (with 95% CI) for complications.

#### DISCUSSION

#### Drug errors

Following the implementation of DICE, a multifaceted programme for improving diabetes inpatient care delivered by a dedicated inpatient diabetes specialist nurse team, there was a 59% reduction in the occurrence of insulin prescription errors and an 83% reduction in insulin management errors. There were also reductions of 49% and 82% in errors made in the prescribing and managing oral hypoglycaemic agents following implementation of DICE. These findings are in keeping with a study by Courtenay and Carey, where establishment of a diabetes specialist nurse prescriber was associated with a 52% reduction in the frequency of all drug errors (26).

The most notable reductions in our study were in management errors for insulin and oral hypoglycaemic agents, with reductions of 83% and 82% respectively. This is perhaps due to the education of staff and the development of a clear protocol for management of both hypo- and hyperglycaemia, allowing ward staff to make or suggest treatment adjustments outside of the working hours of the specialist nursing team. In addition, the use of injectable hypoglycaemia treatment reduced significantly, indicating successful management of hypoglycaemia and a reduction in recurrent hypoglycaemia, as we have reported previously (27). Anon-significant rise in injectable therapy to treat hyperglycaemia was observed suggesting that nurses were more proactive in managing patients with elevated glucose levels. There have been no studies analysing the impact of a diabetes specialist nurse led service on glycaemic control and this is an area for further research.

#### Complications

This is the first study to demonstrate a significant reduction in complications in unselected patients with diabetes upon implementation of a nurse-delivered whole systems approach to diabetes inpatient management. Most notably there were significant reductions in the proportions of patients developing foot ulcers or pneumonia during their hospital admission, with reductions of 86% and 49%, respectively, following implementation of the DICE programme. Non-significant reductions were seen in other infective complications (sepsis, UTI and wound infection) as well as non-infective complications (MI and AKI).

A systematic review looking at the introduction of specialist nurses across a range of specialities has previously shown that their presence leads to reductions in pressure ulcers, however this paper included only one study with diabetes specialist nurses (28). The diabetes specialist nurses in our study were not involved in foot care directly, however this was promoted and audited by them and prompted as a daily check on the DICE chart. It may therefore be that the visibility and accessibility of the nurses, as well as a clearly defined pathway and mechanism for raising concerns (DPAR), resulted in this reduction.

Evidence that the proactive insulin adjustment approach and bedtime snack components of the DICE programme reduced recurrent hypoglycaemia has been presented previously (27). We postulate that improved glycaemic control with reductions in glucose variability and the need for intravenous hypo- and hyperglycaemia treatment resulted in fewer patients acquiring in-hospital complications, particularly infections. This is supported by the studies

by Umpierrez which showed that basal bolus control significantly reduced the occurrence of composite complications when compared to correctional insulin boluses in hospitalised general surgical and non-surgical patients with type 2 diabetes (29; 21). This striking reduction in hospital acquired complications is likely to be a key factor in the reduced length of stay we previously demonstrated in association with the DICE programme (22) . Improved overall care therefore carries a potentially large cost saving benefit through improved glycaemic control for hospitalised patients.

#### Study strengths and limitations

A pragmatic before and after study design was used with no control patient group. This study design does not account for temporal trends in the outcomes measured, or for the effects of unknown confounders, such as other changes in healthcare provision occurring during the intervention period. Any underlying secular trends may therefore impact on the observed effect sizes.

The study included patients from medicine, oncology and surgery and is therefore generalizable to the majority of patients in a district general hospital context. This was a real-world study investigating the implementation of a specialist nurse-delivered hospital programme for inpatients with diabetes. As such, these practical and sustainable changes may be implemented in other trusts by a diabetes specialist nursing team.

The labour-intensive method of data collection makes it difficult to carry out a repeat study to verify the data given current hospital documentation and staffing-levels. Despite the arduous data collection process, a six-month period was sampled before and after the implementation of DICE enabling the documentation of a number of significant changes. It is likely that some of the infective complications would show a statistically significant change with a longer period of data collection, however this was impractical. The same six-month periods (January to June) were used in the before and after datasets (2013 and 2014) in order to limit any effect of seasonal changes on the patient cohort.

#### CONCLUSION

This study demonstrates the potential clinical benefits of innovating and implementing a whole systems approach to diabetes care, with improvements in patient harms and inhospital complications. This is the first study to show reductions in complications through implementation of a multifaceted specialist nurse led diabetes service. The setting was medical and surgical wards, making the intervention broadly applicable to other district general hospitals. However, the before and after study design limits the applicability of these promising results. A randomised controlled trial should be carried out in order to build on this evidence and confirm the findings.

#### References

1. Zook CJ, Moore FD. High-cost users of medical care. N Engl J Med. 1980 May 1;302(18):996-1002. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198005013021804. PMID: 6767975..

2. NHS digital. National Diabetes Inpatient Audit. National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 2011. [Online] 17 May 2012.

https://files.digital.nhs.uk/publicationimport/pub06xxx/pub06279/nati-diab-inp-audi-11-nat-rep.pdf.

3. Wang J, Chen K, Li X, Jin X, An P, Fang Y, Mu Y. Postoperative adverse events in patients with diabetes undergoing orthopedic and general surgery. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019 Apr;98(14):e15089. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000015089. PMID: 30946365; PMCID: PMC6455978.

4. Shen HN, Lu CL, Li CY. Effect of diabetes on severity and hospital mortality in patients with acute pancreatitis: a national population-based study. Diabetes Care. 2012 May;35(5):1061-6. doi: 10.2337/dc11-1925. Epub 2012 Mar 23. PMID: 22446175; PMCID: PMC3329843.

5. Dhatariya K, Mustafa OG, Rayman G. Safe care for people with diabetes in hospital. Clin Med (Lond). 2020 Jan;20(1):21-27. doi: 10.7861/clinmed.2019-0255. PMID: 31941727; PMCID: PMC6964176..

6. Rajendran R, Kerry C, Rayman G, et alTemporal patterns of hypoglycaemia and burden of sulfonylurea-related hypoglycaemia in UK hospitals: a retrospective multicentre audit of hospitalised patients with diabetesBMJ Open 2014;4:e005165. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005165

7. NHS digital. National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 2017. [Online] 28 May 2018. <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB30248</u>.

8. Corsino L, Dhatariya K, Umpierrez G. Management of Diabetes and Hyperglycemia in Hospitalized Patients. [Updated 2017 Oct 1]. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al., editors. Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279093/

9. Cousins DH, Gerrett D, Warner B. A review of medication incidents reported to the National Reporting and Learning System in England and Wales over 6 years (2005-2010). Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2012 Oct;74(4):597-604. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2011.04166.x. PMID: 22188210; PMCID: PMC3477327.

10. Lamont T, Cousins D, Hillson R, Bischler A, Terblanche M. Safer administration of insulin: summary of a safety report from the National Patient Safety Agency. BMJ. 2010 Oct 13;341:c5269. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c5269. PMID: 20943723.

11. NHS \0 Provisional publication of Never Events reported as occurring between 1
February and 31 March 2018 Published 27 April. Available from:
2018https://improvement.nhs.uk/documents/2613/Never\_Events\_1\_February\_to\_31\_Marc h\_2018\_.pdf

12. Garg R, Hurwitz S, Turchin A, Trivedi A. Hypoglycemia, with or without insulin therapy, is associated with increased mortality among hospitalized patients. Diabetes Care. 2013 May;36(5):1107-10. doi: 10.2337/dc12-1296. Epub 2012 Dec 17. PMID: 23248192; PMCID: PMC3631882.

13. Gamble JM, Eurich DT, Marrie TJ, Majumdar SR. Admission hypoglycemia and increased mortality in patients hospitalized with pneumonia. Am J Med 2010;123:556.e11–556.e16

14. Kagansky N, Levy S, Rimon E, Cojocaru L, Fridman A, Ozer Z, Knobler H. Hypoglycemia as a predictor of mortality in hospitalized elderly patients. Arch Intern Med. 2003 Aug 11-25;163(15):1825-9. doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.15.1825. PMID: 12912719.

15. Brodovicz KG, Mehta V, Zhang Q, Zhao C, Davies MJ, Chen J, Radican L, Engel SS. Association between hypoglycemia and inpatient mortality and length of hospital stay in hospitalized, insulin-treated patients. Curr Med Res Opin. 2013 Feb;29(2):101-7. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2012.754744. Epub 2012 Dec 14. PMID: 23198978.

16. Martin, E., Kaye, K., Knott, C., Nguyen, H., Santarossa, M., Evans, R., . . . Jaber, L. (2016). Diabetes and Risk of Surgical Site Infection: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology, 37(1), 88-99. doi:10.1017/ice.2015.249

17. Mraovic B, Suh D, Jacovides C, Parvizi J. Perioperative hyperglycemia and postoperative infection aft

er lower limb arthroplasty. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2011 Mar 1;5(2):412-8. doi: 10.1177/193229681100500231. PMID: 21527113; PMCID: PMC3125936.

18. Ata A, Lee J, Bestle SL, Desemone J, Stain SC. Postoperative hyperglycemia and surgical site infection in general surgery patients. Arch Surg. 2010 Sep;145(9):858-64. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.2010.179. PMID: 20855756.

19. Karunakar MA, Staples KS. Does stress-induced hyperglycemia increase the risk of perioperative infectious complications in orthopaedic trauma patients? J Orthop Trauma. 2010 Dec;24(12):752-6. doi: 10.1097/BOT.0b013e3181d7aba5. PMID: 21076247.

20. Frisch A, Chandra P, Smiley D, Peng L, Rizzo M, Gatcliffe C, Hudson M, Mendoza J, Johnson R, Lin E, Umpierrez GE. Prevalence and clinical outcome of hyperglycemia in the perioperative period in noncardiac surgery. Diabetes Care. 2010 Aug;33(8):1783-8. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0304. Epub 2010 Apr 30. PMID: 20435798; PMCID: PMC2909062.

21. Umpierrez GE, Smiley D, Zisman A, Prieto LM, Palacio A, Ceron M, Puig A, Mejia R. Randomized study of basal-bolus insulin therapy in the inpatient management of patients with type 2 diabetes (RABBIT 2 trial). Diabetes Care. 2007 Sep;30(9):2181-6. doi: 10.2337/dc07-0295. Epub 2007 May 18. PMID: 17513708.

22. Akiboye F, Adderley NJ, Martin J, Gokhale K, Rudge GM, Marshall TP, Rajendran R, Nirantharakumar K, Rayman G; DICE team. Impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and

Education (DICE) project on length of stay and mortality. Diabet Med. 2020 Feb;37(2):277-285. doi: 10.1111/dme.14062. Epub 2019 Aug 2. PMID: 31265148.

23. Nursing-Sensitive Outcomes Data Collection in Acute Care and Long-Term-Care Settings; Doran, Diane M.; Harrison, Margaret B.; Laschinger, Heather S.; Hirdes, John P.; Rukholm, Ellen; Sidani, Souraya; Hall, Linda McGillis; Tourangeau, Ann E.Author Information, Nursing Research: March-April 2006 - Volume 55 - Issue 2 - p S75-S81

24. Rajendran R, Round RM, Kerry C, Barker S, Rayman G. Diabetes patient at risk score - a novel system for triaging appropriate referrals of inpatients with diabetes to the diabetes team. Clin Med (Lond). 2015 Jun;15(3):229-33. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.15-3-229. PMID: 26031970; PMCID: PMC4953104.

25. NHS digital. National Diabetes Inpatient Autidt - 2017. 2018.

26. Courtenay M, Carey, N., James, J., Hills, M and Roland, J. M. 2007. An evaluation of a Specialist Nurse prescriber on diabetes in-patient service delivery. Practical Diabetes International 24 (2), pp. 69-74.

27. Rayman G, Rajendran R, Kelly C, Barker S, Round R, Scott A and the DICE team at the Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust. Innovative use of ward glucose systems to reduce inpatient hypoglycaemia. 2015.

28. M Butler, R Collins J Drennan et. al. Hospital nursing models and staff and patient related outcomes. Cochrane database of systematic reviews. [Online] 6 July 2011. https://doi.org//10.1002/14651858.CD007019.pub2. 1465-1858.

29. Umpierrez GE, Smiley D, Jacobs S, Peng L, Temponi A, Mulligan P, Umpierrez D, Newton C, Olson D, Rizzo M. Randomized study of basal-bolus insulin therapy in the inpatient management of patients with type 2 diabetes undergoing general surgery (RABBIT 2 surgery). Diabetes Care. 2011 Feb;34(2):256-61. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1407. Epub 2011 Jan 12. PMID: 21228246; PMCID: PMC3024330.

# **CHAPTER 5**

# Chapter 5: Management of Hyperglycemia and Diabetes in Orthopedic Surgery

This chapter provides an overview of the management of hyperglycaemia and diabetes in one of the best evidenced areas in terms of outcomes, orthopaedic surgery. With this concept proposed I determined the contents and design of this narrative review. A number of layouts were considered, including presenting the information by joint or limb for both diabetes and hyperglycaemia, however this division was not possible due to research gaps. The available data is compiled as a chronological journey through the perioperative pathway.



HOSPITAL MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES (A WALLIA AND JJ SELEY, SECTION EDITORS)

## Management of Hyperglycemia and Diabetes in Orthopedic Surgery

Funke Akiboye<sup>1,2</sup> · Gerry Rayman<sup>1</sup>

Published online: 6 March 2017 © The Author(s) 2017. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract An increasing number of orthopedic operations are being carried out in an older population in whom the prevalence of diabetes is dramatically increasing. People having surgery with diabetes and hyperglycemia are at increased risk of post-operative complications. The peri-operative risks have been well demonstrated for cardiac surgery and, more recently, for orthopedic surgery. This paper considers the issues surrounding orthopaedic surgery in patients with diabetes and the significance and management of hyperglycemia in the peri-operative period.

Keywords Diabetes mellitus · Hyperglycemia · Peri-operative glucose · Orthopedic surgery · Arthroplasty

#### Introduction

The global prevalence and incidence of diabetes is steadily rising in all populations and at the current rate the International Diabetes Foundation (IDF) estimates a prevalence of 9.9% worldwide by 2030. With population growth, this represents a 50.7% increase in people affected over a 19-year period [1]. A person with diabetes is more likely to require surgery

This article is part of the Topical Collection on Hospital Management of Diabetes

🖂 Gerry Rayman

than a person without and this is particularly notable for orthopedic surgery, which has seen an overall increase in procedures in this population as a whole [2].

Observational studies show that in the surgical patient, diabetes is associated with a higher rate of peri-operative complications such as need for transfusion, pneumonia, delayed discharge, surgical site infections, and in-hospital mortality [3]. These poorer outcomes are in part due to higher rates of co-morbid conditions such as ischemic heart disease, renal impairment, and hypertension in patients with diabetes [4]. Dysglycemia, which encompasses hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, stress-induced hyperglycemia, and excessive glucose variability, is increasingly observed and associated with poorer post-operative outcomes even in those without a prior diagnosis of diabetes. In fact, several studies have shown postoperative complications occur more frequently in people with stress-induced hyperglycemia with no prior diagnosis of diabetes than in those with diabetes [5–7].

#### Effect of Surgery on Glucose Levels

Surgery and anesthesia elicit a stress response that produces marked neurophysiological changes with release of adrenaline, noradrenaline, cortisol, glucagon, and growth hormone. This increase in counter-regulatory hormones and cytokines raises glucose levels and increases insulin resistance. In susceptible patients, this may result in significant hyperglycemia [8]. Additionally, elements of the surgical process such as disturbed eating patterns due to fasting or post-operative nausea, omission of insulin or hypoglycemic medication, and complications such as wound infection can all contribute to dysregulation of glucose homeostasis in the peri-operative period. The resulting raised, low, or erratic glucose levels have all been associated with poor outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Diabetes and Endocrine Center, The Diabetes Foot Clinic and Diabetes Research Unit, Ipswich Hospital and University of Birmingham, Suffolk IP4 5PD, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ipswich Hospital and University of Birmingham, Birmingham B15 2TT, UK
# Effect of Glycemia on Outcomes for Orthopedic Surgery

Hyperglycemia impairs leucocyte function causing immunocompromise with consequences for superficial and deep tissue infection as well as overall mortality [9].

The detrimental effects of suboptimal glycemic control on surgical outcomes and post-operative complications have been demonstrated across surgical specialities. Within orthopedics, the subspecialties of spinal surgery, arthroplasty, and trauma surgery have been most extensively studied.

## **Surgical Site Infection**

Surgical site infection is the most common hospital acquired infection and is associated with worse functional outcomes and increased amputation rates in patients undergoing orthopedic surgery [10, 11]. Rates of surgical site infection are significantly increased in patients with diabetes, most notably in those with suboptimal glycemic control. Preoperative HbA1c levels above 7.0% have been found to be associated with higher rates of surgical site infection for thoracic and lumbar spinal instrumentation surgery (35.3% compared with 0.0%) [12]. The incidence of surgical site infections has also been linked to peri-operative hyperglycemia in people without a prior diagnosis of diabetes. In this group, stress-induced hyperglycemia >200 mg/dL (11.1 mmol/l) is an independent risk factor for surgical site infection at 30 days (OR 3.2, 95% CI: 1.3-7.8) even after adjustment for open fractures [13]. Following trauma, a 7-fold increase in peri-operative infections has been seen with peri-operative hyperglycemia >220 mg/dL (12.2 mmol/l, P = 0.0056) [6].

### **Peri-prosthetic Infection**

Although uncommon, occurring in around 1% of arthroplasties, peri-prosthetic infection is one of the most devastating orthopedic complications for patients and surgeons and may require further surgery to treat effectively [14]. No significant association has been demonstrated between peri-operative HbA1c and peri-prosthetic infection at the hip or knee; however, both pre- and post-operative hyperglycemia have been associated with this serious complication [15•, 16]. Morning post-operative hyperglycemia >140 mg/dL(7.8 mmol/L) is associated with a 3-fold increased risk of peri-prosthetic infection (27/285 compared with 20/582) [17]. In a series of 1565 primary knee arthroplasties, Jämson and colleagues showed a 4-fold increase in people with a peri-operative glucose >6.9 mmol/ L compared with those with a normal reading of <6.1 mmol/L [18].

#### Other Complications, Length of Stay, and Morbidity

It is apparent that glycemia correlates with multiple poor postoperative outcomes in orthopedic surgery, including mortality. Raised HbA1c is associated with increased length of hospital stay and is a predictor of risk for pulmonary embolism following orthopedic surgery [19]. Pre-operative HbA1c over 6.5% has been shown to be a significant risk factor for surgical outcome with a poor post-operative recovery rate following cervical laminoplasty (OR 2.6, P=0.02) [20]. Undergoing primary joint arthroplasty with an HbA1c above 7.0% carries an increased mortality (HR 1.3, P=0.01) [15•].

## **Glycemic Management and Surgical Outcomes**

Despite the above associations, the key question is whether treating hyperglycemia reduces complications and improves these outcomes. There are no randomised studies in orthopedic surgery; however, one observational study by Agos et al. demonstrated that implementation of an evidence-based standard to control hyperglycemia reduced the rate of surgical site infection in people undergoing hip and knee replacement surgery [21••].

Treating hyperglycemia in the peri-operative period has been shown to reduce complications in other surgical disciplines. Trussel and colleagues demonstrated reductions in surgical site infection with tight peri-operative glycemic control in people having coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) surgery [22]. Similarly, Furnary and colleagues showed reductions in mortality and deep infection rates by treating people with diabetes undergoing cardiac surgery; the lowest rates seen in people targeted under 150mg/dL (8.3 mmol/L) [23]. In general surgery, Umpierrez showed that lower rates of hyperglycemia, using a basal bolus regime, was associated with reduced incidence of wound infection, pneumonia, bacteremia, and respiratory and acute renal failure [24]. These limited data have provided the basis for the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) and American Diabetes Association (ADA) guidelines, the Joint British Diabetes Society (JBDS) guidelines, and others all advocating treatment of hyperglycemia for hospitalized patients perioperatively [25-27]. The target glucose ranges for these guidelines are summarized in Table 1.

# The Effect of Diabetes and Its Complications on Peri-operative Risk in Orthopedics

Diabetes irrespective of glycemia is associated with greater surgical risk because of the higher incidence of co-morbid conditions, including obesity, sleep apnea, hypertension, in addition to the micro- and macrovascular complications that are associated with the condition. In people with diabetes,

Group	Target (noncritically ill patients)	Publication year
Joint British Diabetes Societies	6 10 mmol/L (108 180 mg/dL) target	2012
For NHS Diabetes (26) AACE/ADA/Endocrine society (25)	4 12 mmol/L (72 216 mg/dL) acceptable <140 mg/dL (7.8 mmol/L) and a	2009
	random BG of less than 180 mg/dL (10.0 mmol/L)	
	Consider lower targets in those with previously tight control	
Canadian Diabetes Association (27)	Fasting 5.0 8.0 mmol/L (90 144 mg/dL)	2013
The Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland (56)	Random <10 mmol/L (if safely achievable) 6 10 mmol/L (108 180 mg/dL) target (intra operatively)	2015
	6 12 mmol/L (108 216 mg/dL) acceptable	

**Table 1** Peri operative glucosetargets in national guidelines

surgery at the hip, knee, ankle, and elbow is associated with higher rates of post-operative infection, need for transfusion, pneumonia, urinary tract infection, length of stay, non-routine discharge, and in-hospital mortality [28, 29].

The condition of diabetes, in a recent meta-analysis, has shown an increased surgical site infection rate from pooled US data with OR 1.26 (95% CI 1.01–1.66) for arthroplasty and 1.6 (CI 1.10–2.32) for spinal surgery after accounting for impact of hyperglycemia and adjusting for BMI [30]. Interestingly, diabetes treated with insulin has been linked to increased 30-day readmission rates for people undergoing arthroplasty [31]. This may relate to disease chronicity, which has been associated with poor outcomes in cervical laminoplasty for people with 10 or more years duration of diabetes [20].

Neuropathy and vascular insufficiency, which may complicate diabetes, presents challenges for lower limb and particularly foot and ankle surgery, for which a modified approach is taken. Subsequent hospital-acquired foot ulceration in high risk feet can take several months to heal and superadded infection may complicate these ulcers, increasing the risk of peri-prosthetic infection and amputation [32].

### **Diabetic Cardiovascular Disease and Surgery**

A 2- to 3-fold increased prevalence of cardiovascular disease in people with diabetes makes surgery a higher-risk undertaking for this group [33, 34]. Hyperglycemia causes an osmotic diuresis, and the resulting hypovolemia and electrolyte disturbance may be further exacerbated by nausea and vomiting caused by anesthetic agents. The result may be tachycardia, hypokalemia, and hypomagnesemia with the resulting arrhythmias contributing to the increased peri-operative cardiovascular mortality in these patients [35].

As cardiac ischemia may be 'silent' in people with diabetes, a baseline ECG should be carried out in all people with diabetes prior to surgery. The threshold for cardiology referral and further investigations should be determined locally but based on the relevant national guidelines. The following sections deal with peri-operative clinical assessment of elective surgery from pre-hospitalization through to discharge including pre-operative assessment, hospital admission, theater and recovery, and the post-operative period. The considerations of pumps, steroid-induced hyperglycemia, and emergency surgery are also discussed.

## **Prehospitalization Assessment**

## **Surgical Outpatients**

It is clear from the previous discussion that the orthopedic surgeon's decision to proceed to surgery should include some assessment of the surgical risk to the patient with diabetes taking into account their diabetic complications and other comorbidities. High risk patients should be highlighted prompting early review, usually in a pre-assessment clinic to assess and optimize medication, glycemia, and blood pressure control prior to surgery. Specialist referrals for detailed assessment and optimization of diabetes or its cardiac or renal complications can be initiated at this stage.

One of the aims throughout the peri-operative process is to reduce the glycemic variability that may result from meal disruption and surgery itself.

Glycemic variability can be described as the degree to which glucose values fluctuate between peaks and troughs for an individual. There is no universally agreed ideal method to calculate it at present. It has emerged as a contributing factor for macro- and microvascular complications in the outpatient setting in people with both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. However, its impact in hospitalized patients has yet to be fully established. There are studies highlighting its importance in the critical care and peri-operative setting. A retrospective study by Egi et al. looked at 7049 critically ill patients with glucose measurements taken at least 4-hourly. Glucose variability was an independent risk factor in predicting mortality in ICU and hospitalized patients with an OR of 1.28 per mmol/LSD for variability and 1.21 per mmol/L for glucose level, hinting that glycemic variability is at least as important as hyperglycemia this patient group [36]. Although there are no prospective randomized trials demonstrating the impact of glycemic variability on orthopedic complications or that reducing variability improves outcomes, it is sensible to aim to limit glycemic variability until evidence to the contrary emerges.

In order to minimize glycemic variability, it is advised that patients with diabetes are prioritized on morning or afternoon lists, thereby limiting the period of fasting and disruption to normal meal times. JBDS guidelines suggest 95% of patients with diabetes should be on the first third of elective lists with avoidance of elective evening surgery altogether [26]. The regimen used to manage inpatient hyperglycemia also impacts on glucose variability, which is discussed later in this article.

Accessible electronic systems can facilitate priorities in care pathways by highlighting those people with diabetes. A flag initiated from first contact and visible throughout the perioperative journey can be used to prompt actions such as priority list position. The glycemic and non-glycemic considerations throughout the peri-operative period are highlighted in Fig. 1.

## **Preoperative Assessment**

## **Screening for Diabetes**

Since a suspected 1% of the UK population and up to 3% of people in the US are thought to have undiagnosed diabetes, it is increasingly common for diabetes to be detected on preoperative bloods on the day of surgery. However, screening for diabetes in the pre-assessment period is not routine, but should be considered. One prospective study of people undergoing elective noncardiac surgery found hyperglycemia in over 25% (118/493) of those without a prior diagnosis of diabetes on the morning of surgery [37].

Failure to identify and manage diabetes and hyperglycemia pre-operatively has been shown to increase the risk of complications with higher requirement for resuscitation, re-intubation, longer post-operative ventilation, and increased mortality [7, 38]. Indeed, studies to date suggest that the risk in those not known to have diabetes and those with stress or pre-operative glycemia is several fold greater than those with diabetes.

Guidelines at present do not recommend diabetes screening of patients being assessed for all types of elective surgery. The National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) suggests testing for diabetes in people admitted to hospital at risk of the disease; however, this is generally limited to emergency admissions [39]. The ADA recommends screening for people over the age of 45 years and earlier in those with BMI>25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> with age adjustment for higher risk ethnic groups [40]. However, for elective orthopedic surgery, one meta-analysis suggests that it should be considered to minimize complications in the peri-operative period [41••]. HbA1c is increasingly being measured for this purpose with a value of 48 mmol/L(6.5%) or more diagnosing the condition in a symptomatic patient [42]. As the prevalence of diabetes rises, there is a potentially huge economic burden, which may result from adopting screening for diabetes in surgical pathways. If screening were adopted for all surgical pathways, this expense would need to be justified with randomized controlled trials. Although the amalgamated research in all non-cardiac surgery may be insufficient to recommend screening in national guidelines, it should be adopted in orthopedic surgery and vascular surgery based on current evidence [41••].

### **Glycemic Assessment of the Diabetic Patient**

Measurement of HbA1c highlights those with poorly controlled diabetes allowing optimization of glycemic control prior to surgery. It may be necessary to delay elective surgery to facilitate this.

There is no evidence-based guideline published that precludes surgery above a particular value for HbA1c; however, most guidelines advise below 8–9% (68–75 mmol/mol) for elective orthopedic surgery as a safe target [26]. In view of the complications correlated with raised HbA1c in orthopedics, some institutions may opt for lower pre-operative values than guidelines recommend. However, data suggests a significant proportion of patients scheduled for arthroplasty will take over 6 months to attain the guideline target HbA1c and for others it may not be feasible [20, 43].

### **Complications and Comorbidities**

The complications of diabetes should be actively assessed and optimized in view of the associated peri-operative risk they contribute. For patients undergoing foot and ankle surgery, it is essential to undertake a preoperative neurovascular assessment of the feet in addition. Neuropathy is associated with increased surgical site infection rates even in those without diabetes. High risk feet can be identified without any equipment using a quick and simple bedside tool, the 'Ipswich touch test', prompting pressure relief as soon as convalescent [44]. Pre-operative revascularization may be necessary in some people with significant peripheral vascular disease.

The pre-operative workup for people with diabetes undergoing surgery is covered in detail in both the Joint British Diabetes Societies and ADA guidelines and the additional management considerations relating to diabetes should be incorporated into local orthopedic pathways and proformas to prevent omission of these elements during the perioperative period. Clear written instructions on the alterations to medications according to local guidelines should be given to patients at pre-assessment.



Fig. 1 Orthopedic peri operative pathway decision tool

A self-reporting checklist for patients with diabetes to complete can alert staff to potential problems for further attention.

## **Hospital Admission**

## **Glycemic Control and Monitoring**

The aims of peri-operative glycemic control are avoiding hypoglycemia, marked hyperglycemia, electrolyte disturbance, and the diabetic emergencies of hyperosmolar hyperglycemic state (HHS) and diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA). The target range that is most effective in achieving these aims remains a matter of debate.

The NICE-SUGAR trial and a series of studies challenged the dogma for tight glycemic control outside of the critical care or cardiology setting with increased mortality attributed to higher rates of hypoglycemia [45]. The emphasis is increasingly on adapting the glycemic target to the individual patient and their circumstances. Published guidelines focus on safe rather than tight control with JBDS promoting glucose targets between 6 and 10 with 4–12 mmol/L as an acceptable range. A selection of differing peri-operative targets by country are displayed in Table 1.

Close monitoring in the peri-operative period is required to detect and manage glucose excursions and is advised before meals or 4–6 hourly in patients who are not eating. Blood tests on admission should include a laboratory glucose or capillary blood glucose with point of care testing. There should be clear local policies to optimize glycemic control in the hospital throughout the peri-operative period with methods governed by the individual patient circumstances, the policy and resources of the institution, and clinician's judgement.

#### **Fasting and Enhanced Recovery**

Prolonged fasting results in increased insulin resistance in both those with and without diabetes. Higher insulin resistance is associated with poor wound healing, higher complication rates, and increased length of hospital stay. The degree of insulin resistance is greater in larger or more complex operations and those with greater blood loss and through metabolic pathways, it contributes to hyperglycemia [46]. A metaanalysis has shown insulin resistance may be attenuated by half with administration of oral or IV glucose, associated with reductions in length of stay [47]. Pre-operative oral carbohydrate treatment has been widely adopted as part of an enhanced recovery program; a multimodal approach to peri-operative care, which includes early mobilization, minimization of the fasting period, and optimizing pain relief. Enhanced recovery programmes have been shown to reduce length of stay and post-operative complications, most notably in colorectal surgery [48].

Although enhanced recovery programmes show improved post-operative outcomes, there is limited evidence demonstrating the benefits of pre-operative carbohydrate loading specifically within these programmes. The impact of carbohydrate loading in improving a range of post-operative outcomes has been examined in a Cochrane review of 27 randomized controlled trials, including 4 orthopedic studies. The authors of this review concluded that preoperative carbohydrate loading offers small reductions in length of stay; however, complications and well-being are not significantly impacted [49].

There is a paucity of data on the potential impact of preoperative carbohydrate loading on those with diabetes. A small case controlled study by Gustaffson et al. found no delay in gastric emptying following a carbohydrate drink for subjects with type 2 diabetes compared with healthy volunteers. In this study, peak glucose concentrations occurred later and were higher  $(13.4\pm0.5 \text{ compared with } 7.6\pm0.5 \text{ mmol/l}; P \le 0.01)$  [50].

With the aforementioned concerns about increased complication rates related to peri-operative hyperglycemia, the administration of carbohydrate drinks in people with diabetes requires further study before it is implemented for this group, particularly in orthopedic surgery. The exclusion of people with insulin treated diabetes from these programmes [51] may limit further detailed study of this group.

### **Immobility and Pressure Ulcers**

Pressure ulcers are a problem in surgery, causing pain, reduced quality of life, and prolonged hospital admission; diabetes can increase the risk of pressure ulcers 3-fold. Pressure ulcers following hip surgery can have devastating consequences with associated complication rates ranging from 16 to 46% and an increased mortality rate of 27% [52].

Prevention is the most effective way to approach this problem with simple inspection found to be more effective than currently advocated scoring systems. As the majority of these ulcers develop in-hospital, often on the day of surgery, it is vital that preventative measures commence on admission [53].

The period of immobility should be minimized and feet should be carefully inspected preoperatively for ulceration, which may act as a port for infection that people with diabetes may not self-report due to neuropathy. Multidisciplinary team involvement is crucial in those who develop ulceration as resultant hyperglycemia in those with infected ulcers can create a vicious cycle by delaying wound healing.

## **Theater and Recovery**

## **Glucose Targets and Glucose Management**

There are limited data examining the effect of intra-operative glycemic control on post-operative outcomes with available

studies carried out in cardiac surgery. Doenst et al. showed an intra-operative peak glucose reading >20 mmol/L(360 mg/dL) to be an independent risk factor for poor post-operative outcome and mortality in people with diabetes (OR, 1.20; CI, 1.08-1.32) and without diabetes (OR, 1.12; CI, 1.06-1.19; per mmol/L increase in glucose) [54]. Ouattara et al. found poor intra-operative glycemic control, defined as 4 or more consecutive blood glucose values over 11.1 mmol/L(200 mg/dL), to confer a higher risk of cardiac and noncardiac post-operative complications [55]. The Association of Anesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland (AAGBI) advise an intraoperative glucose target of 6-10 mmol/L with a peak up to 12 mmol/L for less well controlled patients. Ketone testing is advised with intra-operative glucose readings over 12 mmol/L[56].

Glucose testing remains central to maintaining glycemic control and should be carried out prior to induction of anesthesia, then hourly for operations of over 2 hours. For prolonged fasting with more than 1 missed meal or operations over 3 hours, an insulin infusion may be required. In these instances, a glucose, insulin, potassium (GIK) regime may be used, where the 3 elements are combined in a single bag for infusion. However, many institutions favor the variable rate intravenous insulin infusion (VRIII), where insulin and glucose with or without potassium are delivered as separate infusions with titration of the insulin every 1-2 hours. This requires close monitoring and regular adjustment as potentially dangerous glucose excursions can occur when the infusions are mismatched. In a small study looking at patients undergoing cardiothoracic surgery, the VRIII was found to offer more stable glycemic control than the GIK regime [57]; however, there is little evidence in support of one method over the other, and local policy should be followed. VRIII should commence at least 2 hours prior to surgery to allow time for abnormal glucose readings to stabilize.

For people on a long-acting basal insulin, local policies usually advise continuation of the basal insulin with the variable rate insulin infusion. This facilitates transition back to the usual regime when oral intake is reinstated. If the basal insulin is discontinued preoperatively, it must be given 30 to 60 minutes prior to any intravenous insulin being taken down because of the short half-life of intravenous insulin in order to reduce the risk of diabetic ketoacidosis.

## Pumps

For people on continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (insulin pumps) undergoing day case surgery, there is evidence that this may be safely continued intra-operatively for up to 3 hours whilst maintaining safe glycemic control postoperatively with the support of the specialist endocrine team [58]. Alternatively, subcutaneous basal insulin may be used at a dose equivalent to the background insulin dose administered over 24 hours on the pump.

There are a few considerations when planning to continue insulin pumps intra-operatively. It is generally recommended that pumps be removed for X-ray, CT, or MRI scanning; however, covering the pump with a lead shield may be sufficient for X-rays. The need for imaging intra-operatively is often pre-empted and subcutaneous insulin may be a good alternative to pump use in these circumstances. Additionally, electro-cautery and the presence of flammable anesthetic mixtures with oxygen or nitrous oxide in the operating room may affect the function of the pump, so the manufacturer's guidance should be reviewed and followed [59].

### **Foot Protection**

Pressure damage leading to subsequent ulceration may begin within a few hours of sustained pressure; therefore repositioning has been advised at least every 2 hours intra-operatively where possible. An array of pressure relieving devices are available, from foam mattresses to inflatable heel supports, which can reduce the development of pressure ulcers by up to 70%. However, there is no single, recommended device [60] and most orthopedic units employ gel pads or inflatable air-boots. Limb surgery is discounted since the operated limb is mobile intra-operatively.

## Antibiotics

The role for peri-operative antibiotic prophylaxis in joint arthroplasty is well documented [61, 62]. People who are morbidly obese have differences in antibiotic pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics, making their efficacy less predictable in these people. Obesity is associated with increased rates of surgical site infection and studies by Dowsey and Choong have shown it to be an independent risk factor for peri-prosthetic infection at both hip and knee [63, 64]. As a significant proportion of people with type 2 diabetes will be obese, weightadjusted dosing should be considered.

A few antibiotics have been studied in this population, including aminoglycosides, vancomycin, daptomycin, and linezolid. Weight-adjusted antibiotic dosing is not widely practiced in the UK or recommended in the guidance; however, the additional risk of obesity is considered in the dosing advice in Australian and US guidance. The American Association of Surgeons (AAOS) recommend weight-adjusted dosing for a range of antibiotics with a double dose of 2g cephalexin for patients over 80kg [65].

## **Post-operative Period**

### **Managing Medication**

Post-operatively, diet and usual diabetes medications should be restarted as soon as possible; however, there are a few oral agents for which clinical circumstances should be considered before reinstating. Metformin carries a risk of lactic acidosis, particularly in those with renal insufficiency. It should be omitted in patients who develop acute kidney injury until renal function returns to near baseline or eGRF is above 30 mL/min/ 1.73m<sup>2</sup>. It should also be withheld in sepsis, congestive cardiac failure, and significant hepatic impairment, all of which may be associated with hypoxia increasing the risk of lactic acidosis. Thiazolidinediones such as pioglitazone should not be restarted if significant fluid retention or congestive cardiac failure have developed or when there are liver function abnormalities. In patients who have not resumed a normal diet, sulphonylureas such as gliclazide may be withheld because of their insulin secretory effects with potential for causing hypoglycemia. A smaller dose may be initiated and titrated up as oral intake returns to normal. A cautious re-introduction should also be considered where there has been a kidney injury, as reduced renal excretion can further augment and prolong hypoglycemia. Recent studies have demonstrated the safety and efficacy of DPP4 inhibitors, the gliptins, in people with mild to moderate hyperglycemia (200 mg/dl) [66]. In view of the potential problems with sulphonylureas, it is likely that the use of these agents will become more widespread.

Insulin infusions should continue until eating has resumed. On recommencing usual insulin treatment, the subcutaneous insulin dose should be administered 30 minutes prior to discontinuing the intravenous infusion, which has a 5-10 minute half-life to minimize the risk of DKA and glucose excursions.

## **Treating Hyperglycemia**

Following surgery, management of hyperglycemia remains important both for people with diabetes and those with stress-induced hyperglycemia. Due to its breadth of usability, insulin remains the main agent for controlling hyperglycemia for in-hospital patients, and can be used regardless of comorbidities or altered clinical states such as impaired renal function and decompensated cardiac failure. Correction doses of insulin may be used in insulin-naïve people, but titrating doses of subcutaneous insulin referred to in the US as sliding scale are not advised. A recent meta-analysis demonstrated these corrective subcutaneous doses do not offer tighter glycemic control for hospitalized patients and are associated with higher rates of hyperglycemia than a range of other regimes without any significant reduction in length of hospital stay [67]. Due to these observed increases in glucose variability, the subcutaneous 'sliding scale' should not be used as the sole method of glycemic control, but may still be used to supplement other regimes.

## Hypoglycemia

Hypoglycemia is unpleasant for patients and associated with higher mortality rates and longer hospital length of stay. It is important to remain vigilant to this risk and check capillary glucose in patients in whom an altered mental state may otherwise be attributed to delirium or drowsiness secondary to concomitant analgesia following surgery. With its associated risks, hypoglycemia can be a barrier to intensifying glucose treatment.

In the case of missed meals or interrupted nutrition, nurse driven protocols and automated management decision tools for the omission of sulphonylureas and prandial insulin should be implemented locally to reduce the risk of iatrogenic hypoglycemia and standardize care.

## **Specialist Teams**

It is increasingly common for elderly orthopedic patients to be managed by an orthogeriatrician to focus on the medical aspects of care across the peri-operative period. While this has improved the overall medical treatment, the specific impact for quality of care for people with diabetes has not been studied. Specialist diabetes nursing teams often have a lower threshold for discharge and can considerably reduce length of stay for elective procedures with significant cost-saving implications [68]. Their input at key points in the perioperative pathway has been shown to be beneficial, and clear pathways for pre-operative referral and post-operative involvement should be developed locally.

## **Special Circumstances**

#### Steroids

Steroid injections are an important adjunct in managing musculoskeletal diseases. Intra-articular injections are most frequently carried out for osteo-arthritis [69], with the knee joint the most common site of injection, followed by shoulder, wrist, ankle, and elbow joints [70]. This route allows symptomatic relief whilst minimizing systemic corticosteroid effects. However, due to concerns over peri-prosthetic infection, their use is often avoided within 3 months of elective surgery [71].

Synthetic steroids mimic endogenous glucocorticoid, binding to the nuclear glucocorticoid receptor, affecting transcription of anti-inflammatory mediators. These effects may last for months. The effects of intra-articular steroid injections on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis have been most widely studied [72], but they may also affect glucose metabolism in a similar manner to oral steroids. This effect is exerted in a number of ways from increased insulin resistance to direct effects on pancreatic beta cell function. The resulting hyperglycemia may be asymptomatic or result in osmotic symptoms and fatigue. It often resolves spontaneously, but if persistent after steroid withdrawal, it is termed steroid induced diabetes.

The few studies examining the effect of intra-articular steroid injection on glycemic control suggest that there are only short-term effects, which vary depending on the site and type of injection [73, 74]. While the hyperglycemic effects are generally not sustained long enough to affect injection site elective orthopedic surgery due restrictions imposed by infection risk, it is worth noting that there may be an impact on glucose for up to 5 days following injection [73]. Therefore, people with previously controlled type 2 diabetes should have home glucose monitoring if elective surgery of another joint is planned with 2 weeks of steroid injection or closely monitored if emergency surgery is required.

The JBDS advise measuring glucose at least once daily, preferably prior to the evening meal, in those given steroids not known to have diabetes and if above 12 mmol/L(216 mg/dL), treating to maintain glucose levels between 6 and 10, accepting a pragmatic range of 4–12 mmol/l. They suggest HbA1C be measured in patients at high risk of steroid-induced diabetes, and a baseline level should be taken in those with pre-existing diabetes prior to commencement of steroids [75].

It is recommended to increase the frequency of glucose monitoring to 4 times a day and to commence treatment for 2 consecutive glucose readings above 12 mmol/L. For hyper-glycemia resulting from intra-articular steroid injection, as with multiple daily steroid doses, oral agents are unlikely to control the hyperglycemia, and a subcutaneous insulin regime is preferred. A pragmatic approach would be to commence basal insulin and titrate this according to glucose values. In this case, a morning NPH insulin such as humulin I or insulatard is suggested, starting at 10 units daily titrating up by 10–20% every 24 hours until glucose readings are on target [75]. The local community diabetes team may be contacted for further advice and support.

## **Emergency Surgery**

People with diabetes are more likely to require emergency orthopedic procedures for a number of reasons. Hypoglycemia and peripheral neuropathy increase the likelihood of falls, and bone mineral density is affected, particularly in those with type 1 diabetes, increasing the fracture risk further. The orthopedic surgeon may also be involved in the management of diabetic foot emergencies depending on the local service setup. In the emergency setting, glycemic control remains crucial to reducing post-operative complications; however, the clinical situation restricts the time to fully optimize patients. In these settings, intravenous insulin given as a variable rate infusion remains the most effective way to achieve normoglycemia in the peri-operative period. The local protocol often advises continuation of the usual background insulin for those on basal insulin to facilitate prompt return to a normal regime postoperatively.

Where possible, DKA should be treated as a priority and the fluid and electrolyte disturbances of HHS should be reduced or corrected prior to surgery.

## Conclusions

People with diabetes require particular consideration in planning orthopedic surgery. It can be difficult to put guidelines into practice across the multistep peri-operative process; however, significant improvements in care, with patient benefits and cost saving implications are possible. Specialist in-patient teams who can examine local processes, along with design and implementation of clear local pathways across the surgical process are key in minimizing the harm to this vulnerable group of patients.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Conflict of Interest** Funke Akiboye and Gerry Rayman declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Human and Animal Rights and Informed Consent The study cited as reference 44 was conducted as a service improvement project and was carried out with approval from the trust in accordance with local policy.

**Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

#### References

Papers of particular interest, published recently, have been highlighted as:

- Of importance
- •• Of major importance
- Noordzij PG, Poldermans D, Schouten O, et al. Postoperative mor tality in The Netherlands: a population based analysis of surgery specific risk in adults. Anaesthesiology. 2010;112:1105 15.
- 2. Whiting DR, Guariguata L, Weil C, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2011 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2011;94(3):311 21.

- Browne JA, Cook C, Pietrobon R, et al. Diabetes and early postop erative outcomes following lumbar fusion. Spine. 2007;32(20): 2214 9.
- Wukich DK, Joseph A, Ryan M, Ramirez C, Irrgang JJ. Outcomes of ankle fractures in patients with uncomplicated versus complicat ed diabetes. Foot Ankle Int. 2011;32(2):120 30.
- 5. Kerby JD, Griffin RL, MacLennan P, Rue III LW. Stress induced hyperglycemia, not diabetic hyperglycemia, is associated with higher mortality in trauma. Ann Surg. 2012;256(3):446 52.
- Karunakar, Madhav A, Staples, Kurtis S. Does stress induced hyper glycemia increase the risk of peri operative infectious complications in orthopedic trauma patients? J Orthop Trauma. 2010;24(12):752 6.
- Lauruschkat AH, Armrich B, Albert AA, et al. Prevalence and risks of undiagnosed diabetes in patients undergoing coronary artery by pass grafting. Circulation. 2005;112:2397 402.
- Dortch JD, Eck DL, Ladlie B, et al. Peri operative glycemic control in plastic surgery: review and discussion of an institutional proto col. Br J Anaesth. 2000;85(1):109–17.
- 9. Turina M, SFry DE, Polk Jr HC. Acute hyperglycemia and the innate immune system: clinical, cellular and molecular aspects. Crit Care Med. 2005;33(7):1624 33.
- Kirkland KB, Briggs JP, Trivette SL, et al. The impact of surgical site infections in the 1990s: attributable mortality, excess length of hospitalization, and extra costs. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 1999;20:725 30.
- Bolognesi MP, Marchant Jr MH, Viens NA, Cook C, Pietrobon R, Vail TP. The impact of diabetes on peri operative patient outcomes after total hip and total knee arthroplasty in the United States. J Arthroplasty. 2008;23:92 8.
- Hikata T, Iwanami A, Hosogane N, et al. High preoperative hemo globin A1c is a risk factor for surgical site infection after posterior thoracic and lumbar spinal instrumentation surgery. J Orthop Sci. 2014;19(2):223 8.
- Richards JE, Kauffmann RM, Zuckerman SL, et al. Relationship of hyperglycemia and surgical site infection in orthopedic surgery. J Bone Joint Surg Ser A. 2012;94(13):1181 6.
- 14. Kurtz SM, Lau E, Schmier J, et al. Infection burden for hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States. J Arthroplasty. 2008;23(7):984 91.
- 15.• Chrastil J, Anderson MB, Stevens V, et al. Is hemoglobin A1c or peri operative hyperglycemia predictive of periprosthetic joint in fection or death following primary total joint arthroplasty? J Arthroplasty. 2015;7(30):1197 202. A large retrospective study examining the relationship between hyperglycemia, HbA1C and periprosthetic infection following primary arthroplasty.
- Maradit Kremers H, Lewallen LW, Mabry TM. Diabetes mellitus, hyperglycemia, hemoglobin A1C and the risk of prosthetic joint infections in total hip and knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2015;30(3):439 43.
- 17. Mraovic B, Suh D, Jacovides C, Parvizi J, et al. Peri operative hyperglycemia and postoperative infection after lower limb arthroplasty. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2011;5(2):412 8.
- Jämson E, Nevalainen P, Kalliovalkama J, et al. Preoperative hy perglycemia predicts infected total knee replacement. EUR. 2010;21:196 201.
- Mraovic B, Hipszer BR, Epstein RH, et al. Preadmission hypergly cemia is an independent risk factor for in hospital symptomatic pulmonary embolism after major orthopedic surgery. J Arthroplasty. 2010;25:64 70.
- Machino M, Yukawa Y, Ito K, et al. Risk factors for poor outcome of cervical laminoplasty for cervical spondylotic myelopathy in patients with diabetes. J Bone Joint Surg. 2014;96(24):2049 55.
- 21.•• Agos F, Shoda C, Bransford D, et al. Part II: managing peri operative hyperglycemia in total hip and knee replacement surger ies. Nurs Clin North Am. 2014;49(3):299 308. This study

Deringer

demonstrates the clinical benefits of implementing an evidence based pathway for managing peri operative hyperglycemia.

- 22. Trussell J, Gerkin R, Coates B, et al. Impact of a patient care path way protocol on surgical site infection rates in cardiothoracic sur gery patients. Am J Surg. 196(6):883 9.
- Furnary AP, Zerr KJ, Grunkemeier GL, Starr A. Continuous intra venous insulin infusion reduces the incidence of deep sternal wound infection in diabetic patients after cardiac surgical proce dures. Ann Thorac Surg. 1999;67:352–60. discussion 60–2.
- 24. Umpierrez GE, Smiley D, Jacobs S, et al. Randomized study of basal bolus insulin therapy in the inpatient management of patients with type 2 diabetes undergoing general surgery (RABBIT 2 sur gery). Diabetes Care. 2011;34:256 61.
- 25. Moghissi ES, Korytkowski MT, DiNardo M, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American Diabetes Association consensus statement on inpatient glycemic control. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:1119.
- Dhatariya K, Levy N, Kilvert A, et al. NHS Diabetes guideline for the peri operative management of the adult patient with diabetes. Diabetes Med. 2012;29:420 3.
- Canadian Diabetes Association Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee. Canadian Diabetes Association 2013 Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Diabetes in Canada. Can J Diabetes. 2013;37 Suppl 1:S1 212.
- Schipper N, Jiang JJ, Chen L, et al. Effect of diabetes mellitus on peri operative complications and hospital outcomes after ankle arthrodesis and total ankle arthroplasty. Foot Ankle Int. 2015;36(3):258–67.
- Toor AS, Jiang JJ, Shi LL, Koh JL, et al. Comparison of peri operative complications after total elbow arthroplasty in patients with and with out diabetes. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2014;23(11):1599 606.
- Martin ET, Kaye KS, Knott C, et al. Diabetes and risk of surgical site infection: a systematic review and meta analysis. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2016;37(1):88 9.
- Lovecchio F, Beal M, Kwasny M, et al. Do patients with insulin dependent and noninsulin dependent diabetes have different risks for complications after arthroplasty? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2014;472(11):3570 5.
- Besse JL, Leremrijse T, Deleu P. Diabetic foot: the orthopedic sur gery angle; dics and struamatology. Surg Res. 2011;97(3):314 29.
- Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The Framingham study. JAMA. 1979;241(19):2035 8.
- Stamler J, Vaccaro O, Neaton JD, et al. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12 year cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the mul tiple risk factor intervention trial. Diabetes Care. 1993;16:434 44.
- Goldman L, Caldera D, Fredrick MD. Cardiac risk factors and com plications in non cardiac surgery. Medicine. 1978;57(4)357 70.
- Egi M, Bellomo R, Stachowski E, et al. Variability of blood glucose concentration and short term mortality in critically ill patients. Anesthesiology. 2006;105:244 52.
- Hatzakorzian R, Bui H, Carvalho G, et al. Fasting blood glucose levels in patients presenting for elective surgery. Nutrition. 2011;27(3):298 301.
- Frisch A, Chandra P, Smiley D, et al. Prevalence and clinical out come of hyperglycemia in the peri operative period in noncardiac surgery. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:1783 8.
- 39. Type 2 diabetes: prevention in people at high risk | 2 public health need and practice | Guidance and guidelines | NICE https://www.nice. org.uk/guidance/ph38/chapter/2 public health need and practice. Accessed 21<sup>st</sup> August 2015.
- 40. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in dia betes 2013. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(S1):S11 66.
- 41.•• Bock M, Johansson T, Fritsch G, et al. The impact of preoperative testing for blood glucose concentration and haemoglobin A1c on mortality, changes in management and complications in noncardiac elective surgery: a systematic review. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2015;32: 152–9. This systematic review evaluates the association between

# glucose and HbA1C testing preoperatively and important out comes across a range of surgical specialities.

- World Health Organization. Use of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) in the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus. 2011. WHO/NMH/CHP/ CPM/11.1 http://www.who.int/diabetes/publications/diagnosis\_ diabetes2011/en/.
- Giori N, Ellerbe LS, Bowe T. Many diabetic total joint arthroplasty candidates are unable to achieve a preoperative hemoglobin A1c goal of 7% or less. J Bone Joint Surg. 2014;96(6):500 4.
- 44. Rayman G, Vas PR, Baker N. The Ipswich Touch Test: a simple and novel method to identify in patients with diabetes at risk of foot ulceration. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(7):1517 8.
- 45. Finfer S, Chittock DR, Su SY S, NICE SUGAR Study Investigators, et al. Intensive versus conventional glucose control in critically ill patients. N Engl J Med. 2009;360:1283 97.
- Ljungqvist O, Soop M, Hedström M. Why metabolism matters in elective orthopedic surgery: a review. Acta Orthop. 2007;78:610 5.
- 47. Ljungqvist O, Nygren J, Thorell A, Brodin U, Efendic S. Preoperative nutrition elective surgery in the fed or the overnight fasted state. Clin Nutr. 2001;20 Suppl 1:167 71.
- 48. Varadhan KK, Neal KR, Dejong CH, Fearon KC, et al. The en hanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) pathway for patients under going major elective open colorectal surgery: a meta analysis of randomized controlled trials. Clin Nutr. 2010;29(4):434 40.
- Smith MD, McCall J, Plank L, et al, Preoperative carbohydrate treatment for enhancing recovery after elective surgery. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD009161.
- Gustaffson UO, Nygren J, Thorell A, et al. Pre operative carbohy drate loading may be used in type 2 diabetes patients. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2008;52:946 51.
- Gustafsson UO et al. Guidelines for peri operative care in elective colonic surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS®) Society recommendations. World J Surg. 2013;37(2):259 84.
- Lumbley JL, Sa A, Tchokouani LS. Retrospective review of predis posing factors for intra operative pressure ulcer development. J Clin Anesth. 2014;26(5):368 74.
- Versluysen M. Pressure sores in elderly patients. The epidemiology related to hip operations. J Bone Joint Surg Ser B. 1985;67(1):10 3.
- Doenst T, Wijeysundera D, Karkouti K, et al. Hyperglycemia dur ing cardiopulmonary bypass is an independent risk factor for mo rality in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;130:1144.
- 55. Ouattara A et al. Poor intra operative blood glucose control is as sociated with a worsened hospital outcome after cardiac surgery in diabetic patients. J Am Soc Anesthesiol. 2005;103(4):687–94.
- Membership of the Working Party, Barker P, Creasey PE, Dhatariya K, et al. Perioperative management of the surgical patient with diabetes. Anaesthesia. 2015;70:1427–40.
- 57. Neves C, Paula Barbosa A, Carvalho D, et al. Administration of combined solutions of glucose insulin potassium (GIK) versus glu cose and insulin in separate solutions (GISS) in diabetic patients submitted to cardiac surgery [Portuguese] Administracao de glicose insulina potassio (GIK) em solucoes combinadas versus glicose e insulina em sistemas separados (GISS), em doentes diabeticos submetidos a cirurgia cardiac. Arq Med. 1999;13(1):4 8.
- Postoperative glycemia in patients with diabetes maintained on continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion during same day surgery

admission. Comparative Effectiveness/Health Outcomes/Quality Improvement/Patient or Provider Education/Endocrine Emergencies. Endocrine Society, 2013. SUN 284.

- Boyle ME, Seifert KM, Beer KA, et al. Guidelines for application of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (insulin pump) ther apy in the peri operative period. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2012;6(1):184 90.
- Remaley DT, Jaeblon T. Pressure ulcers in orthopedics. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010;18(9):568 75.
- Marculescu CE, Osmon DR. Antibiotic prophylaxis in orthopedic prosthetic surgery. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2005;19(4):931–46.
- Prokuski L. Prophylactic antibiotics in orthopedic surgery. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2008;16:283–93.
- Dowsey MM, Choong PF. Obese diabetic patients are at substantial risk for deep infection after primary TKA. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009;467(6):1577 81.
- Dowsey MM, Choong PF. Obesity is a major risk factor for pros thetic infection after primary hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2008;466(1):153 8.
- 65. Bratzler DW, Houck PM, Surgical infection prevention guidelines writers workgroup; American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons. Antimicrobial prophylaxis for surgery: an advisory statement from the National Surgical Infection Prevention Project. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;38:1706 15.
- 66. Umpierrez GE, Gianchandani R, Smiley D, et al. Safety and effica cy of sitagliptin therapy for the inpatient management of general medicine and surgery patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(11):3430 5.
- 67. Lee Y Y et al. Sliding scale insulin used for blood glucose control: a meta analysis of randomized controlled trials. Metabolism. 2015;64(9):935 1192.
- Flanagan D, Moore E, Baker S, et al. Diabetes care in hospital; the impact of a dedicated inpatient care team. Diabetes Med. 2008;25(2):147 51.
- Lazarevic MB, Skosey JL, Djordjevic Denic G, Swedler WI, Zgradic I, Myones BL. Reduction of cortisol levels after single intra articular and intramuscular steroid injection. Am J Med. 1995;99(4):370 3.
- Caudwell JR. Intra articular corticosteroids. Guide for selection and indications for use. Drugs. 1996;52(4):507 14.
- 71. Schairer WW, Nwachukwu BU, Mayman DJ, et al. Preoperative hip injections increase the rate of periprosthetic infection after total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2016;31(9 Suppl):166 9.e1.
- 72. Habib GS. Systemic effects of intra articular corticosteroids. Clin Rheumatol. 2009;28(7):749 56.
- Habib GS, Ramez A A. Lack of effect of corticosteroid injection at the shoulder joint on blood glucose levels in diabetic patients. Clin Rheumatol. 2007;26(4):566 8.
- 74. Habib G, Safia A. The effect of intra articular injection of betamethasone acetate/betamethasone sodium phosphate on blood glucose levels in controlled diabetic patients with symptomatic os teoarthritis of the knee. Clin Rheumatol. 2009;28(1):85 7.
- 75. Roberts A, James J, Dhatariya K, et al. Management of hyperglyemia and steroid (glucocorticoid) therapy. JBDS IP October 2014. Available at http://www.diabetologists abcd.org. uk/JBDS/JBDS\_IP\_Steroids.pdf. Accessed 18 Sept 2015.

# **CHAPTER 6**

## Developing the diabetes perioperative passport

In order to address the challenges of diabetes care throughout the perioperative journey, the DICE team had sought to inform and empower patients in the process. To this end, a patient held booklet was produced, similar to the maternity booklet or folder that is widely used for women to hold along their antenatal journey. The passport, like the maternity booklet, would be taken to each visit and accompany the patient to admission for surgery. The passport was developed with input from diabetes service users who formed a steering committee. Staff usability was also kept in mind with two groups of pre-assessment nurses from general surgery and orthopaedics invited to be involved in its development with varying success.

A working booklet was then piloted with the patients and staff from the two preassessment nursing groups approached and feedback was sought. Patient feedback regarding the passport was positive and has been published in a short report (appendix 1). The patient feedback was presented to the pre-assessment nurses and focus groups were carried out to understand their perception of the passport and address any challenges to implementing it, particularly in the group of orthopaedic preassessment nurses. The focus group exploration of this implementation challenge in the clinical setting forms the bases of this chapter.

# Chapter 6: Evaluating Implementation of the Diabetes Perioperative Passport: A qualitative focus group study

Improving diabetes care in the perioperative pathway had been addressed at a number of levels. As a research fellow I has spoken with anaesthetists and presented a diabetes specialists perspective on the challenges of glycaemic control perioperatively. I and other members of the DICE team had also spoken with surgeons across the surgical specialities about the importance of diabetes inpatient care and introduced the idea of the perioperative passport, which may be handed to the patient when they are accepted for surgery. It proved difficult to engage the consultants in surgical and anaesthetic groups in adopting changes in practice despite the recognised importance. It was interesting to me to note that team efforts to implement the perioperative passport in preassessment was received differently between two groups of nurses, one who see orthopaedic patients and the other who see a range of surgical specialities from ear, nose and throat to colorectal. The impetus for this research came from my observations of this differential uptake. I used this to define the research question and designed the study choosing focus groups as an appropriate way to examine this. I wrote the topic guide and planned the most efficient and practical way for the focus groups to be carried out. I then co-facilitated them along with the DICE project manager. As the researcher I went on to transcribe and locate relevant frameworks to analyse the resulting data with supervisor guidance. I interpreted the findings and wrote the manuscript within.

# Evaluating Implementation of the

# **Diabetes Perioperative Passport: A**

# qualitative focus group study

Funke Akiboye F<sup>\*1,2,3</sup>, Emma Page<sup>1</sup>, Krish Nirantharakumar<sup>2</sup>, Gerry Rayman<sup>1</sup>^, Antje Lindenmeyer<sup>2</sup>

- 1. Ipswich Hospital, Heath road, Ipswich, IP4 5PD
- 2. University of Birmingham, Birmingham B15 2TT
- 3. University Hospital Southampton, Tremona road, Southampton, SO16 6YD

\*corresponding author

^on behalf of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) team

## Abstract

## Aims

To examine the factors affecting implementation of an empowerment tool for patients with diabetes in two surgical groups within a single district general hospital

## Background

A perioperative passport was developed to improve care of people with diabetes undergoing elective surgery by equipping patients with a hand-held summary of their care needs. Two surgical groups were approached to be involved in developing and piloting this novel technology with contrasting results.

## Design

A qualitative study using focus groups to examine factors affecting staff engagement in implementing the diabetes perioperative passport.

### Methods

Two focus group were conducted in 2017 with pre-operative nurses in the departments of orthopaedics and general surgery of an NHS trust (N= 8). Audio-taped group discussions were transcribed, and the data coded and analysed to identify themes.

## Findings

The general surgical nurse group generally supported each other's views and comments. They were enthused about the passport throughout. In contrast, the orthopaedic specialist nurse group had initial reservations about implementing the passport, but as the focus group unfolded, they moved from sharing individual views to finding commonalities and became more engaged and motivated to use the passport.

## Conclusion

Focus groups are a practical and efficient tool to conduct within the usual working environment of an NHS hospital. In addition to capturing information about the challenges to implementation they may serve as a crucial implementation tool where evidence-based practice has not been adopted.

## Impact

This is the first study carried out in the NHS setting highlighting the benefit of focus groups as a practical implementation tool.

## Keywords

Focus groups, facilitators and barriers, implementation, diabetes, empowerment, passport

# Contributions to literature

- Diabetes is managed in the outpatient setting with care focusing on education and patient empowerment.
- Barriers for implementation of empowerment tools have not been fully explored.
- This study suggests the implementation of empowerment tools may pose an additional challenge to more specialist groups.
- It demonstrates that focus groups are practical and efficient and may also have utility in the implementation process beyond identifying the barriers to embedding a new technology.
- These findings contribute to the small body of evidence on the implementation of empowerment tools and highlight the benefit of focus groups as a useful tool in the implementation process.

# Introduction

European health care systems are currently facing multiple challenges. People are living longer and together with improvements in care this has resulted in a rising burden of chronic disease. There is now an increasing need for innovation to continue to deliver effective, safe care despite these pressures and limitations.

Diabetes is one such chronic condition which is growing in prevalence, with 3.9 million people diagnosed in the UK; this number is estimated rise to over 5.3 million by 2025 (1; 2). It accounts for 10% of the NHS budget with a significant portion of these costs related to hospitalisation (3). People with diabetes are more likely to be

admitted to hospital both for medical reasons and for surgical procedures than those without the condition (4). The patient journey for surgery from referral, through surgical and pre-assessment clinics, admission and theatre to recovery and discharge home is complex and involves a range of healthcare professionals. Diabetes adds a further challenge to this perioperative pathway; however no single healthcare professional specifically focuses on diabetes management, despite the poorer outcomes to surgery associated with sub-optimal glucose control (5). There is opportunity for innovations to improve care with potential cost savings. The management of diabetes in the community has moved from a doctor centred to a more individualised and patient centred approach with education and empowerment at its core (6). Education for inpatients with diabetes is usually delivered by diabetes specialist nurses; However, hospitalisation often results in the patients handing over access to food and medication and ultimately their diabetes care to non-specialists as 22% of hospitals in England and Wales do not currently have dedicated diabetes nurses (7). With 1 in 7 inpatients affected by diabetes, novel ways to provide education to patients and empower them in the hospital setting must be developed (7). It is also crucial that trained non-specialists are able to deliver these innovations.

Even when innovations are evidence based and shown to improve care, their implementation in the NHS can be difficult with variable adoption into routine practice (8). The National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) highlights 5 main barriers to implementation: awareness and knowledge, skills, acceptance and beliefs, motivation and practicalities (9). They stress that staff delivering the care need to be aware of the need for change; they must be trained where necessary to adopt the new technology. In order for this to be successful, they have to believe that they are able to deliver the innovation and that it will make a positive clinical difference and it must be adequately resourced in terms of personnel and time (9).

Despite the pressing need to innovate in the health service, strategies for implementation are inconsistently employed in practice. Furthermore, if implementation is unsuccessful it is not routine practice to evaluate the reasons why to address these factors. However, exploration of the reasons for failure to adopt an innovation could provide the key to integrating a new technology into routine practice.

# Background to the problem

## History of problem

A novel perioperative passport was designed to empower patients and improve care. This A5 ring-bound folder provides information for patients with diabetes on what to expect at each stage of the perioperative journey and what they could do to help manage their condition. In addition to patient information, the passport has sections for staff to fill in including information relating to their care such as weight, BP and HbA1c, enabling staff to document key information for the patient and illustrate any differences from the usual targets for these parameters. The aim was for people with diabetes to carry this patient-held record, literally taking their diabetes care in their own hands, to each professional contact from pre-surgical assessment to discharge. Example pages are shown in Box1.

The two largest pre-operative surgical nursing groups in the hospital were approached to participate in developing the passport at its inception and piloting the tool once produced. The project and pilot were enthusiastically taken up by a general surgical group; however, when it came to extending the pilot to a second surgical department in orthopaedics, implementation proved more challenging.

As part of the usual perioperative pathway, both groups assess the safety of patients to proceed with surgery and inform those with diabetes of risks of poor glycaemic control and any adjustments to make to their medication. A diabetes medication information leaflet is among the information both groups can distribute to appropriate patients. Participating nurses were asked to deliver the passport during their existing preassessment appointment and use it to provide a structured explanation of the patient's role in their own care, emphasising the importance of good glycaemic control from initial contact to discharge. Observations routinely recorded at this stage such as blood pressure, weight and HbA1c should also be entered on the passport. At home, the patient could familiarise themselves with what to expect prior to hospitalisation and bring in anything that would help with their glycaemic control around surgery, documenting their usual eating and treatment routines in the passport. Before and after surgery, the passport would be used by ward staff to treat and help patients manage their glucose levels; a discharge checklist empowers the patient to ensure that they are being discharged safely.

The experienced band 8 lead nurse of the general surgical nurse (GSN) group played a key role in the design and development of the passport, ensuring it would be usable and relevant to the broad range of surgical specialities managed by her team. Once developed the passport was presented to the GSN group with guidance and training provided on how to use it in daily practice. Additionally, they were asked as part of the pilot to feed back about its usefulness and content in practice; they were informed we would also ask for feedback from patients. Conversely, the orthopaedic surgical nurse (OSN) group did not participate in developing the passport but were approached again to pilot it with their patient group and provide feedback on its utility.

In order to prepare the GSN group for implementation of the passport, there was a session to present the passport to them and train them in using it attended by around 7 nurses. They were actively encouraged by their service lead to incorporate it into their consultations and shown how this would work in practice. It was more difficult to address the OSN group all together and following initial efforts to involve them in development of the passport a number of visits were made to their shared office over the course of several weeks to catch them individually to explain the passport and encourage them to issue it to their patients. Although hospital data indicated that the largest volume of elective surgery on people with diabetes in the trust was carried out in orthopaedics, the OSN group did not manage to hand out the passport to any patients. Following this, the decision was made after several months for the inpatient diabetes specialist nursing team to post the passports out to orthopaedic patients directly with a brief contact phone call explaining how to use it. This enabled patient feedback to be captured from orthopaedic patients.

Initially, we aimed to explore acceptability and feasibility of delivering the passport. An additional research question emerged from the observation of the differing responses to the opportunity to develop and pilot the perioperative passports between the OSN and GSN groups within a single hospital which is the main focus of this article. It is uncommon to have the opportunity to gain feedback from non-responders in research, however this is crucial for successful implementation of evidenced technologies (10). This study therefore uses focus groups to explore the utility and practicality of implementing the diabetes perioperative passport aiming to extend its use to the OSN group. The groups also form a 'case study' of differences in organisational culture at the same trust and provide an insight into the ways in which these differences can shape the

implementation of an intervention. These insights are valuable for the planning and rolling out of interventions throughout the NHS.

## Aims/Use of focus groups

This article focuses on the challenges experienced by orthopaedic specialist nurses in implementing the diabetes perioperative passport in their clinical work in comparison to the group of general surgical preassessment nurses. As these differences were observed within the same trust, an exploration of the groups' differing work cultures and challenges was of greater interest than larger structural barriers which the GSN group had overcome. Qualitative research lends itself well to this research question as it aims to explore the reasons why there were differences in involvement with the passport between the groups.

The focus group methodology involves facilitated discussion between colleagues sharing their views on the passport and enables a collective voice of each of the groups to be heard, drawing out opinions on adopting this initiative in the nurses' respective clinical areas. It was important to note the differences in the structure of the teams and observe the group dynamics that may account for their contrasting responses to the passport. and observe the way participants communicated and interacted to influence each other within the discussion.

## Ethical considerations

An email and written information sheet outlining the aim of the research and assuring participants that their responses would be anonymised was distributed to nurses. To allow both groups to freely voice their opinions we presented patient feedback on the passport and asked for staff to consider whether it would work in its current state in their clinical area. This approach was also chosen to minimise a perception of being judged and resultant distress especially for the group who did not implement the passport.

The project received ethical approval from the University of Birmingham.

# The researchers' role

FA worked in the trust as a diabetes research fellow which involved promoting initiatives set up by the diabetes team and collecting data on impact. FA and the passport project manager, EP, met the OSNs individually to show them the passport, invite them to hand it out and reinforce the need for data gathering from their patient group.

EP was involved in developing the passport, promoting and educating nurses on its use and co-facilitating in the focus groups with FA.

# Methods

## Participants

The GSN group comprised 3 participants with 5 OSNs in attendance.

## Research site location

The study was carried out at district general hospital with a sizable orthopaedic department taking elective surgery from the surrounding areas.

## Focus groups

The groups were carried out in each group's respective clinical/ office space for over lunch for comfort, convenience and practicality.

The focus groups were conducted over around 45 minutes with three sections:

## Overview and feedback on the passport

EP presented a brief overview of the challenges for the patient with diabetes in navigating the surgical pathway, highlighting the impetus for developing the passport. Patients' feedback on the passport was presented by PowerPoint; this has been reported separately (11). Participants were free to ask questions.

## Reviewing the passport

Passports were distributed at the beginning of the focus groups giving participants an opportunity to see its layout and finish, and refer to it during the presentation.

## Exploring usability and applicability

The main focus group was conducted using a semi-structured topic guide (see appendix 1) to explore staff attitudes to the passport exploring whether and how they felt they could incorporate it into their clinical practice.

## Analysis

The focus groups were transcribed, and two coding cycles applied to the transcripts. The first cycle used both in-vivo coding (using participants' own words) and process coding to elicit the nurses' perspectives on the passport and to allow the interaction of individuals to be explored (12). Memos of the researcher's thoughts and observations made during the first coding cycle were fed into the second coding cycle along with the invivo and process codes. In the second cycle, the focus was on the dynamics within the group. Therefore, gerunds such as agreeing, reinforcing and questioning increasingly emerged in this phase. This phase integrated first cycle codes and coding of the researcher's memos in order to develop further themes from the data.

The emergent themes were applied to appropriate frameworks. As the themes from the in-vivo coding were largely nurses' understanding of the passport and challenges they faced in implementing it in their department, they were first mapped to a comprehensive summary of the known barriers and facilitators taken from a systematic review on implementation of technologies in the hospital setting (13). Themes from the second phase will be discussed in relation to differences between the two groups and the group dynamics.

## Results

## Group structure

The structure of the GSN and OSN groups differ. The OSN group were experienced nurses (band 6-8) working with a named orthopaedic consultant, their associated anaesthetist and designated secretary. Each OSN therefore specialised in a joint or limb area for example hip and knee. While there may be some cross cover of duties at times, there is no leader or hierarchy within the group of OSNs. The GSNs were a small group of Band 3-5 nurses led by a dynamic and experienced lead nurse on the cusp of retirement who was the point of contact for a wide range of surgical teams and anaesthetists. Regular meetings allowed information, changes and concerns to be cascaded to the more junior nursing team. They all pre-assess patients from a range of surgical specialities.

The participants represented a pragmatic sample of available pre-assessment nurses on a given day for both groups. The OSN group comprised a significant portion of the whole group with 5 nurses, while a smaller sample of 3 nurses participated from the GSN group. The lead nurse from the GSN group who had been heavily involved in development of the passport had retired at the time of interview and was therefore not in attendance.

## **Emergent themes**

The themes emerging from the first round of coding the OSN and GSN transcript were mainly barriers and facilitators of implementation such as lack of time. These themes mapped well onto categories from a systematic review of staff reported barriers and facilitators to the implementation hospital-based intervention (13). This provided a valuable framework to display the key areas reported by the nurses during the focus groups in the wider context of implementation within hospitals. The 12 categories identified in the systematic review are displayed, with key domains highlighted in bold within Table 1.

There were:

- 1. Environmental context, particularly staff workload and time
  - 10

- 2. Culture attitude to change, motivation, champions and role models
- 3. Staff commitment and attitude- need and ownership
- 4. Role identity
- 5. Skills, ability and confidence

Table 1.

This table summarises the broad categories (system, staff and environment ) and areas within these

categories found to be barriers and facilitators to implementation in a recent systematic review (13).

The subdomains highlighted in this study are indicated in bold.

	Domain and description	sub-domain examples
SYSTEM		
	Environmental context	IT, staff, time, workload
	Physical, structural resources of the context, along with its processes and personal resources	
	<u>Culture</u> System culture, beliefs and behaviours in relation to change and staffing roles	Attitude to change, commitment and motivation, flexibility of roles/trust, champions/role models
	<u>Communication processes</u> Online and in-person communication	Processes within the context
	External requirements	Reporting, standards, guidelines
	External pressures or expectations	
STAFF		
	Staff commitment and attitudes micro-level beliefs, attitudes and behaviours toward change in general, and the intervention	Perceived validity/need, ownership, perceived efficiency of the intervention
	Understanding/ awareness Understanding the aims and methodology of the intervention	Understanding the goals of the intervention, and of the processes/ mechanics
	Role identity Beliefs and attitudes towards work role and responsibilities	Flexibility, responsibility

	Skills, ability, confidence Sense of capacity to carry out the tasks of the intervention, managing barriers posed by the target population and their work environment	Ability and confidence to engage patients, to carry out the intervention, to manage stress/competing priorities/ patient barriers
INTERVENTION		
	Ease of integration How well the intervention "fits" with the current system, resources and needs of the population and context	Complexity, cost and resources required acceptability/suitability to system, staff and patients
	Face validity/ evidence base Is the intervention is grounded in solid evidence	Theory and evidence
	Safety/legal/ ethical concerns	Patient or staff safety; medico-legal concerns
	Supportive components components of the intervention which support and facilitate change	Education/training provided, marketing/awareness, audit/feedback, end user involvement

# Data analysis

Similarities between groups

The themes emerging from the groups highlight the perceived strengths and weaknesses of the passport from

a nursing perspective and identify the facilitators and barriers to its implementation in both pre-assessment

clinics.

The areas the nurses in both groups expressed similar views or approaches on the passport were:

- Appreciation of benefit of passport to patients
- Importance of an up to date and comprehensive document

Quotes illustrating these areas of agreement are shown in table 2.

Illustrative quotes for the barriers and facilitators expressed in both groups are displayed in the categories and subdomains they mapped to in table 2.

Table 2 Mapped illustrative quotes

Factor	Illustrative quotes
SYSTEM	
Environmental context	Workload:
	GSN- if we give it [passport] to all diabetic patientsI would imagine there's quite a few
	OSN- It would be every diabetic patient
	OSN- we would have to fill this in as well as our charts it will take a little bit more time to do that
	Time:
	GSN- We're limited for time and I don't think this [passport] takes up a huge chunk of time.
	OSN- we really, really need to know who the diabetic patients are so we could have an extra 10 minutes.
Culture	Attitude toward change:
	OSN- Is it [passport] more workthat's the main stumbling block with introducing anything new.
	System level commitment:
	OSN- he [surgeon] is so inflexiblehe's a lovely man, but inflexible.
	Champions:
	GSN- It would be nice if other departments got to know about it [passport] if we just start it up
STAFE	
Staff commitment and attitude	Attitude toward the intervention:
	GSN- Better than what we've got [i.e. generic leaflets], yes by farmore attractive as well

	OSN- To be honest this [passport] is all we need to give them
	Beliefs regarding the need for intervention:
	GNS- We often used to get comments like "how will my diabetes be managed, you know, while I'm in hospital."
	Motivation:
	GSN- I'm eager to do one [give out/ explain the passport] with someone with diabetes staying overnight 'cause I've got type 1 diabetes as well.
	GSN- Anything that's gonna help to improve or stabilise their condition.
	OSN-[nurse gives example of a patient who shouted at her after she called to delay his surgery due to sub-optimal glycaemic control and felt written guidance for him would have supported her in this task.]
	"When I phone him her was really aggressive. Actually if he had this booklet"
	"it's good for us as well."
	Ownership
	OSN As long as the nurses on the word know about it [nassnort]
	GSN- I'd be happy to fill in one of these for all patients, if that's the way it's going to go.
Role identity	Staff role identity:
	OSN- Who are you expecting to do the diabetes check list?
Skills, ability, confidence	Confidence to deliver the passport:
	OSN- They would have questions you can't say don't ask me any questions
	GSN- Quite easy for us to do our bit [complete the health professional sections of the passport]
	GSNit's all there already so you're literally just taking the patient through.

Patient related barriers:
OSNif you put too much stuff in they just stop reading it.
GSNthey would only have this themselvesit's how reliable the patient is on the dayso it's trying to make sure the two are [coordinated].
Time management:
OSN- We would have to fill this out as well as our charts [pause] which is fine

## Differences between groups

Despite universal appreciation of the passport as beneficial and a well-designed tool, there were areas in

which the groups differed in their willingness to utilise it in their routine practice.

These centred on the work required and the nurses' ability to find time and have the resources to implement it

in practice. Contrasting attitudes are highlighted in in table 2.

There were 4 key areas where groups differed:

- Ease of use/ time burden
- Culture and attitude to change
- Staff role identity
- Skills/ ability/ confidence

## Ease of use/ time burden

The GSN group did not feel that the passport significantly added to their workload while the OSNs expressed that this would be a duplication of some information they had in leaflets for patients with diabetes. Some felt that the additional explanations and documentation of observations in the passport could be time-consuming and patients with diabetes would therefore require longer appointments.

## Culture and attitude to change

There also were differences in culture between the groups and among individuals in the OSN group in their attitude to change. The GSN group maintained their senior nurse's openness to change as shown by her involvement in developing the passport and encouraging staff to use it. In the OSN group a nurse who offered to hand them out to her patients initially was a lone voice in the focus group.

## Staff role identity

#### Advocacy vs Authority

There is a contrast between the two nursing groups in the roles the nurses played in supporting the patient journey. The advocacy role is more evident from the outset with the GSN nurses.

In care settings, advocacy is a process of supporting and enabling people to express their views and concerns, access information and services, explore their options and promote their responsibilities (14). GSNs spoke a lot from a hypothetical patient perspective "if I was a patient..." and portrayed the passport as useful and informative for patients. This perhaps reflects their junior level and consequently the more limited experience they could draw on. Their role is not to explain the surgery in detail to the patient, but rather prepare them for it, giving patients an idea what to expect in hospital and signposting where necessary. It is worth noting that one of the nurses in the GSN focus group was a staff nurse with type 1 diabetes. She had not used the passport but spoke enthusiastically, sometimes from a personal viewpoint, of living with the condition and expressed she felt it was a good idea for patients. Nurses drew on empathic advocacy about patients being the expert of their disease which was likely influenced by her presence: "they're the best people to manage their condition, aren't they".

The OSN group nurses had specialist knowledge in their limb or joint area and the information they give patients is tailored with some pathways structured slightly differently. They also describe a way of working which is specific to the consultant(s) they work with; consequently, information can be provided not only about the latest evidence for that type of surgery, but also about the operating surgeon's and anaesthetist's usual practice. "we're going to be giving our hip and knee patients a high carb drink to take home... on the enhanced recovery programme". This implied a different approach to patients attending pre-assessment. They

take a more directive approach, informing patients what to expect and enforcing what was required of them. They appeared to carry more responsibility for ensuring perioperative readiness and had the power to delay surgery if this was not delivered. "...when I saw him at pre-admission I told him that if his ...HbA1c weren't better...we couldn't do surgery". Taking on this authoritative role is challenging at times: "you don't want to tell them they need to lose loads of weight..."

Later in the focus group discussion the OSNs also mentioned their role as patient advocates. This is 35 minutes into the group compared with just 6 minutes for the GSN's, who alluded to this role enthusiastically and frequently.

## Skills, ability, confidence

The OSN group suggested that the passport was a good idea; however there was a large perceived impact on their time and workload. This is in contrast to the GSN group who felt it was quick and easy to use in everyday practice. This difference may have, in part, been a reflection of lower confidence they had in explaining diabetes care to patients in the detail that the passport appeared to require.

## Changes during focus group

During the process of coding, differences in responses between the groups became apparent. Additionally, there were some themes where OSNs as a group appeared to change their position as the focus group progressed. The domains of the barriers and facilitators framework where these changes were most marked were motivation and group identity.

1. Motivation

While the OSN group appreciated it was a useful intervention for patients, this statement was generally caveated by the question of what would be expected of them in implementing it emphasising that this would affect their workload. This perception appeared to shift after one of the nurses shared a story of a personal challenge with an aggressive patient whose surgery had to be delayed due to poor glucose control. The

personal benefit to the nurses of using the passport was illustrated and there were no further objections to its utility.

#### 2. Team identity

The structural differences in the set-up of the two nursing groups is apparent early in their interactions. The GSNs were speaking as peers doing the same work who could ask each other for advice and support. They shared practice and affirmed each other's statements and observations. The GSN group were quite vocal in their comradery making affirmative comments and statements throughout.

Initially, the OSN nurses spoke about their individual joint or limb practice or quirks of the surgeon they worked closely with, which did not relate to the practice of others in the group. They gave each other space to speak and respected the position of their peers, but were not seeking to support each other through the initial interactions. As the focus group progressed, the OSN group appeared to become more cohesive in emphasising and expanding on what their colleagues had just stated.

There was a noticeable difference towards the latter part of the OSN focus group. The pivot point appeared to be strong words from a senior nurse about the workload and time pressures. She expressed a collective will to help patients, but also the shared feeling of time scarcity. With this clearly and openly stated the nurses appeared able to move past their individual objections to the passport and started brainstorming how it may be implemented at other stages in the pathway to allow patients to benefit whilst limiting the impact on their own workload: "we do a hip and knee group, perhaps you could come and hand it out there".

The behaviour change model helps categorise what is observed during the focus group. The main change appears to be centred around scenario-based risk taking. Over the course of the discussion the nurses in both groups offered issues they had encountered or noticed themselves with patient care. Finally, the single story shared in the OSN group around this challenging patient scenario was an act of storytelling or Scenario-based risk-taking. It was powerful for both groups in connecting them as a team with shared experiences and particularly with the OSN group helped address their collective concerns and provided a potential individual motivation to use the passport.

## Discussion

People with diabetes are educated and empowered to facilitate daily self-care to manage their condition. This patient-held booklet encourages patients to retain ownership of their condition while encountering a range of professionals throughout their perioperative journey.

Our findings indicate that although two groups within the same organisation may share positive views about a new intervention, the attitude to and subsequent success of implementation is highly dependent on other factors. Crucial barriers were noted under the sub-domains of staff commitment and attitudes to change, role identity and skills, ability and confidence with differences in the perceived extra workload or time commitment required to administer the passport. The reasons for this contrast appears to, in part, be related to differences in the composition and structure of the teams.

The group structure and presence of a team with a shared purpose and clear leadership is known to be an important factor in implementation (15). Change orientated leadership has been shown to aid learning and psychological safety within a team (16). While the GSNs benefited from this in their group structure: the OSN group worked alongside their consultants and so did not; this structure also appeared to link to their professional identity.

In the GSN group staff had a role identity as patient advocate which fed into the belief that the passport addressed patient needs and that they could reasonably incorporate it into their practice. For the OSNs, the empowering purpose of the passport was perhaps more challenging to the existing role identity of a more specialised position; they also required additional time to incorporate it into their role.

The place of professional role identity in the implementation of empowerment tools has not previously been explored in the literature. However, a study by Dijkstra and colleagues noted more resistance embedding an empowerment tool among consultant physicians compared to diabetes nurses (17). There were mixed views among the consultant group with lack of motivation and lack of time cited as barriers to implementation in keeping with our study, perhaps indicating that they identified their value as their expertise and specialist knowledge in a similar way to the OSN group. The differing response of the staff groups to this tool suggests that role identity can actas either a barrier or facilitator (13).

Conversely, rather than having fixed identities, staff can also take on a range of roles, for example in achieving patient adherence. Following a year-long ethnographic study roles adopted by doctors in treating patients with diabetes were categorised as educators, detectives, negotiators, salesmen, cheerleaders and policemen depending on how they interacted with the patient and the strategies they employed to encourage adherence e.g. praising for achievement of goals or warning of complications (18). It is interesting to note the more authoritarian style of the OSN group nurses is in line with the "policeman" role Lutfey describes. This is in contrast to the more "cheerleading" role taken by the GSNs. This observation raises the question of the role adopted by the person delivering an intervention in the success of implementation including the role of a group's collective dominant working style. The most effective style of implementing in each group may be influenced by the dominant style they adopt in clinical practice. It may be that HCPs groups who have a predominantly authoritative or "policeman" way of working respond best to the same style they adopt or a very contrasting style such as negotiator or detective whereas cheerleaders, who already share a collective agenda, might respond best to a policemen approach. This is a potential area for further exploration.

Beyond highlighting the dynamics of the groups, perhaps the most interesting finding in this study was the role of the focus group in facilitating change, which is otherwise poorly described in the literature. Despite definitions of focus groups as opportunities to observe the interaction between participants and the shared development of thoughts and ideas is rarely reported. Instead, researchers appear to use them as time efficient simultaneous individual interviews. This discrepancy has been explored in a meta-analysis by Belziles et al which explains the key role of group cohesion in this process. "If participants manage to establish common ground they behave more as a small group (co-creating the narrative as they go along);if they do not...they will behave more as individuals "expressing private views (19). This again highlights the importance of the differences in structure of the groups, but goes some way to explaining the place of story-telling in producing these changes in the OSN group during the focus group. The power of story-telling was also noted in some studies included in Geerlig's review where sharing success stories influenced in staff's readiness for change (13). Importantly, these findings reinforce the potential usefulness of focus groups not only in gathering information about the barriers for implementation, but additionally and crucially as a behaviour change tool in their own right.

## Reflections

The primary researcher FA was promoting the passport with nurses and in this role recognises that codes may have been assigned to the two groups reflecting some of the resistance encountered from the OSN group prior to the focus group. There did not appear to be a particular anxiety in the group about speaking openly however as many in the group had previously been approached directly there may have been some initial guarding in their responses.

The observation of the emerging narrative between focus group participants is thought to originate from the researcher's assumption that the participants co-construct meaning rather than participants sharing their preformed opinions. This approach is associated with more socially-orientated researchers (19).

## Strengths and Limitations

The study is limited in the size of the GSN group which had only 3 participants for practical reasons. Although this is less than usual for a focus group it is not likely to have had a significant impact on the view shared as the participants in this group had a very similar approach.

There were 5 participants in the OSN group which was appropriate as a larger group may have silenced some colleagues from active participation. In both groups every participant contributed to the discussion.

The senior nurse who set up the passport had since retired and was not therefore involved in the focus groups which allowed the small group of GSNs to speak freely about their views on the passport.

## Conclusions and implications

The data shows that evidence-based tools can be challenging to implement within a department even if the tool is regarded by staff as beneficial for patients. Perceived lack of time and motivation are barriers to the implementation of empowerment tools which may be more notable in staff with specialist and authoritative role identities. However, this may be modified by addressing other areas such as skill and patient related barriers.

Another useful finding is related to the use of focus groups. They are routinely conducted to assess the barriers implementing an evidence-based technology in a time pressured and busy hospital setting. Moreover,

through sharing of stories or scenario-based risk taking, focus groups can be vehicle for behaviour change and may aid implementation in areas or departments where adoption of a tool has previously been less successful. The ways in which professionals involved in implementation in the healthcare setting tailor their strategy to different groups is a potential area for further research.

List of abbreviations

# Declarations

## Author contributions

Funke Akiboye and Krish Nirantharakumar developed the concept of the study with input from Antje Lindenmeyer. Funke Akiboye designed the study with supervision of Antje Lindenmeyer. Funke Akiboye carried out the focus group, transcribed and analysed the data and prepared the manuscript under the supervision of Antje Lindenmeyer. Emma Page was involved conducting the focus groups and the designing and implementation of the passport with Funke Akiboye and under the guidance and close supervision Gerry Rayman. All authors reviewed, contributed to and approved the final manuscript.

## Competing interests

The authors have no conflicts of interests. No external funding was received to conduct this research.

## Ethics approval and consent to participate

This research was approved by University of Birmingham's ethics committee and written consent was gained from participants.

## Funding

No funding was received for this research

## Consent to publication

Not applicable to this research.

## Availability of data and materials

Transcripts are not available in public repository for participant confidentiality, but portions are available on reasonable request from the first author.

## Acknowledgements

Thank you to the Diabetes Specialist Nursing team Rachael Marie-Round Christopher Kerry, Yasmin Hunt, Sarah Barker and the DICE team for their contribution to developing and distributing the perioperative passport.

# List of abbreviations

OSN - Orthopaedic specialist nurse

GSN - General surgical nurse

HCP - Health care professional

# References

1. Diabetes UK. Diabetes Prevalence 2019. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 29 Feburary 2020.]

https://www.diabetes.org.uk/professionals/position-statements-reports/statistics/diabetes-prevalence-2019.

2. Number of people with diabetes reaches 4.8 million. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 29 February 2020.]

https://www.diabetes.org.uk/about\_us/news/diabetes-prevalence-2019.

3. The cost of diabetes. [Online] 2014. [Cited: 29 February 2020.] https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resourcess3/2017-11/diabetes%20uk%20cost%20of%20diabetes%20report.pdf.

4. Comino E J, Harris M F and Haas M. *Impact of diabetes on hospital admission and length of stay among a general population aged 45 year or more: a record linkage study.* 2015, BMC Health Services Research, Vol. 15, p. 12.

5. Serio S, Clements JM, Grauf D, Merchant AM. Outcomes of diabetic and nondiabetic patients undergoing general and vascular surgery. ISRN Surgery. 2013 Dec;2013:963930. DOI: 10.1155/2013/963930.
6. Boström E, Isaksson U, Lundman B, Lehuluante A, Hörnsten Å. *Patient-centred care in type 2 diabetes - an altered professional role for diabetes specialist nurses.*. 4,: Nodric college of science, 2014, Scand J Caring Science, Vol. 28, pp. 675-82.

7. NHS digital. National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 2018 : NHS digital, 2019.

8. NHS Innovation Accelorator: The AHSN Network. *Understanding how and why the NHS adopts innovation.* : The Bayswater Institute, 2018.

9. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. *How to change practice - understand, identy and overcome barriers to change.* 2007.

10. *The impact of non-repsonders on health and lifestyle outcomes in an intervention study.* Hansen E, Fonager K, Freund KS, Lous J. 632, 2014, Vol. 7.

 Page E, Akiboye F, Jackson S, Kerry C, Round R, Rayman G; DICE team\*. Perioperative passport: empowering people with diabetes along their surgical journey. Diabet Med. 2017 Dec;34(12):1737-1741. doi: 10.1111/dme.13513. Epub 2017 Oct 20. PMID: 28921676

12. Saldana J. *The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers*. : SAGE Publications Ltd, 2016. IBSN 978-1-4739-0248-0.

13. Geerligs L, Rankin NM, Shepherd HL, Butow P. Hospital-based interventions: a systematic review of staffreported barriers and facilitators to implementation processes. Implement Sci. 2018;13(1):36.

14. Carlisle S. *Health promotion, advocacy and health inequalities: a conceptual framework*. Health Promotion International, 2000, Vol. 15, pp. 369-76.

16. Ortega A, Van den Bossche P, Sánchez-Manzanares M, Rico R & Gil F . *The Influence of Change-Oriented Leadership and Psychological Safety on Team Learning in Healthcare Teams.* Journal of Business psychology 2014, Vol. 29, pp. 311-321.

17. Dijkstra R, Braspenning J, Grol R. *Empowering patients: how to implement a diabetes passport in hospital care.* 2, 30 October 2001, Patient Education and Counseling, Vol. 47, pp. 742-747.

18. Lutfey K. On practices of 'good doctoring': reconsidering the relationship between provider roles and patient adherence. 4, 2005, Vol. 27, pp. 421-447.

19. Belzize J, Oberg G. *Where to begin? Grappling with how to use participant interraction in focus group design.* Qualitative reserach, 2012, Vol. 12, pp. 459-472.

# Appendix

# 1. Semi-structured Discussion Guide for perioperative passport focus group:

- 1. Tell us your current role and how long you have been working in surgery.
- 2. Explanation of how the passport was developed.
- 3. Staff feedback from looking at the passport in session
- **4.** Positive and negative things about the passport
- **5.** Features to change/add.
- 6. Overall satisfaction with the current passport.
- 7. Presentation of perioperative passport pilot results
- 8. Any usability issues in practice for staff
- 9. Factors that may affect acceptability and adoption of the passport.
- **10**. Willingness to use the passport in the future and why.
  - When appropriate to use the passport?
  - When and why not appropriate to use the passport?
  - Wishes/ suggestions for improvements.
- **11.** Any other thoughts about the passport.
- **12.** Is there anything we should have talked about, but didn't?

## Give a big thanks to all participants!

Appendix for Chapter 6

# Short Report: Care Delivery

# Perioperative passport: empowering people with diabetes along their surgical journey

E. Page<sup>1</sup>, F. Akiboye<sup>1</sup>, S. Jackson<sup>2</sup>, C. Kerry<sup>1</sup>, R. Round<sup>1</sup> and G. Rayman<sup>1</sup> on behalf of the DICE team\*

<sup>1</sup>Diabetes Centre, Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, Ipswich, UK and <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology, University of the West of England, Bristol, UK

Accepted 14 September 2017

### Abstract

Aim To determine whether a handheld 'perioperative passport' could improve the experience of perioperative care for people with diabetes and overcome some of the communication issues commonly identified in inpatient extracts.

**Methods** Individuals with diabetes undergoing elective surgery requiring at least an overnight stay were identified via a customized information technology system. Those allocated to the passport group were given the perioperative passport before their hospital admission. A 26-item questionnaire was completed after surgery by 50 participants in the passport group (mean age 69 years) and by 35 participants with diabetes who followed the usual surgical pathway (mean age 70 years). In addition, the former group had a structured interview about their experience of the passport.

**Results** The prevalence of those who reported having received prior information about their expected diabetes care was 35% in the control group vs 92% in the passport group (P<0.001). The passport group found the information given significantly more helpful (P<0.001), including the advice on medication adjustment (P 0.008). Furthermore, those with the passport were more involved in planning their diabetes care (P<0.001), less anxious whilst in hospital (P<0.044) and better prepared to manage their diabetes on discharge ( $P\le0.001$ ). The mean length of hospital stay was shorter in the passport group, although the difference did not reach significance (4.4 vs 6.5 days; P<0.058). Content analysis indicated that the passport was well liked and innovative.

**Conclusion** Our data indicate that the perioperative passport is effective in both informing and involving people in their diabetes care throughout the perioperative period.

Diabet. Med. 34, 1737 1741 (2017)

#### Introduction

The Perioperative pathway is often a multi step process which can be particularly challenging to people with diabetes, with many experiencing anxiety and dissatisfaction with their care [1]. The Joint British Diabetes Societies (JBDS) guidelines state the perioperative process should be seamless and that the patient should be involved in planning at all stages [2], yet failure of communication is often identified as a common issue in inpatient experiences [3] along with difficulty in identifying high risk patients prior to surgery [2]. Primary care referrals often lack detail about diabetes, such as the patient's recent HbA<sub>1c</sub> concentration or their glucose medication, and some fail to make mention of diabetes at all in the referral letter [4].

It is known that people's ability to self manage is integral to successful diabetes management [5]. People undergoing elective surgery who manage their diabetes every day in the community often find it disempowering when hospital staff, many of whom have little diabetes experience, prevent them taking decisions about their diabetes management [2]. In one Dutch study conducted in six hospitals, only half the participants reported that they had received information about perioperative diabetes treatment and only one third of the participants received any information about the effect of surgery on blood glucose. Most participants were unaware of their diabetes perioperative caregiver or of who to contact in case of diabetes related problems during their hospital stay. Half felt able to ask questions and only one third felt involved in the decision making regarding their diabetes treatment [6].

Correspondence to: Gerrv Ravman. E mail:

<sup>\*</sup>Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) team: E. Page, F. Akiboye, C. Kerry, R. Round, S. Barker, Y. Hunt, L. Hughes, S. Mitchell, D. Fowler, D. Morris, C. Parkinson, S. Sharma, G. Rayman

#### What's new?

- We developed a perioperative passport as a novel approach to help overcome the disempowerment and poor communication that is often experienced by people with diabetes undergoing elective surgery.
- The passport contained essential information pertaining to a surgical inpatient stay and addressed common questions that patients may ask about their care.
- Quantitative and qualitative methods showed that the perioperative passport was effective in involving and informing people with diabetes undergoing elective surgery.
- The perioperative passport has the potential to be widely adopted by other National Health Service Trusts wishing to enhance their perioperative pathway for elective patients with diabetes.

The JBDS perioperative guidance has tried to address many of the issues experienced by people with diabetes undergoing surgery, but many health trusts report difficulty introducing this guidance or in achieving successful improve ments. A study in the Netherlands looked at implementing a multifaceted improvement strategy across six hospitals but found that this had limited impact on the quality of perioperative diabetes care [7].

These difficulties prompted us to consider a new strategy in which people with diabetes are empowered through their perioperative journey. We took the definition of empower ment as being a patient centred, collaborative approach tailored to match the fundamental realities of diabetes care [8].

To empower patients we came up with the concept of a handheld 'perioperative passport' containing essential information pertaining to a surgical inpatient stay and questions that patients may wish to ask about their care. The 'passport' was put together by a working group of diabetes specialists, surgical healthcare professionals and the Ipswich Hospital Diabetes Patient User Group. The passport was also approved by the hospital reading group to make sure it was set at a suitable reading age.

The passport was designed for the patient to take to each of the stages in the perioperative journey and to be used as a collaborative tool for patients and healthcare professionals. The passport was broken down into the stages of the perioperative journey. It included information for the patient to fill in about their diabetes care, information for healthcare professionals to fill in to inform the patient of aspects of their preadmission care and information about what to expect in terms of diabetes care whilst in hospital. Pages relating to each of the three aspects of care were colour coded for ease of identification (Fig. 1 and Appendix S1).

We aimed to determine whether the passport would help people with diabetes undergoing elective surgery feel better informed and more involved in their diabetes care at various stages of the perioperative process.

#### **Participants and Methods**

#### Study design

This comparative study was carried out at Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust and compared the experience of patients under going usual diabetes elective care with those who were also given a perioperative diabetes passport. Usual care included being given pre printed instructions produced by the diabetes team at the pre assessment clinic specifically addressing preadmission eating and drinking and diabetes medication adjustment and being prescribed a bedside snack by the



FIGURE 1 Colour coded pages of the perioperative passport.

diabetes inpatient specialist nurses on admission. The diabetes inpatient nurses were available to patients in both groups during their admission.

This study was deemed to be an assessment of service improvement and not research by the Trust's Research and Governance Committee. Approval to conduct the study was thus sought from and given by the Hospital's Audit Com mittee.

#### Participants

To be included in the study, participants had to be undergoing elective general, orthopaedic or spinal surgery and require at least an overnight stay. Participants were identified using a customized information technology system when listed for surgery and were randomly allocated to a group via simple random allocation using computer soft ware. Those who no longer required surgery or who opted to not proceed with surgery were then excluded. More patients in the passport group went on to have surgery, resulting in 53 participants in the passport group and 39 in the non passport group being given the questionnaire.

#### Procedures

The passport group received an introductory telephone call from the diabetes nurse team before receiving the passport in the post. The passport was explained to them and they were asked to fill out the relevant sections in the passport and bring this to all appointments and the admission. Before its implementation, preoperative staff, relevant ward nurses, junior doctors and consultants were made aware of the passport at *ad hoc* briefing sessions.

We could find no standard validated measure to evaluate the various aspects of care associated with the diabetes passport. The team generated a number of questions which, after discussion and feedback from patients, were finalised at 26 items. The questions comprised some dichotomous items, while the majority required the participants to rate various aspects of care on a 10 point scale. The items were presented to partic ipants in the form of a three part questionnaire, as follows: 1) experience before coming to hospital; 2) experiences whilst in hospital; and 3) experiences of discharge (Appendix S2). On discharge, both groups were given this questionnaire which was returned via post, thus minimizing the interpersonal contact between researcher and participant. Participants in the passport group were given the option to take part in a structured telephone interview once they had completed the questionnaire. Fifteen participants opted to do this.

#### Analyses

The quantitative data from the questionnaire items requiring participants to respond on a 10 point scale were analysed using ANOVA and data presented as means and sD values.

Categorical data were analysed using chi squared tests. The interview data were analysed by a psychologist (S.J.) using content analysis with an implicit coding structure.

#### Results

The two groups were similar in age (passport group:  $68.6 \pm 10.4$  years; usual care group:  $70.3 \pm 12.8$  years) and in gender split (passport group: 42% women; usual care group 41% women). Loss to follow up rate was 6% in the passport group and 10% in the usual care group. Loss to follow up included those not returning the questionnaire or who opted to no longer participate.

#### Experiences before coming into hospital

There was no difference between the groups in how well informed they felt about the actual surgical procedure  $(9.5\pm0.99 \text{ vs } 9.0\pm1.6; P=0.11)$ , but the passport group reported being better informed of the importance of having good diabetes control in the weeks prior to surgery  $(9.4\pm1.5 \text{ vs } 4.6\pm3.7; P=0.0001)$ . More participants in the passport group reported receiving information about their expected diabetes care prior to their surgery (92% vs 35%; P<0.0001). The passport group gave a higher rating to the value of the information given  $(8.9\pm1.7 \text{ vs } 4.6\pm3.7; P<0.0001)$ , includ ing the information on pre surgery medication adjustments  $(9.4\pm1.5 \text{ vs } 8.1\pm2.5; P=0.008)$  and on what they could eat or drink in the hours before surgery  $(9.4\pm1.2 \text{ vs } 8.7\pm1.9; P=0.036)$ .

#### Experiences during time in hospital

Those given the passport felt more involved in planning their diabetes care (8.3±2.4 vs 5.0±3.3; P<0.0001) and less anxious whilst in hospital (1.8 vs 2.8; P =0.0437). The majority of participants were allowed to monitor their own blood glucose whilst in hospital if they opted to, but two participants in the passport group and four in the usual care group were prevented from doing so. There was just one participant in each group who wished to but was not allowed to give their own insulin, although two participants in the usual care group were unsure if they were able to. Of those who were on insulin, 86% were able to decide their own dose in the passport group and 81% in the usual care group (P=0.791). Of those in the passport group, 8% received an i.v. infusion compared with 14% of those receiving usual care (P=0.353). Those who did have an i.v. infusion felt better informed of its purpose in the passport group, although this difference was not significant (8.7 $\pm$  1.5 vs 5.8±4.4; *P*=0.243).

Participants in the passport group were more aware of the inpatient diabetes team (76% vs 40%; P=0.0008), but there was no difference in visits made by the inpatient diabetes team to the two groups.

One issue identified by some participants during the interviews was that some ward nurses were not aware of the passport.

#### Experiences after discharge

Participants in the passport group felt better prepared to manage their diabetes care on discharge  $(9.2\pm1.6 \text{ vs} 7.0\pm3.3; P=0.0015)$ . The mean length of hospital stay in the passport group, although shorter, was not significantly different (4.4±2.6 days vs 6.5±7.1; P=0.059). There was no significant difference in how satisfied the participants were with their overall care (9 ±1.9 vs 8.4±2.2) or in the likelihood that they would recommend the hospital to family or friends (9±2.1 vs 8.7±1.7).

Content analysis indicated that the passport was well liked by 100% of the participants, met their needs and was easy to fill in. All interviewed said they would use it again. Users of the passport also reported they felt more prepared for surgery and that the passport answered all of their questions. Feedback also included that it may be of less use for expert patients who are very assertive and confident, but very useful for people with diabetes going into hospital for the first time, or those who have been recently diagnosed or who have poor control of their diabetes.

#### Discussion

The perioperative passport was found to be effective in both informing and involving people undergoing elective surgery about their diabetes care throughout the perioperative period in comparison with existing pathways. Those receiving the passport reported being significantly better informed pre operatively of the importance of having good diabetes control before surgery. People who have good diabetes control before surgery are less likely to develop postoperative complications, so it seems imperative that this is communi cated clearly to patients early on in the pathway. This is of even more importance when we take into account that such information is not always communicated fully during the general practitioner referral process.

There was a vast difference between the groups in those who reported having received information about their diabetes perioperative care. This is not to say that those in the non passport group did not receive any information; indeed, the perioperative information sheets they had been given were produced by the diabetes team, but the fact that the majority could not recall receiving such information would suggest that this format is not effective. Furthermore, when comparing those who did recall receiving prior information, participants with the passport found the infor mation more helpful as it included essential information on medication adjustment and eating and drinking before surgery. Without such information patients are at risk of adverse events, cancellation and delayed procedures. When in hospital the results seem to suggest that partic ipants in the passport group had a better understanding of their diabetes management. Those participants who had an i.v. infusion in the passport group rated the understanding of the purpose behind it as higher, although this difference did not reach significance. The awareness of the inpatient team was significantly higher in the passport group, although this did not seem to have an influence on the frequency of visits

The results also indicate that the passport can be helpful in establishing a more collaborative approach in perioperative diabetes management, with patients feeling more involved in their diabetes care, less anxious whilst in hospital and better prepared to manage their diabetes on discharge. The results are noteworthy when coupled with the knowledge that when people are involved in their own healthcare the decisions made are often better, health outcomes improve, and resources are allocated more efficiently [9].

Although we did not set out to measure direct health outcomes, it was noticeable that the length of stay was shorter in the passport cohort, albeit not significantly. Larger numbers may be able to determine whether the passport can also have an effect on important outcomes such as cancel lation rates, length of stay, readmissions and diabetes related harms.

Strengths of the present study include the integration of the intervention into routine clinical care. The passport did not require staff to make big changes to routine care pathways, but instead empowered the patient to take back some control of their perioperative diabetes care. Further strengths include the recruitment from multiple diverse surgical disciplines and the method of randomization of participants will have helped to reduce selection and allocation bias.

It could be argued that one of the limitations of the study is the lack of validation of the questionnaire; however, as we were reporting results by each item and not by calculating the questionnaire total, and the same questions were used for both groups, this should not have an effect on the validity of the study. A further limitation is that the results may have been influenced by hospital staff's enthusiasm with regard to the intervention tool rather than the use of the passport per se. We tried to minimize this by posting out the passport direct from the diabetes centre so that staff contact with the passport on admission was initiated by the patient. In fact we have evidence from the interview data that staff enthusiasm was even lacking at times as it was identified that some ward staff did not always engage with the passport. We believe this lack of engagement is largely attributable to not being able to introduce the passport to all ward staff because of shift patterns and agency staff who may have therefore not been aware of its content or purpose.

Loss to follow up was slightly higher in the usual care group and this, along with the difference in group size, may have introduced bias. The groups became unbalanced because more patients in the usual care group did not proceed to surgery. There was a necessity for randomization to take place before exclusion because the passport needed to be sent out as soon as patients were listed for surgery, but it was not known at that point who would and would not go on to have surgery after listing.

In summary, the perioperative passport achieved its aims of helping people with diabetes undergoing elective surgery feel better informed, better communicated with, more involved, less anxious and more empowered in their diabetes care throughout the perioperative process. Crucially the passport was well liked by participants and deemed easy to use, important factors in patients' engagement with the passport. We plan to roll out the passport within other surgical departments at Ipswich Hospital to further enhance the diabetes perioperative pathway and to conduct a larger study to measure clinical outcomes and evaluate the cost effectiveness of the passport. We believe that the passport has the potential to be widely adopted by other NHS Trusts wishing to enhance their perioperative pathway for people with diabetes.

#### **Funding sources**

The study received funding from Ipswich Diabetes Research Funds.

#### **Competing interests**

None declared.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the staff of the Orthopaedic and Trauma Department and the General Surgery Department at Ipswich Hospital, the patients who participated in the study and the Ipswich Hospital Diabetes User Group.

#### References

- Healthcare Commission, National Centre for Social Research. (2010). *Diabetes Survey*, 2006. [data collection]. UK Data Service. SN: 6380, https://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA SN 6380 1.
- 2 Joint British Diabetes Society. Management of adults with diabetes undergoing elective surgery and procedures, 2016. Available at https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resources s3/2017 09/Surgical% 20guidelines%202015%20 %20full%20FINAL%20amended% 20Mar%202016 0.pdf. Last accessed 3 October 2017.
- 3 Diabetes UK, Collation of inpatient experiences, 2007.
- 4 Pournasas DJ, Photi ES, Barnett N, Challand CP, Chatzizacharias NA, Dlamini NP *et al.* Assessing the quality of primary care referrals to surgery of patients with diabetes in the East of England: A multi centre cross sectional cohort study. *Int J Clin Pract* 2017, 71: 7.
- 5 Care Quality Commission. My Diabetes, My Care, Sept 2016. Available at http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20160907 CQC Diabete s final copyrightnotice.pdf. Last accessed 3 October 2017.
- 6 Hommel I, vanGurp PJ, Tack CJ, Liefers J, Mulder J, Wollersheim H et al. Perioperative diabetes care: room for improving the person centredness. *Diabet Med* 2015; 32: 561–568.
- 7 Hommel I, Wollersheim H, Tack CJ, Mulder J, van Gurp PJ, Hulscher ME. Impact of a multifaceted strategy to improve diabetes care. *Diabet Med* 2017; 34: 278–285.
- 8 Funnell M, Anderson R. Empowerment and self management of diabetes. Clin Diabetes 2004; 22: 123 127.
- 9 Gilbert H, Dunin P, Jabbal J, Seale B, Goodrich J, Buck D et al. People in control of their own health and Care: the state of involvement. The Kings Fund, 2014. Available at https://www.kingsf und.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field publication file/people in control of their own health and care the state of involvement nove mber 2014.pdf. Last accessed 3 October 2017.

#### **Supporting Information**

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article:

Appendix S1. The Diabetes Perioperative Passport.

Appendix S2. Diabetes questionnaire for patients undergoing surgery.

# CHAPTER 7

# Discussion

## Contents overview

The final chapter provides an overview of: the key findings of each of the initial objectives of the thesis, how these findings fit into the clinical context and relate to current literature, the strengths and limitations of the different methodologies utilised, the recommendations that emerge from the findings for this research and the potential implications of this research on practice and policy. Finally, I include a personal reflection on the impact of undertaking the thesis for me and implications on my future career as a clinician and postgraduate researcher.

# Summary of key findings

The aims of this thesis were to explore the impact of a whole systems, nurse delivered approach to diabetes health care, the DICE project by investigating its effect on (1) length of stay, in-hospital mortality, readmissions and (2) in-hospital complications. Then (3) to review the broader impact of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses in the health care service today using systematic review. In parallel (4) to Develop and propose guidance on the management of hyperglycaemia and diabetes in the perioperative pathway, particularly in the orthopaedic setting and highlight points for specialist intervention and finally to (5) examine the challenges in implementing an empowerment tool in this pathway for diabetes in the hospital setting.

## The impact of DICE

To address the many factors that disrupt the usual management of diabetes for patients admitted to hospital the DICE programme was designed as a multifaceted approach to

diabetes inpatient care as previously outlined. To the best of our knowledge this nurse delivered programme incorporating educational and technological patient identification tools is the most extensive and proactive approach to addressing the challenges of diabetes inpatient care.

In order to assess the effect of the programme accepted indicators of patient care were used, from both routinely collected Patient Administration System data and manually extracted bedside data.

## Length of stay, mortality and readmission

Extraction and analysis of PAS data showed a significant reduction in length of stay on implementation of the DICE programme, with no change in mortality (55). The before and after data indicated a reduction in length of stay in all patients, with a relative ratio 0.89 (95%CI 0.83-0.97) for those with diabetes and 0.93 (0.90-0.96) for those without. However, the ITS analysis revealed that the reduction in those with diabetes was in excess of the reducing length of stay explained by background trend within the hospital for all patients. A reducing trend for mortality was seen using before and after analysis, however this was not evident in the robust ITS analysis which took into account background secular trends. Readmission at 30 days did not change significantly in the group using before and after analysis, however ITS found a rising background trend in all patients which was probably not attenuated by the DICE programme (1).

## Complications and harms

The findings of this study show a reduction in hospital acquired infections as an aggregate measurement (OR 0.71, 95% CI 0.58-0.87) with the incidence of pneumonia reaching statistical significance as well as a significant reduction in foot ulcers. Drug errors were

significantly reduced with oral agent prescription and management errors OR 0.41 (95% CI 0.32-0.5) and 0.18 (95% CI 013-0.27) respectively, but the largest drug error reduction seen was in insulin management errors (OR 0.17 (95%CI 0.12-0.24). This was associated with a lower use of injectable hypoglycaemia treatment (OR 0.41:95%CI 0.23-0.77), likely as a result of reduction in hypoglycaemia.

## The impact of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses on patient care

The systematic review identified 10 studies making objective measures of the of the impact of DISN on patient care, one RCT (2) and 9 before and after studies (1; 3; 4; 5; 6; 7; 8; 9; 10), with only 3 of these using ITS analysis, thus accounting for background secular trends (1; 5; 10). Length of stay was the most frequently reported outcome with a median reported reduction ranging from 0.5 to 3 days across the studies. Drug errors reduced by an average of 52% and post discharge glycaemic control was improved with HbA1c falling from 10.45% to 8.9% with DISN input (4). Patients were found to have higher patient satisfaction and improved knowledge (2). In hospital mortality was not significantly affected and there was a lack of data surrounding in-hospital complications (1).

The management of diabetes and hyperglycaemia in orthopaedic surgery This review shows strong evidence for an association between hyperglycaemia and poor postoperative outcomes particularly for Surgical site infection, periprosthetic infection and mortality. There is limited evidence across other surgical specialities that improving glycaemic control perioperatively can attenuate these complications. In orthopaedic surgery there are additional considerations for the patient with diabetes. In lower limb surgery, particularly for patients with neuropathy the consequences of poor wound healing and superadded infection can be catastrophic, and in some instances require amputation.

Suggestions for optimisation of the patient with diabetes orthopaedic surgery are made and placed along the perioperative pathway at typically opportune moments. This decision tree may be considered a suggested pathway for patients with diabetes undergoing any major elective surgery. Local teams can utilise this to build on their current pathways to develop processes to improve care and safety in this at-risk group.

## Implementation of the diabetes perioperative passport

The challenge of effectively piloting a perioperative diabetes passport in general surgical and orthopaedic preassessment areas provided an opportunity to examine the reasons for resistance. The GNS group were enthusiastic about the perioperative passport and supported each other's views and experiences throughout the discussion. The OSN group in contrast were initially more individualistic in their sharing, demonstrating their subspecialist expertise. As the focus group continued, they exchanged stories and found commonalities, cohesing as a group. Sharing their experiences also highlighted the potential benefits of the passport for them in clinical practice.

# Results in relation to current literature

Below I outline the areas in which the studies that have contributed to this thesis support or contradict the current literature. As two of the chapters, 2 and 5 comprise reviews, the focus for these areas is on what these publications add to existing literature.

## The current clinical context

First it is important to recognise that the health care system in the UK is under continual and increasing pressure. It is required to manage the rising demand on stretched services and

growing expectations of the public provision and care standards available. All this is under conditions of huge financial strain.

In response to these demands there have been some general shifts in the delivery of services. There has been a drive to move hospital services into the community with resulting national reduction in length of stay (11). It is therefore important that methods for analysis of change take the national trends and local variations into account.

There has been encouragement to adopt technology for delivery and monitoring of care processes. This has brought a number of opportunities such as electronic prescribing, however the constant innovation and expectation to integrate novel technologies into routine practice has caused change fatigue in many health professionals (12).

This thesis has re-examined the relevance and use of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses in the current climate, by reviewing the current literature and measuring the impact of a multifaceted approach to inpatient care utilising novel technology. It goes further to explore the barriers to introducing a new technology in the context of a system continuously evolving.

The clinical impact of the DICE programme and specialist nurse on care Length of stay, readmissions and mortality

The measurement of the impact of diabetes inpatient nurses has been measured in several studies using length of stay, however the most recent of these was in 2008. With the trend towards shorter hospital stays nationwide it has not been clear whether the benefits of DISN would be seen in this era. The before and after analysis findings demonstrate this and the PAS data study goes further to highlight the limitations of this widely used methodology alone for assessing the impact of interventions. The findings are in keeping with previous

studies indicating that DISN reduce length of stay and can continue to do so in the current climate (1; 2; 3). The PAS study reveals a rising trend for readmissions, and this is noted elsewhere in the literature. The reducing trend in mortality in all patients may be a multifactorial change as a result of improved care and advanced care planning which allow more patients to die in their own homes or care homes in the community (13).

## Harms and complications

This study uniquely provides data on the inpatient complications following the introduction of diabetes inpatient specialist nurses with a significant reduction in infective composite complications, foot ulcers and drug errors. A previous study by Umpierrez looked at the complication rates when tighter glycaemic control was adopted by use of a basal bolus regime compared to correctional doses of short acting insulin, four times a day in patients with type 2 diabetes undergoing surgery (24.3 and 8.6%; OR 3.39, 95% CI 1.5-7.65) (14). While this study is in agreement with our findings, it also suggests that the mechanism by which complication rates were reduced was predominantly due to improved glycaemic control. It is doubtful that this protocol, which was delivered in an American hospital could be adopted more widely in the pressured systems and staff we see in the NHS today. Like the DICE project, an adjustment towards such an approach is likely to require additional training for staff and ongoing support. The Umpierrez study, as many others, was however limited to surgical patients while our study add the impact of the DICE project across both medicine and surgery, making it more applicable to a whole hospital setting.

## Systematic review of the impact of DISNs

The review is the first in addressing this specific question, providing a systematic overview of the objective measures which demonstrate the impact of DISNs. It agrees with a recent

hermeneutic review that looks at DISNs that included evidence from the community setting as well (15). In keeping the scope of our study focused on DISNs this systematic review enables a more robust appraisal of the evidence and updates the sources used in the hermeneutic with additional papers (1; 4). These studies are important in that they answer some of the questions raised in the hermeneutic review where the evidence was extrapolated from the community setting and bring the existing length of stay data into the current clinical context. The systematic review also highlighted the research gap of outcomes which is then addressed in the analysis of DICE bedside data (15).

## Orthopaedic pathway

This comprehensive review of the literature considers the orthopaedic pathway and the impact of diabetes care and hyperglycaemia on inpatient care. It draws on the evidence available to form a practical and clinically applicable structure for improving care processes along the perioperative journey.

## Perioperative passport

This study considers a number of factors in the implementation of a pilot for the perioperative passport. The data that emerged from the focus group supported established ideas that the adoption of innovation is influenced by the group structure and composition with change orientated leadership acting as facilitators (16).

There is limited literature studying the barriers and facilitators to the implementation of patient empowerment tools. The roles and identities participants take has been identified as a barrier to implementation previously, however this appears only to have been examined from the perspective of the health care professional with challenging patients. This study turns the mirror on the HCP. In addition to identifying the factors contributing to non-participation in a pilot study for the perioperative passport, this research describes the finding that focus groups are a vehicle for progress of thought and a potential tool for behaviour change and implementation. A unique quality of focus groups is the interaction between participants with methodological advice for conducting them emphasising the facilitators' role in enabling participant interaction rather than sequential questioning of group members. While this characteristic of focus groups is widely stated in the literature, the methods for analysis, reporting of this interaction and the uses of focus groups to utilise this feature are generally limited In the healthcare setting the use of focus groups is often data collection, particularly in conditions where there is stigma that may be reduced by the sharing of experiences with others in the disease group, exploring opinions or health or educational needs of patients or staff and identifying psychological issues or commonly used terminology (17).

Despite the description of the method as an interactive and iterative process for participants, the explicit use of focus groups as a behaviour change or implementation tool in non-responders has not previously explored to the best of our knowledge. This research offers a broader perspective on the potential uses for focus groups in the health care setting and suggests they may be of benefit in implementation in a non-responder group.

# Strengths and Limitations

The limitations and areas for potential bias in each of the studies is detailed in their respective chapters. However, there are some overarching themes that run through the thesis which are outlined here.

## Applicability and potential for recommendations

The DICE project was a real-life whole systems approach to improve care and as such it demonstrates that this nurse delivered system is practical to implement in our current health service. However, all hospitals have different local structures, and the many elements of the project may not fit well into the existing structures and pathways of all trusts. It is difficult to know with such a comprehensive implementation programme delivered and embedded over a 6-month period which of the interventions within the programme had the largest impact. This limits the ability to provide any particular group with recommendations on the best use of resources for the many interventions encompassed within the programme.

As is also demonstrated in chapter 5, the receptiveness of the staff and engagement with interventions which are perceived to add to their work-load may vary with the culture or identity of the hospital and groups within the hospital. The majority of the interventions were delivered by the DISNs with little input from other specialists. This is a strength of the study, however an engaged and innovative IT department was crucially necessary for many of the innovations and the absence of this in other hospitals may limit the practical transferability of the interventions encompassed in the programme.

These potential local restrictions allow further exploration of the impact of selecting the elements that may be implemented practically on inpatient care with the local processes in place and in line with the culture of the trust.

### Data accuracy

The quality of the data recorded in in the PAS records and medical notes is a potential limitation of the study. Although medical records are a legal document the quality of the

data recorded is inconsistent. The information that is encompassed in the discharge summary informs the PAS data. The quality and completeness of this has been reported to vary due to differences in how clinicians and clinical coding staff classify diagnoses and procedures with error rates as high as 37% reported (18; 19). In recent years there have been significant efforts to improve this error rate, with an average rate of 7% measured across 40 UK hospitals in 2013/14 (20). Efforts to improve this further are ongoing with coding accuracy forming a stream of the "Get It Right First Time" (GIRFT) programme nationally.

### Bias

Both the systematic review of specialist nurses and the orthopaedic review of specialist show areas where there are gaps in the literature. As it is not customary to register trials with intended outcome measures routinely, it is not apparent if the propensity for journals to report and record positive findings is likely to have created a publication bias in the data available. There is a move away from publication of positive findings alone in recent years. The interventional studies looking at the impact of DICE and implementation of the passport were well conducted to reduce bias at each stage and in undertaking the research as part of a PhD the focus was more on learning and applying the best research practices rather than achieving publication. I believe this approach is a strength of this body of work.

In the planning of each studies a pragmatic or predetermined sample of patients or staff was taken minimising selection bias. For the DICE before and after studies objective, prespecified outcomes were measured and training provided to standardise the data collected by the group of nurses involved in this process. The study was also conducted over the same 6-month period (January to June) over two consecutive years to minimise the

impact of seasonal variation. This planning limited bias at the implementation stage of the DICE before and after studies. For the analysis the prespecified measured were reported with efforts to avoid subgroup analysis of data which was not prespecified.

# Implications

This thesis examines the impact of a nurse delivered, multifaceted approach to diabetes inpatient care and gives insights into the challenges of implementation in the real-world setting. In addition to providing options for improving inpatient care it examines some of the methodologies used to measure outcomes in the health care setting and considers the applicability of these more widely.

## Methodologies

Chapter 1 uses the two methodologies to examine LOS, mortality and readmissions. This study demonstrates the limitations of the before and after study. In using the additional method of ITS analysis, the background trend over several years is shown to reveal that mortality and readmissions continued to change at the same rate despite the DICE intervention. This highlights the benefit of ITS analysis in determining the impact of interventions. Furthermore, by comparing to the trends of the non-diabetic population we were able to account for potential generic interventions outside of DICE that may have led to the observed changes. It is hoped that with these demonstrated benefits there will be increasing uptake of this quasi-experimental methodology in the health care setting, increasing the understanding and accuracy of our analysis of interventions.

In Chapter 5, focus groups are used to determine the factors that contributed to the failure to implement the perioperative passport. As part of the process sharing experiences the

OSN group shifted their perception of the practical use of the passport and motivation towards distributing it. The use for focus groups for this process of changing someone's perspective in the implementation of a technology has the potential to broaden their use. While focus groups are currently used as intended in this study to gather information about facilitators and barriers to change, the observation of the change during the focus group repositions their practical use in the process of implementation in non-responder groups.

## Clinical and research recommendations

## Length of stay, mortality and readmissions

This study revealed the rising trend for readmissions, demonstrating the cost of this push for shorter length of stay. While length of stay is communicated as bed days it worth noting that the cost of a patient's admission is not equally spread across the stay. The initial phase of moving between the community, through the emergency department and on to the relevant admission or assessment unit before moving onto a ward carries the highest cost. The true financial cost of reducing length of stay in view of a rising readmission rate has yet to be investigated economically and is an area for potential future study.

## DICE Bedside

This before and after study shows provides a positive signal for the benefit of a nurse delivered whole systems approach to diabetes inpatient care. Knowing the limitations of the study design open the same outcome up to further research with a randomised controlled trial, either within hospitals or by cohorting whole hospitals in cluster randomised controlled trials. It re-emphasises the importance of good glycaemic control in hospital and allows several strategies to achieve this.

## Systematic review

This paper suggests ongoing benefit from employing diabetes inpatient nurses and the clinical data from the DICE project add to the clinical benefit of this. There are gaps in the data that would benefit from future study. Firstly, the impact of diabetes inpatient nurses on patient satisfaction in the current system where the emphasis is on brief and limited intervention within an increasingly short length of stay. The impact of DISN on staff was beyond the scope of this systematic review, however the growing incidence of diabetes and concerns over keeping non-specialist staff sufficiently up to date with the changing landscape of diabetes care suggests further research in this area is warranted. Indeed, it is a recommendation of this systematic review that education of non-specialist clinical staff in diabetes is a future priority for diabetes inpatient teams to safeguard patient care.

## Perioperative care

## Orthopaedic review and guideline

This article recommends examining local processes along the perioperative pathway which will reveal several instances where interventions can be made to optimise the perioperative condition of patients with diabetes. Reviewing the existing literature suggests that there are significant benefits to this and a guideline of the points of contact are laid out.

## Perioperative passport focus groups

There are several interesting avenues for further study that this article brings up. As clinicians, the training emphasis is on gathering data and explaining findings. The skills related to influence are much less prioritised

and often delivered in leadership courses. Consequently, when technologies are implemented, the need is often expressed as data rather than positioned in alignment with the motivation of the group being asked to implement it. Story telling or scenario-based risk taking appeared to have a key role in transforming the perspective of the OSN in implementation of the perioperative passport. The focus group created the space for this facilitated discussion and was a crucial turning point for the OSN in lessening their resistance to implementing the passport. The recommendation is therefore that focus groups are used more widely in the implementation of new technologies, particularly where previous efforts have been unsuccessful. In addition to finding the barriers to the previous efforts to implement the technology they may act as a catalyst for change in the process.

# Further work

This research adds to existing literature and lays a foundation for further research both within the DICE project and more widely for the impact of DISNs. The research questions that this thesis opens up for exploration can be considered as: extending the research for clarity and broader understanding of the impact of the DICE project implemented in 2014 and subsequently, and further questions the research has stimulated.

## Expanding on the impact of DICE

The benefits of the relatively stable population in the region, and the use of the PAS dataset for interrupted time series analysis, have been demonstrated in Chapter 2 in the length of stay reductions following implementation of DICE. The use of this quasi-experimental analysis method may be applied to different populations within the DICE project to gain clarity on the differing impact of the DICE in different inpatient populations, for example,

medicine versus surgery. IST analysis would allow investigation of the impact of the fully implemented perioperative passport with these routinely measured care measures in general surgery and orthopaedic groups.

The collection of bedside data was a large undertaking for study within the DICE project. It generated a comprehensive dataset across medicine and surgery within the hospital. A measure of patient reported outcome measures (PROMS) has been collected within a general surgery for a number or years within the trust. The application of interrupted time series analysis to this surgical cohort on implementation of DICE would be a further potential application of this analytical tool and provide valuable information of the patient perspective of the impact of this nurse delivered service.

The positive findings within the analysis of bedside data offer an opportunity for a deeper understanding of the associations between improvements in drug errors and complications, length of stay and dysglycaemia. Linkage of these datasets for a combined analysis to examine correlations would add to our understanding Further work with these combined data to determine the economic impact of the DICE project would provide valuable information to explore the place for a nurse delivered whole systems approach to diabetes inpatient care in today's health service.

## Further questions raised in the wider context

The systematic review reports good evidence that new or additional specialist nurses reduce length of stay. It reports limited evidence for reductions in drug errors and improvements in glycaemic control with new or additional DISNs. The specific roles undertaken by the nurses in these studies are an important area for further investigation to ensure that the DISN activities are optimised towards those most effectively impacting patient care outcomes.

There is a concern that the improvements in patient care produced by DISNs comes at the expense of lower staff confidence in managing inpatients with diabetes. It was noted during the scoping of this research and in the included studies, that the impact of DISN on non-specialist staff working patterns, competence and confidence was not measured or reported. These are crucial areas for further study to ensure that workforce is not deskilled in managing this increasingly prevalent condition. Similarly, patient satisfaction and confidence in the care they are receiving for their diabetes warrants re-evaluation as the trend towards reduced length of stay may leave patients with unanswered questions or concerns, unless conscious efforts to mitigate this are taken.

The narrative review of orthopaedic surgery also highlighted gaps in the literature as potential areas for further study. There has been insufficient study of the use of preoperative carbohydrate loading in patients with diabetes using insulin to encourage its use in the enhanced recovery programme. However, advances in continuous glucose monitoring may provide opportunities for this to be safely studied.

National guidance suggests that patients are actively involved in their perioperative care, however, efforts to pilot a passport intended to facilitate this were initially met with some resistance in the orthopaedic setting in the hospital where the study was carried out. The qualitative part of this research in Chapter 6 explores the reasons for this. It opens a discussion of the staff factors that may have contributed to, or hindered implementation, such as patient held empowerment tools. Further, detailed interviews to explore the differences in perceptions of patient empowerment tools in the workforce would build on this research and allow a more tailored approach to implementation in various staffing groups. The findings and impact of the focus group also make a case for their wider use in

the clinical setting in exploring reasons for failure of implementation and of novel technologies.

# Personal implications for this research - researcher's journey

Undertaking this research, the presentation of it at conferences progressing to a consultant medical position has been a personal journey which has challenged me in unexpected ways. The lessons have been all the more powerful as societal and personal events have happened.

The broad mix of methods learnt and incorporated into this research have given me a broad understanding of research techniques and methodologies I may use for projects in the future.

Writing is a skill I don't feel I learned in school and when I was later diagnosed with dyslexia I knew that working towards a higher degree with a thesis would be a personal challenge. However, the practice of writing has helped me find my voice and I now put this towards my passion projects of writing a podcast "what the health" and song writing.

As a medic I have been used to working hard, but the grit that has to develop when preparing and working on a PhD is very different to the daily dopamine hit that motivates and sustains a career in medicine. I have though persisting with this thesis developed a resilience and different perspective on where I place my energies.

The exposure of presenting this research on the national and international stage at conferences has been a great experience for me but also been an inspiration to other black females who are both underrepresented in consultant medical positions and academia. I have had many black junior doctors encourage me with this feedback at conferences and in the clinical setting. While I personally had no desire to be a role model, I realised the impact of my visibility when the Black Lives Matter movement erupted. With the platform and experience research had given me I was able to be an effective voice in my hospital. Looking to the future, research has profoundly affected the way I view and approach life. The broad mix of methods learnt and incorporated into this research have given me a broad understanding of research techniques and methodologies I may use for projects in the future.

This work has started me on a journey to understand the power of storytelling and to consider how I use it in my interactions, re-write and edit old stories that have become my identity and write my story going forward.

The opportunity to collaborate and have experienced and methodical collaborators to have worked with on other research during this time has been both productive and enjoyable for me. I hope to use the skills and connections I have gained to reach out.

I have would like to set myself up as an independent researcher working on projects for behaviour change across a variety of areas and craft a masterpiece life.

# Conclusion

This thesis has demonstrated the benefits of diabetes inpatient nurses in delivering a whole systems approach to inpatient care. The studies undertaken both update existing literature, bringing the impact of these multiple interventions on outcomes such as LOS into the current clinical climate, and add breadth to the gaps in the literature by examining additional important outcomes such as in-hospital complications which were found to be reduced, in particular infections and foot ulcers. Additionally, this thesis highlights the

benefits of experimental processes such as comparative ITS analysis and focus groups in producing improved data analytics, less biased interpretation and in the case of the focus groups initiation of change in practice.

Finally, this thesis has been a personal journey for me, allowing me to grow in skills, network and resilience. With these skills I have gained I am better equipped to contribute more widely academically and in all areas of my life.

# References

1. Akiboye F, Adderley NJ, Martin J, Gokhale K, Rudge GM, Marshall TP, Rajendran R, Nirantharakumar K, Rayman G; DICE team. Impact of the Diabetes Inpatient Care and Education (DICE) project on length of stay and mortality. Diabet Med. 2020 Feb;37(2):277-285. doi: 10.1111/dme.14062. Epub 2019 Aug 2. PMID: 31265148.

2. Davies M, Dixon S, Currie CJ, Davis RE, Peters JR. Evaluation of a hospital diabetes specialist nursing service: a randomized controlled trial. Diabet Med. 2001 Apr;18(4):301-7. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2001.00470.x. PMID: 11437861.

3. Cavan DA, Hamilton P, Everett J, Kerr D. Reducing hospital inpatient length of stay for patients with diabetes. Diabet Med. 2001 Feb;18(2):162-4. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2001.00420.x. PMID: 11251683.

4. Gardiner FW, Nwose EU, Bwititi PT, Crockett J, Wang L. Does a hospital diabetes inpatient service reduce blood glucose and HbA1c levels? A prospective cohort study. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2017 Dec 27;26:15-18. doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2017.12.010. PMID: 29904609; PMCID: PMC5904764.

5. Sampson MJ, Crowle T, Dhatariya K, Dozio N, Greenwood RH, Heyburn PJ, Jones C, Temple RC, Walden E. Trends in bed occupancy for inpatients with diabetes before and after the introduction of a diabetes inpatient specialist nurse service. Diabet Med. 2006 Sep;23(9):1008-15. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01928.x. PMID: 16922708.

6. Courtenay M, Carey N, James J, Roland JM An Evaluation of a specicialist nurse prescriber on diabetes in-patient service delivery.,. 2007, Practical Diabetes International, Vol. 24.

7. Carey N, Courtenay M, James J, Hills M, Roland J. An evaluation of a Diabetes Specialist Nurse prescriber on the system of delivering medicines to patients with diabetes. J Clin Nurs. 2008 Jun;17(12):1635-44. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.02197.x. PMID: 18482124.

8. Flanagan D, Moore E, Baker S, Wright D, Lynch P. Diabetes care in hospital--the impact of a dedicated inpatient care team. Diabet Med. 2008 Feb;25(2):147-51. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2007.02326.x. Epub 2008 Jan 14. PMID: 18201215

9. Mandel SR, Langan S, Mathioudakis NN, Sidhaye AR, Bashura H, Bie JY, Mackay P, Tucker C, Demidowich AP, Simonds WF, Jha S, Ebenuwa I, Kantsiper M, Howell EE, Wachter P, Golden SH, Zilbermint M. Retrospective study of inpatient diabetes management service, length of stay and 30-day readmission rate of patients with diabetes at a community hospital. J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect. 2019 Apr 12;9(2):64-73. doi: 10.1080/20009666.2019.1593782. PMID: 31044034; PMCID: PMC6484466.

10. Pledger, J. The effect on inpatient care of a dedicated diabetes specialist nurseJournal of Diabetes Nursing. 2005, Vol. 9, pp. 252-256.

11. A Steventon, S Deeny, R Friebel, T Gardner, R Thorlby. Briefing: Emergency hospital admission in England: which may be avoidable and how? The Health Foundation; May 2018. https://www.health.org.uk/publications/emergency-hospital-admissions-in-england-which-may-be-avoidable-and-how

12. McMillan K, Perron A. Nurses amidst change: the concept of change fatigue offers an alternative perspective on organizational change. Policy Polit Nurs Pract. 2013 Feb;14(1):26-32. doi: 10.1177/1527154413481811. Epub 2013 Apr 2. PMID: 23549748.

13. Friebel, R. What do changes in readmission rates tell us about quality of care in the NHS. The Health Foundation, April 2018. https://www.health.org.uk/blogs/what-do-changes-in-readmission-rates-tell-us-about-quality-of-care-in-the-nhs

14. Umpierrez GE, Smiley D, Jacobs S, Peng L, Temponi A, Mulligan P, Umpierrez D, Newton C, Olson D, Rizzo M. Randomized study of basal-bolus insulin therapy in the inpatient management of patients with type 2 diabetes undergoing general surgery (RABBIT 2 surgery). Diabetes Care. 2011 Feb;34(2):256-61. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1407. Epub 2011 Jan 12. PMID: 21228246; PMCID: PMC3024330.

15. Lawler J, Trevatt P, Elliot C, Leary A. Does the Diabetes Specialist Nursing workforce impact the experiences and outcomes of people with diabetes? A hermeneutic review of the evidence. Hum Resour Health. 2019 Aug 7;17(1):65. doi: 10.1186/s12960-019-0401-5. PMID: 31391081; PMCID: PMC6686398.

16. Becan JE, Knight DK, Flynn PM. Innovation adoption as facilitated by a change-oriented workplace. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2012 Mar;42(2):179-90. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2011.10.014. Epub 2011 Dec 5. PMID: 22154030; PMCID: PMC3268854.

17. Wong LP. Focus group discussion: a tool for health and medical research. Singapore Med J. 2008 Mar;49(3):256-60; quiz 261. PMID: 18363011.

18. Walshe K, Harrison N, Renshaw M. Comparison of the quality of patient data collected by hospital and department computer systems. Health Trends 1993; 25: 105-108

19. Ola, B., Khan, K. S., Gaynor, A. M., and Bowcock, M. E. 2001. Information derived from hospital coded data is inaccurate: the Birmingham Women's Hospital experience. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 21(2):112–113.

20. CAPITA. The quality of clinical coding in the NHS: Payment by results data assurance framework. 2014. p. 3.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_ data/file/364476/The\_quality\_of\_clinical\_coding\_in\_the\_NHS.pdf